Università degli Studi di Genova

Facoltà di Scienze Matematiche, Fisiche e Naturali Anno Accademico 2004/2005

Tesi di Dottorato in Fisica

Positive operator measures, generalised imprimitivity theorem and their applications

Dottorando: Alessandro Toigo

Relatore: Prof. Gianni Cassinelli (Università di Genova) Correlatore: Prof. Pekka Lahti (Università di Turku)

Introduction

In the common textbook presentation of quantum mechanics the observables of a quantum system are represented by selfadjoint operators, or, equivalently, by spectral measures. The origin of this point of view dates back to the very beginning of quantum theory. Its rigorous mathematical formulation is mainly due to von Neumann [53], and, for a more recent and complete review, we refer to the book of Varadarajan [52].

But it is quite well known that, when particular quantum systems are considered, this approach can not give a satisfactory description of some of their physical properties. A famous example (dating back to Dirac [28]) is provided by the phase of the electromagnetic field, which is a well defined quantity in classical physics, but can not be described by any selfadjoint operator in quantum mechanics [38], [40]. This drawback in the conventional formulation of quantum theory becomes even more evident when one attempts to define a position observable for the photon. In fact, a theorem of Wightman ([56], [52]) asserts that there does not exists any selfadjoint operator describing the localisation property of the photon.

Positive operator measures were introduced just to overcome difficulties of this kind arising from the von Neumann formulation of quantum theory. Quite soon after their introduction, it became also clear [26], [38], [40], [47] that the most general description of the observables of quantum mechanics is provided by positive operator measures rather than by spectral measures. In this extended setting, the phase observable and the localisation observable for the photon are associated to positive operator measures that are *not* spectral maps, and thus can not be represented by any selfadjoint operator.

It also turned out that joint measurements of quantities which are incompatible in the von Neumann framework can be described in terms of positive operator measures (an example is provided in section 5.2).

The aim of this thesis is to give a complete characterisation of an important class of positive operator measures, namely the positive operator measures that are covariant with respect to unitary representations of a group. Indeed, in quantum physics the observables that describe a particular physical quantity are defined by means of their property of covariance with respect to a specific symmetry group. Thus, covariant positive operator measures naturally acquire a privileged role.

Since the characterisation of covariant positive operator measures requires a few deep results from abstract harmonic analysis and needs the elaboration of some specific mathematical techniques, in general we will concentrate on the mathematical point of view of the problem. Our examples and applications to quantum mechanics are not intended to give a detailed exposition of the particular physical framework to which they are addressed.

The thesis is organised as follows. Chapter 1 is of an introductory nature. In section 1.1 we give a brief account of the arising of covariant positive operator measures in quantum physics. In §1.2 we fix the mathematical set-up that will be commonly used in the subsequent chapters. In §1.3 we will sketch an application to the theory of coherent states (for more details on the topics treated in this section, we refer to [5]).

In chapters 2 and 3 we will achieve a complete characterisation of covariant positive operator measures in the following two cases:

- 1. if G is an abelian group, we will characterise the most general positive operator measure based on a *transitive* G-space and covariant with respect to a unitary representation of G (chapter 2);
- 2. if G is a generic group and Ω is a transitive G-space with compact stabiliser in G, we will classify the positive operator measures based on Ω and covariant with respect to an irreducible projective unitary representation of G (chapter 3).

Although they are quite specific, actually these two cases cover almost all the situations of physical interest. In particular, the first case will enable us to give a complete classification of the phase observables for a quantum electromagnetic field, while the second characterises an important class of joint observables of position and momentum, namely the covariant phase space observables.

In chapters 4 and 5 we will concentrate on positive operator measures associated to the position and momentum observables of nonrelativistic quantum mechanics. We will define such observables in terms of their properties of transformation under the action of the isochronous Galilei group. After that, we will give their characterisation and discuss their main properties. In particular, in chapter 5 we will study the problem of joint measurability of position and momentum observables. We will find under which conditions a position and a momentum observable are jointly measurable, showing that these conditions imply Heisenberg's uncertainty relation. Here we remark that in our convention position and momentum observables are covariant under the Galilei group by definition. Nevertheless, in many situations of physical interest one actually needs to relax the covariance requirement in the definitions of such observables. This last topic is beyond the scope of the

thesis. The interested reader is referred to [11], [55] and references therein for more details.

The thesis is a re-elaboration of the results published in [13], [14], [15], [20] and [21], and in the paper [16] in preparation.

Contents

1	1 Covariant positive operator measures in mathematical physics					
	1.1	Positive operator measures in quantum mechanics	9			
	1.2	The induced representation and the generalised imprimitivity t	sheorem 12			
	1.3	Systems of covariance and coherent states	17			
2	The	abelian case	23			
	2.1	Introduction	23			
	2.2	Notations	24			
	2.3	Diagonalisation of $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma)$	26			
	2.4	Characterisation of covariant POM's	33			
	2.5	Examples	41			
		2.5.1 Translation covariant observables	41			
		2.5.2 Covariant phase observables	42			
		2.5.3 Covariant phase difference observables	43			
3	The	case of an irreducible representation	47			
	3.1	Introduction	47			
	3.2	Characterisation of E in the case U unitary and $H = \{e\}$	48			
	3.3	An example: the $ax + b$ group	51			
	3.4	Characterisation of E for projective representations in the case	H is compact 52			
	3.5	Two examples	57			
		3.5.1 The isochronous Galilei group	57			
		3.5.2 Covariant phase space observables in one dimension	60			
4	Cov	ariant position and momentum observables	63			
	4.1	Introduction	63			
	4.2	Definition of the observables of position and momentum on $\mathbb R$	64			
	4.3	The structure of position observables	66			
	4.4	Translation covariant and boost invariant observables in dimen	sion n 68			
	4.5	Covariance under dilations	70			
	4.6	State distinction power of a position observable	73			
	4.7	Limit of resolution of a position observable	75			
	4.8	Position and momentum observables on \mathbb{R}^3	78			

	4.8.1 Definitions	78		
	4.8.2 Structure of position observables on \mathbb{R}^3	79		
5	Coexistence of position and momentum observables	81		
	5.1 Coexistence and joint observables	82		
	5.2 Joint observables of position and momentum	84		
	5.3 Coexistence of position and momentum observables	88		
6	Conclusions	95		
7	7 Acknowledgements			
\mathbf{R}	eferences	99		

Chapter 1

Covariant positive operator measures in mathematical physics

1.1 Positive operator measures in quantum mechanics

The framework of positive operator measures naturally arises in quantum physics as the mathematical foundation of the theory of measurements. In this section, we will sketch a very brief account of the subject, with a particular emphasis on the physical meaning of positive operator measures which are covariant under symmetry transformations. For more details, we refer to [11], [26], [38], [40], [43], [47].

Quantum mechanics associates to each physical system S a corresponding Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , identifying the **states** of S with the elements of the set $S(\mathcal{H})$ of positive trace one operators on \mathcal{H} . On the other hand, if $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}(\Omega))$ is a measurable space¹, the **observables** of S taking values in Ω are represented by positive operator measures based on Ω and acting in \mathcal{H} . Here we recall that a **positive operator measure** (POM) based on Ω and acting in \mathcal{H} is a map $E: \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ ($\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ = the set of bounded operators on \mathcal{H}) such that²

1. E(X) is a positive operator for all $X \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$;

We recall that a measurable space is a pair $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}(\Omega))$ composed by a nonempty set Ω and a σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}(\Omega)$ of subsets of Ω .

²We recall that in the mathematical literature by positive operator measure based on Ω and acting in \mathcal{H} one usually means a map $E:\mathcal{A}(\Omega)\longrightarrow\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ satisfying only conditions 1 and 3. If E satisfies also condition 2, then E is called to be a positive normalised operator measure. Our slightly imprecise abbreviated notation is justified by the fact that in the quantum theory of measurement only normalised positive operator measures are considered.

- 2. $E(\Omega) = I$;
- 3. $E\left(\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty}X_{n}\right)=\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}E\left(X_{n}\right)$ (in the weak sense) if $X_{n}\in\mathcal{A}\left(\Omega\right)$ and $X_{n}\cap X_{m}=\varnothing$ for $n\neq m$.

If $E: \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is an observable and $T \in S(\mathcal{H})$, we define

$$p_T^E(X) := \operatorname{tr} (TE(X)) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega).$$
 (1.1)

By properties 1, 2 and 3 the above equation defines a probability measure p_T^E on Ω . It is interpreted as the probability distribution describing the outcomes of a measurement of E. More precisely, the number $p_T^E(X)$ is the probability that a measurement of the observable E performed on the system \mathcal{S} prepared in the state T yelds a result in the subset $X \subset \Omega$.

If property 1 in the definition of POM is replaced by the stronger condition

1'.
$$E(X) = E(X)^* = E(X)^2$$
 for all $X \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$,

then the POM E is a **projection valued measure**, and the associated observable is said a **sharp observable**. If in addition $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$ with its Borel σ -algebra, then E is actually a spectral map. We note that in this case the mean value of the observable E measured on a state T is

$$\int \lambda dp_T^E(\lambda) = \operatorname{tr}\left(T \int \lambda dE(\lambda)\right) =: \operatorname{tr}(TA),$$

where A is the selfadjoint operator with spectral decomposition $A = \int \lambda dE(\lambda)$ (here for simplicity we suppose that the domain of A is the whole space \mathcal{H}). We thus see that observables described by selfadjoint operators are a strict subset of the whole class of observables. For more details on the physical meaning of condition 1', we again refer to [11].

We now enrich our setting, introducing the action of a group of transformations (symmetry group), and studying how the quantum systrem \mathcal{S} and its observables change under the action of the group. This will enable us to define a particular class of observables, whose properties of transformations under the action of the group are in fact the natural ones.

Thus, suppose that $E: \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is an observable, and that a transformation group G acts both on the space Ω on which E takes its values and on the quantum system S. We denote by $S(\mathcal{H}) \ni T \longmapsto g[T] \in S(\mathcal{H})$ and by $\Omega \ni x \longmapsto g[x] \in \Omega$ the actions of an element $g \in G$ on $S(\mathcal{H})$ and Ω respectively. If G satisfies some general topological conditions, then Wigner's theorem states that G acts on the Hilbert space of the system by means of a projective unitary representation U, i.e.

$$g[T] = U(g)TU(g)^{-1} \quad \forall g \in G$$
(1.2)

for all states $T \in S(\mathcal{H})$. We now require that, when the system undergoes a transformation of G, the statistics of the measurement of E is affected by a corresponding variation. More precisely, we request that the probability distribution of the outcomes obtained measuring E satisfies

$$p_{g[T]}^{E}(X) = p_{T}^{E}\left(g^{-1}\left[X\right]\right) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{A}\left(\Omega\right)$$

$$(1.3)$$

for all states $T \in S(\mathcal{H})$ and all transformations $g \in G$. Eqs. (1.1), (1.2) and (1.3) imply

$$E(g[X]) = U(g)E(X)U(g)^{-1} \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega)$$
(1.4)

for all $g \in G$. Eq. (1.4) is a covariance condition imposed upon the POM E. Such a condition thus selects among all the possible observables taking values in the space Ω those which actually transform in a compatible way under the action of G.

A triple (U, E, \mathcal{H}) formed by a unitary representation U of G in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and by a POM E on Ω acting in \mathcal{H} which satisfies eq. (1.4) is called **system of covariance** for G based on Ω . A POM E satisfying eq. (1.4) is said to be U-covariant.

As a simple and clarifying example, we can consider the position observables for a quantum particle with one degree of freedom. Here the Hilbert space of the system is $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ and the outcome space is the real line $\Omega = \mathbb{R}$ with the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$. We have the usual action of the group of translations $G = \mathbb{R}$ on \mathbb{R} itself. We require that the statistics of the outcomes registered measuring a position observable E satisfy

$$p_{x[T]}^{E}(X) = p_{T}^{E}(X - x) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}, X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}), T \in S(\mathcal{H}),$$

where $x\left[T\right]=e^{-ixP}Te^{ixP},\,P$ being the selfadjoint generator of translations. This implies

$$e^{-ixP}E(X)e^{ixP} = E(X+x) \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}, X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}).$$
 (1.5)

A possible solution of the above equation is the projection valued measure Π given by

$$\left[\Pi\left(X\right)f\right]\left(x\right) = \chi_{X}\left(x\right)f\left(x\right) \quad \forall f \in L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}, \mathrm{d}x\right), \ X \in \mathcal{B}\left(\mathbb{R}\right).$$

We note that Π is the spectral map associated to the selfadjoint generator Q of momentum boosts, with (Qf)(x) = xf(x). Neverthless, we shall see in the next chapter that there are many other solutions of eq. (1.5), for which the condition 1' does not hold in general. By the way, we note that the covariance under translations is not sufficient to define a position observable; also invariance under boosts is needed. We shall explore this with more details in chapter 4.

In the following, we will be mainly concerned with the solution of eq. (1.4), i.e. with the classification of the systems of covariance for a group G based on a G-space Ω . We will always assume that the action of G on Ω is transitive. Under this essential hypothesis (and some general topological assumptions), we will find the most general solution in the following two cases:

- 1. G is abelian and U is an arbitrary unitary representation of G (chapter 2);
- 2. G is generic, U is an irreducible projective unitary representation of G, and the stabilizer of Ω in G is compact (chapter 3).

The first case covers, for example, the class of position observables just described, while the second characterises an important class of joint observables of position and momentum, namely the covariant phase space observables (see §3.5).

The next section lays down the mathematical set-up which will be the starting point for our solution of this classification problem.

1.2 The induced representation and the generalised imprimitivity theorem

In the following, we will always be concerned with topological spaces endowed with their Borel σ -algebra. If Ω is a topological space, we denote by $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ the σ -algebra of its Borel subsets.

We will always assume that G is a Hausdorff locally compact second countable topological group acting continuously and transitively on a Hausdorff locally compact space Ω (transitive G-space). We denote by e the identity element of G. Fixed a point $x \in \Omega$, Ω is canonically identified with the quotient space G/H_x , $H_x \subset G$ being the stability subgroup at x. By virtue of this identification, for the rest of this section we shall assume that $\Omega = G/H$, with H a closed subgroup in G. The canonical projection $G \longrightarrow G/H$ is denoted by π ; the equivalence class of an element $g \in G$ in G/H is denoted alternatively by $\pi(g)$ or g. The action of an element $g \in G$ on a point $g \in G/H$ is clearly $g \in G/H$ is clearly $g \in G/H$.

We assume that G/H admits an invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$. We recall that this is equivalent to assume that the modular function Δ_G of G restricts on H to the modular function Δ_H of H. If the invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$ exists, then it is unique up to a constant. We let μ_G be a fixed left Haar measure of G. The following fact will often be used: a set $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$ is $\mu_{G/H}$ -negligible if and only if $\pi^{-1}(X)$ is μ_G -negligible. For more details on these facts, we refer to [33], [34].

By a unitary representation (or simply a representation) we mean a weakly continuous unitary representation acting in a separable Hilbert space. If \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space, we denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$ its scalar product, linear in the second argument; when clear from the context, we drop the subscript \mathcal{H} .

Let rep (H) and rep (G) be the set of the unitary representations of H and G respectively. We now describe a canonical construction which will allow us to associate:

- to each unitary representation σ of H a unitary representation of G, called the **representation of** G **induced by** σ and denoted by $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$;
- to each map A intertwining³ σ with σ' a map \widetilde{A} intertwining $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma)$ with $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma')$ in such a way that: a) $\widetilde{AB} = \widetilde{A}\widetilde{B}$ if A intertwines σ with σ' and B intertwines σ' with σ'' ; b) $\widetilde{A}^* = \widetilde{A}^*$.

Suppose σ is a representation of H in the Hilbert space \mathcal{K} . Let \mathcal{H}^{σ} be the space of functions $f: G \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$ such that

- 1. f is weakly μ_G -measurable;
- 2. for all $h \in H$ and $g \in G$

$$f(gh) = \sigma(h)^{-1} f(g);$$

3.

$$\int_{G/H} \|f(g)\|^2 d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g}) < \infty.$$

We identify functions in \mathcal{H}^{σ} which are equal μ_{G} -a.e.⁴. Endowed with the scalar product

$$\langle f_1, f_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\sigma}} = \int_{G/H} \langle f_1(g), f_2(g) \rangle d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$

 \mathcal{H}^{σ} becomes a separable Hilbert space (see [27]). There is a natural unitary representation of G in \mathcal{H}^{σ} , in which G acts on \mathcal{H}^{σ} by left translations. We denote it by λ^{σ} :

$$[\lambda^{\sigma}(a) f](g) = f(a^{-1}g)$$
 for μ_G -a.a. $g \in G$.

$$A\sigma(h) = \sigma'(h)A \quad \forall h \in H.$$

³We recall that, if σ and σ' are representations of H acting in the Hilbert spaces \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{K}' , a bounded operator $A: \mathcal{K} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}'$ intertwines σ and σ' if

⁴Here and in the following 'a.e.' is the acronym of 'almost everywhere'. Likewise, 'a.a.' is the abbreviated form of 'almost all'.

for all $a \in G$.

We then define $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma) = \lambda^{\sigma}$. If A intertwines σ with σ' , we let $\tilde{A}: \mathcal{H}^{\sigma} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma'}$ be defined by

$$\left(\tilde{A}f\right)(g) = Af(g).$$

It is immediately checked that \tilde{A} satisfies the required properties.

Remark 1.2.1 Note that if $H = \{1\}$ and σ is the trivial one-dimensional representation of H, then $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ is the left regular representation λ of G. We recall that this representation acts by left translations in the Hilbert space $L^2(G, \mu_G)$:

$$[\lambda(a) f](g) = f(a^{-1}g)$$
 for μ_G -a.a. $g \in G$.

for all $f \in L^2(G, \mu_G)$, $a \in G$. In the following, we will often drop the adjective 'left' in referring to this representation.

An equivalent realisation of ind_H^G is now given. Fix a Borel section $s:G/H\longrightarrow G.$ Define

$$(Vf)(x) = f(s(x))$$
 for $\mu_{G/H}$ -a.a. $x \in G/H$

for all $f \in \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$. Then, $Vf \in L^{2}\left(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{K}\right)$, and the linear operator $V: \mathcal{H}^{\sigma} \longrightarrow L^{2}\left(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{K}\right)$ is unitary. By means of V, we transfer λ^{σ} to a unitary representation U^{σ} of G in $L^{2}\left(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{K}\right)$. Its action on $\phi \in L^{2}\left(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{K}\right)$ is

$$\left[U^{\sigma}\left(a\right)\phi\right]\left(x\right) = \sigma\left(s\left(x\right)^{-1}as\left(a^{-1}\left[x\right]\right)\right)\phi\left(a^{-1}\left[x\right]\right)$$

for all $a \in G$.

In the following, we will mainly use the realisation of $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma)$ in \mathcal{H}^{σ} , although sometimes we will refer also to the second construction.

In \mathcal{H}^{σ} we define the projection valued measure P^{σ} based on G/H which maps each $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$ into the multiplication by the corresponding characteristic function χ_X :

$$[P^{\sigma}(X) f](g) = \chi_X(\dot{g}) f(g) \quad \forall f \in \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}.$$
(1.6)

Clearly,

$$\lambda^{\sigma}\left(g\right)P^{\sigma}\left(X\right)\lambda^{\sigma}\left(g\right)^{-1}=P^{\sigma}\left(g\left[X\right]\right)\quad\forall X\in\mathcal{B}\left(G/H\right),\,\forall g\in G.$$

A triple (U, P, \mathcal{H}) , in which U is a unitary representation of G in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}, P : \mathcal{B}(G/H) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a projection valued measure, and

$$U(g) P(X) U(g)^{-1} = P(g[X]) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H), \forall g \in G,$$

is called **system of imprimitivity** for G based on G/H. The triple $(\lambda^{\sigma}, P^{\sigma}, \mathcal{H}^{\sigma})$ defined above is the **canonical system of imprimitivity** induced by the representation σ of H.

We can now state the fundamental theorem on which our classification of covariant POM's will be based. It is a generalisation of the imprimitivity theorem of Mackey ([48], [33]), and, in its first proof given by Cattaneo in [24], it is a consequence of Mackey's theorem and of the dilation theorem of Naimark. A direct proof, which includes the proof of the Mackey imprimitivity theorem, is given in [19]. We recall from the previous section that a system of covariance for G based on G/H is a triple (U, E, \mathcal{H}) made up by a unitary representation U of G in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and a POM E on G/H acting in \mathcal{H} and satisfying the covariance condition of eq. (1.4).

Theorem 1.2.2 (Generalised imprimitivity theorem) Let (U, E, \mathcal{H}) be a system of covariance for G based on G/H. There exists a representation σ of H such that

1. there is an isometry $W: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$, with $WU(g) = \lambda^{\sigma}(g) W \ \forall g \in G$, such that

$$E(X) = W^* P^{\sigma}(X) W \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H);$$

2. the linear hull of the set

$$\{P^{\sigma}(X) Wv \mid v \in \mathcal{H}, X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)\}$$

is dense in \mathcal{H}^{σ} .

Moreover, the representation σ satisfying 1 and 2 is unique up to equivalence.

Conversely, given a representation U of G on \mathcal{H} , suppose that for some $\sigma \in \operatorname{rep}(H)$ there exists an isometry $W: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$ intertwining U with λ^{σ} . Then, it is immediately checked that

$$E(X) := W^* P^{\sigma}(X) W \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$$

defines a system of covariance (U, E, \mathcal{H}) .

By virtue of the above theorem, the problem of classifying all the systems of covariance for G based on G/H reduces to characterising the representations of G which are contained in representations induced from H. This is directly related to the problem of diagonalising the induced representation, hence in particular to Plancherel theory. Thus, as we shall see, a general solution is achievable only for particular choices of H, such that a canonical method for diagonalising $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ ($\sigma \in \operatorname{rep}(H)$) can be worked out.

Remark 1.2.3 Suppose (U, E, \mathcal{H}) and (U', E', \mathcal{H}') are two systems of covariance for G based on G/H. Then they are **equivalent** if there exists a unitary operator $V: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}'$ such that $U'(g) = VU(g)V^{-1} \ \forall g \in G$ and $E'(X) = VE(X)V^{-1} \ \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$.

Remark 1.2.4 Suppose Ω is a locally compact second countable Hausdorff space, and let $C_c(\Omega)$ be the linear space of continuous complex valued functions on Ω with compact support. If $E: \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a POM, for $\varphi \in C_c(\Omega)$ we define the following bounded operator on \mathcal{H}

$$E\left(\varphi\right) := \int_{\Omega} \varphi\left(x\right) dE\left(x\right),$$

where the integral is understood in the weak sense. It is known that the map $\varphi \longmapsto E(\varphi)$ defines uniquely the POM E. Indeed, if $u, v \in \mathcal{H}$, let $\mu_{u,v}$ be the complex measure given by

$$\mu_{u,v}(X) = \langle u, E(X) v \rangle \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega).$$
 (1.7)

By the Riesz representation theorem, the complex measure $\mu_{u,v}$ can be recovered from the bounded linear functional it induces on $C_c(\Omega)$, i.e. from the mapping

$$C_{c}(\Omega) \ni \varphi \longmapsto \int_{\Omega} \varphi(x) d\mu_{u,v}(x) \equiv \langle u, E(\varphi) v \rangle$$

(here we used the definition of $E(\varphi)$). Hence, the mapping $\varphi \longmapsto E(\varphi)$ determines all the complex measures $\mu_{u,v}$ ($u,v \in \mathcal{H}$), and these in turn determine the POM E by means of (1.7). For more details, we refer to [7]. In the following, we will often use this alternative description of E.

If $\Omega = G/H$, denoting by $\varphi^g(x) := \varphi(g^{-1}[x])$ the action of an element $g \in G$ on a function $\varphi \in C_c(G/H)$, covariance condition (1.4) is equivalent to the following

$$E(\varphi^g) = U(g) E(\varphi) U(g)^{-1} \quad \forall \varphi \in C_c(G/H), g \in G.$$

If P^{σ} is the projection valued measure of eq. (1.6), we have, for $\varphi \in C_c(G/H)$,

$$\left[P^{\sigma}\left(\varphi\right)f\right]\left(g\right)=\varphi\left(\dot{g}\right)f\left(g\right)\quad\forall f\in\mathcal{H}^{\sigma}.$$

Remark 1.2.5 Let σ be a representation of H in the Hilbert space K. For $\varphi \in C_c(G)$ and $v \in K$, let

$$f_{\varphi v}\left(g\right) := \int_{H} \varphi\left(gh\right) \sigma\left(h\right) v d\mu_{H}\left(h\right) \qquad \forall g \in G$$

(here μ_H is a Haar measure of H). It is easily checked that $f_{\varphi v}$ is a continuous function in \mathcal{H}^{σ} , whose support is compact modulo H. Moreover, if $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{K}$ is a subset which is total in \mathcal{K} , it is known that the set

$$\{f_{\varphi v} \mid \varphi \in C_c(G), v \in \mathcal{D}\}\$$

is total in \mathcal{H}^{σ} (see [33]).

Remark 1.2.6 In chapter 3, we will deal also with **projective unitary** representations of the group G (sometimes abbreviated in 'projective representations'). We recall that such a representation acting in a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} is a weakly measurable map $G \ni g \longmapsto U(g) \in \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H}), \mathcal{U}(\mathcal{H})$ being the unitary group of \mathcal{H} , such that U(e) = 1 and $U(g_1g_2) = m(g_1, g_2)U(g_1)U(g_2)$. The measurable map $m: G \times G \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$, \mathbb{T} being the set of complex numbers with modulus one, is the **multiplier** of U (see [52] for more details; in particular, if the multiplier m is trivial, there exists a measurable map $a: G \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$ such that $G \longmapsto a(g)U(g)$ is a strongly continuous unitary representation of G). As in the unitary case, a POM $E: \mathcal{B}(G/H) \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ is U-covariant if $U(g)E(X)U(g)^{-1} = E(g[X])$ for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$ and $g \in G$.

1.3 Systems of covariance and coherent states

Let G, H and G/H be as in the previous section. In addition, suppose $U \in \operatorname{rep}(G)$ is fixed. Let \mathcal{H} be the Hilbert space of U. We are now interested in the U-covariant POM's that are expressible by means of an operator density with respect to some measure on G/H. In other words, we are looking for those U-covariant POM's E based on G/H such that there exist a positive Borel measure ν on G/H and a weakly ν -measurable map $G/H \ni x \longmapsto E(x) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ satisfying

$$E(X) = \int_X E(x) d\nu(x) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H).$$
 (1.8)

Here and in the following, our operator valued integrals are always understood in the weak sense. If eq. (1.8) holds, then we have the following resolution of the identity

$$I = \int_{G/H} E(x) d\nu(x), \qquad (1.9)$$

so that E(x), $x \in G/H$, define a family of **generalised coherent states** in the sense of [5]. This terminology is justified by the following fact: if there exists a measurable map $G/H \ni x \longmapsto \psi(x) \in \mathcal{H}$, with $\|\psi(x)\| = 1$ a.e., such that E(x) is the orthogonal projection along $\psi(x)$, then eq. (1.9) reads⁵

$$I = \int_{G/H} \langle \psi(x), \cdot \rangle \psi(x) d\nu(x),$$

$$\langle u, v \rangle = \int \langle u, \psi(x) \rangle \langle \psi(x), v \rangle d\nu(x) \quad \forall u, v \in \mathcal{H}.$$

 $^{^{5}}$ We recall that our inner product is linear in the second argument. Eq. (1.9) is also equivalent to

thus showing the connection with classical coherent states [26].

Theorem 1.3.2 below is a consequence of the result found by Cattaneo in [25]. Here we give a different and simplified proof, which, up to our knowledge, is new. It is based on the following lemma.

Lemma 1.3.1 If eq. (1.8) holds for the U-covariant POM E, then there exists a weakly continuous map $G/H \ni x \longmapsto \widetilde{E}(x) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

1.
$$U(g) \widetilde{E}(x) U(g)^{-1} = \widetilde{E}(g[x]) \quad \forall g \in G, \, \forall x \in G/H;$$

2. $E(X) = \int_{X} \widetilde{E}(x) d\mu_{G/H}(x) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H).$

Proof. We first show that in eq. (1.8) E(x) is a positive operator for ν -a.a. x, and ν can always be chosen to be the invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$. First of all, possibly redefining ν , we can assume $E(x) \neq 0$ for ν -a.a. x. Let $(v_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a countable sequence of vectors which is dense in \mathcal{H} . Since, for all $n\geq 1$, $\langle E(X)v_n,v_n\rangle\geq 0$ for all $X\in\mathcal{B}(G/H)$, it follows from eq. (1.8) that there is a ν -null set $N\in\mathcal{B}(G/H)$ such that $\langle E(x)v_n,v_n\rangle\geq 0$ for all $n\geq 1$ and $x\notin N$. By continuity, $E(x)\geq 0$ for all $x\notin N$. For each n, we define the bounded measures

$$\mu_n(X) = \|v_n\|^{-2} \langle v_n, E(X) v_n \rangle \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$$

and

$$\mu = \sum_{n} 2^{-n} \mu_n.$$

We then have the equivalence

$$\mu(X) = 0 \iff E(X) = 0,$$

and, since $E(g[X]) = U(g) E(X) U(g)^{-1}$,

$$\mu\left(X\right)=0\Longleftrightarrow\mu\left(g\left[X\right]\right)=0.$$

It follows that μ is equivalent to the invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$ (see [33]). On the other hand, by eq. (1.8) and monotone convergence theorem, μ has density

$$x \longmapsto \sigma(x) := \sum_{n} 2^{-n} \|v_n\|^{-2} \langle v_n, E(x) v_n \rangle$$

with respect to ν , and, since $\sigma(x) > 0$ for ν -a.a. x, μ and ν are equivalent. Let ρ be the density of ν with respect to $\mu_{G/H}$, and define $\widetilde{E}(x) = \rho(x) E(x)$. We then have

$$E(X) = \int_{Y} \widetilde{E}(x) d\mu_{G/H}(x) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$$

as claimed.

The covariance condition on E easily implies that for all $g \in G$ there is a $\mu_{G/H}$ -null set N_g such that

$$U(g)\widetilde{E}(x)U(g)^{-1} = \widetilde{E}(g[x]) \quad \forall x \notin N_q.$$
(1.10)

We now show that N_g can be chosen independent on $g \in G$. This will complete the proof of the lemma. Note that, since

$$\exp\left[\pm i\widetilde{E}\left(x\right)\right] = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\left(\pm i\right)^{k}}{k!} \widetilde{E}\left(x\right)^{k},$$

the convergence being in the uniform norm of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$, the maps $x \longmapsto \exp\left(\pm i\widetilde{E}(x)\right)$ are weakly $\mu_{G/H}$ -measurable. In fact, it suffices to show that each map $x \longmapsto \widetilde{E}(x)^k$ is weakly $\mu_{G/H}$ -measurable, and this is seen by induction on k: fixed an orthonormal basis $(\phi_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of \mathcal{H} , we have

$$\left\langle u, \widetilde{E}(x)^k v \right\rangle = \sum_{n} \left\langle u, \widetilde{E}(x) \phi_n \right\rangle \phi_n, \left\langle \widetilde{E}(x)^{k-1} v \right\rangle \quad \forall x \in G/H$$

and by the inductive hypothesis the right hand side is the sum of $\mu_{G/H}$ -measurable functions, hence is $\mu_{G/H}$ -measurable. Inserting again $I = \sum_n \langle \cdot, \phi_n \rangle \phi_n$ between the composed operators, we see that the maps

$$g \longmapsto 2I + U(g)^{-1} \exp\left[i\widetilde{E}(\dot{g})\right] U(g) + \text{h.c.} =: B^{+}(g)$$
$$g \longmapsto 2I + iU(g)^{-1} \exp\left[i\widetilde{E}(\dot{g})\right] U(g) + \text{h.c.} =: B^{-}(g)$$

are weakly μ_G -measurable. Moreover, $B^{\pm}(g) \geq 0$ and $||B^{\pm}(g)|| \leq 4$ for all $g \in G$. For $n \geq 1$, we can thus define the positive Borel measures α_n^{\pm} on G, given by

$$\int_{G} f(g) d\alpha_{n}^{\pm}(g) = \int_{G} f(g) \langle v_{n}, B^{\pm}(g) v_{n} \rangle d\mu_{G}(g) \quad \forall f \in C_{c}(G).$$

For all $a \in G$, by eq. (1.10) we have

$$B^{\pm}(ag) = B^{\pm}(g)$$
 for a.a. $g \in G$,

and so α_n^{\pm} are invariant measures on G. This implies $\alpha_n^{\pm} = c_n^{\pm} \mu_G$ for some constants c_n^{\pm} , hence $\langle B^{\pm}(g) v_n, v_n \rangle$ is a constant for a.a. g. It follows that there is a μ_G -null set Z and operators C^{\pm} such that

$$B^{\pm}\left(g\right) = C^{\pm} \quad \forall g \notin Z.$$

Since

$$U(g)^{-1} \exp \left[i\widetilde{E}(\dot{g})\right] U(g) = \frac{1}{2i} \left(C^{+} - iC^{-}\right) + (i-1)I$$
 for a.a. $g \in G$,

by spectral theorem $g \longmapsto U(g)^{-1} \widetilde{E}(\dot{g}) U(g)$ is constant almost everywhere. Our claim is thus proved. \blacksquare

The next theorem characterises those U-covariant POM's which define a family of generalised coherent states.

Theorem 1.3.2 Suppose E is a U-covariant POM based on G/H. Let σ and W be as in Theorem 1.2.2. Then, E admits the representation of eq. (1.8) if and only there exists a bounded operator $A: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$, \mathcal{K} being the Hilbert space of σ , such that

1.
$$AU(h) = \sigma(h) A \quad \forall h \in H; \tag{1.11}$$

2. $(Wv)(q) = AU(q)^{-1}v \text{ for a.a. } q \in G.$ (1.12)

Proof. If A satisfies the conditions in the statement, then

$$\langle u, E(X) v \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle Wu, P^{\sigma}(X) Wv \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\sigma}}$$
$$= \int_{X} \langle AU(g)^{-1} u, AU(g)^{-1} v \rangle_{\mathcal{K}} d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$

and eq. (1.8) follows with

$$E\left(\dot{g}\right):=U\left(g\right)A^{*}AU\left(g\right)^{-1}\quad\forall g\in G.$$

Conversely, if eq. (1.8) holds, then by the previous lemma we can take $\nu = \mu_{G/H}$ and $E(\dot{g}) = U(g)TU(g)^{-1}$ for some fixed positive operator T, where T commutes with the representation σ' of H obtained restricting U to H. For all $v \in \mathcal{H}$, define

$$\left(W'v\right)\left(g\right) = T^{1/2}U\left(g\right)^{-1}v \quad \forall g \in G.$$

By eq. (1.9), W' is an isometry $\mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma'}$. It clearly intertwines U with $\lambda^{\sigma'}$. Let P be the orthogonal projection onto the closed subspace $\overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ P^{\sigma'}(X) W'v \mid v \in \mathcal{H}, X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H) \}$. Then, as P commutes with $\lambda^{\sigma'}$ and $P^{\sigma'}$, the imprimitivity theorem of Mackey implies that there exists an orthogonal projection $P_{\mathcal{H}}$ of \mathcal{H} commuting with σ' and such that

$$(Pf)(g) = P_{\mathcal{H}}f(g) \quad \forall f \in \mathcal{H}^{\sigma'}.$$

By the uniqueness statement in Theorem 1.2.2, we can assume $\sigma = \sigma'|_{P_{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{H}}$, the restriction of σ' to the subspace $\mathcal{K} = P_{\mathcal{H}}\mathcal{H}$, and W = W'. Since PW' = W', we have $P_{\mathcal{H}}T^{1/2}v = (PW'v)(e) = (W'v)(e) = T^{1/2}v$ for all $v \in \mathcal{H}$. Thus, ran $T^{1/2} \subset \mathcal{K}$. If we set $A = T^{1/2}$, then A satisfies eqs. (1.11) and (1.12), and the proof of the theorem is complete.

An operator $A: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$ as in the statement of the theorem above is called **generalised wavelet operator** (see [5]). Note that an intertwining isometry $W: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$ is expressible in the form of eq. (1.12), with $A: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$ bounded and satisfying eq. (1.11), if and only if the subspace $W\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$ is a reproducing kernel Hilbert space of continuous functions on G (recall that a reproducing kernel Hilbert space on G is a Hilbert space of functions in which the evaluation maps at each point $g \in G$ are continuous functionals). We thus find in a different way the result found by Cattaneo in ([25]).

Chapter 2

The abelian case

2.1 Introduction

Throughout all this chapter, G will be a Hausdorff locally compact *abelian* group satisfying the second countability axiom, and H will be a closed subgroup in G.

In the following, we describe all the systems of covariance for G based on G/H. First of all, given $U \in \text{rep }(G)$, we will find a necessary and sufficient condition in order that U admits covariant POM's based on G/H. To give a brief explanation of this point, let \widehat{G} be the group of unitary characters of G, and [M(G)] be the partially ordered set of equivalence classes of positive Borel measures on \widehat{G} (here $[\rho] \leq [\nu]$ iff ρ has density with respect to ν). As we shall explain with more details in section 2.4, the Stone-Naimark-Ambrose-Godement (SNAG) theorem canonically associates to U a unique measure class $\mathcal{C}_U \in [M(\widehat{G})]$. We will construct a canonical order preserving map $\Phi_H: [M(\widehat{G})] \longrightarrow [M(\widehat{G})]$ such that the following holds: U admits covariant POM's based on G/H if and only if $[\mathcal{C}_U] \leq \Phi_H([\mathcal{C}_U])$. If this condition is satisfied, the next step consists in characterising the most general Ucovariant POM based on G/H. We will see that such a POM is described in terms of a family $W_x: E_x \to E$ of isometries, where the index x runs over the dual group \widehat{G} , dim E_x equals the multiplicity of the character x in Uand E is a fixed (infinite dimensional) Hilbert space. Since our classification of covariant POM's is based on the generalised imprimitivity theorem, an essential point is the definition of a unitary transform Σ which diagonalises $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma)$ for $\sigma \in \operatorname{rep}(H)$. This sort of "generalised Fourier transform" is the subject of §2.3. In §2.4 we will state the basic results of this chapter. Finally, as an application in §2.5 we give three examples:

1. the *regular* representation of the real line, where the positive operator measures describe a class of *position observables* in one dimension (§2.5.1);

- 2. the *number*-representation of the torus, where the positive operator measures describe the *phase observables* for a single mode bosonic field (§2.5.2);
- 3. the tensor product of two *number*-representations of the torus, where the positive operator valued measures describe the *phase difference* observables ($\S 2.5.3$).

In the literature, the problem of classifying the U-covariant POM's for the abelian group G had been solved by Holevo in the special case $H = \{e\}$ [41]. Our results are then a generalisation of the results of Holevo. In addition, in the case $H = \{e\}$ our approach gives a description of covariant POM's which is more manageable than the already known one.

The material in this chapter is taken from [21].

2.2 Notations

All the groups considered in this chapter are Hausdorff, locally compact, second countable and abelian. If Ω is a locally compact second countable Hausdorff space, by a measure on Ω we always mean a positive measure defined on the Borel σ -algebra $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ of Ω which is finite on compact sets. If \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space, we denote by $C_c(\Omega; \mathcal{H})$ the space of functions $\varphi: \Omega \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ which are continuous and with compact support. If $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}$, we use the standard abbreviated notation $C_c(\Omega)$ for $C_c(\Omega; \mathbb{C})$.

In the sequel we shall use rather freely basic results of harmonic analysis on abelian groups, as exposed, for example, in refs. [27] and [33].

We fix a group G and a closed subgroup H. We denote by \widehat{G} and \widehat{H} the corresponding dual groups and by $\langle x, g \rangle$ the canonical pairing.

We recall that

$$\pi: G \longrightarrow G/H, \qquad \pi(g) = \dot{g}$$

is the canonical projection onto the quotient group G/H. If $a \in G$ and $\dot{g} \in G/H$, the action of a on the point \dot{g} is $a[\dot{g}] = \dot{a}\dot{g}$.

Let H^{\perp} be the annihilator of H in \widehat{G} , that is

$$H^{\perp} = \left\{ y \in \widehat{G} \mid \langle y, h \rangle = 1 \ \forall h \in H \right\}.$$

The group H^{\perp} is a closed subgroup of \widehat{G} and $\widehat{G/H}$ can be identified (and we will do) with H^{\perp} by means of

$$\langle y, \dot{g} \rangle := \langle y, g \rangle \quad \forall y \in H^{\perp}, \, \forall \dot{g} \in G/H.$$

Since H^{\perp} is closed, we can consider the quotient group \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} . We denote by

$$q: \widehat{G} \longrightarrow \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \qquad q(x) = \dot{x}$$

the canonical projection. The group \widehat{H} can be identified (and we will do) with the quotient group \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} by means of

$$\langle \dot{x}, h \rangle := \langle x, h \rangle \quad \forall \dot{x} \in \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \, \forall h \in H.$$

Let μ_G , μ_H and $\mu_{G/H}$ be fixed Haar measures on G, H and G/H, respectively.

We denote by $\mu_{H^{\perp}}$ the Haar measure on H^{\perp} such that the Fourier-Plancherel cotransform $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}$ is a unitary operator from $L^2\left(G/H,\mu_{G/H}\right)$ onto $L^2\left(H^{\perp},\mu_{H^{\perp}}\right)$, where $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}$ is given by

$$(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}f)(y) = \int_{G/H} \langle y, \dot{g} \rangle f(\dot{g}) d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$
 for a.a. $y \in H^{\perp}$

for all $f \in (L^1 \cap L^2)(G/H, \mu_{G/H})$.

Given $\varphi \in C_c(\widehat{G})$, let

$$\widetilde{\varphi}(\dot{x}) := \int_{H^{\perp}} \varphi(xy) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) \quad \forall \dot{x} \in \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}.$$

It is well known that $\widetilde{\varphi}$ is in $C_c\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}\right)$ and that $\widetilde{\varphi} \geq 0$ if $\varphi \geq 0$. Given a measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} , the map

$$C_c\left(\widehat{G}\right) \ni \varphi \longmapsto \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \widetilde{\varphi}\left(\dot{x}\right) d\nu\left(\dot{x}\right) \in \mathbb{C}$$
 (2.1)

is linear and positive. Hence, by Riesz-Markov theorem, there is a unique measure $\widetilde{\nu}$ on \widehat{G} such that

$$\int_{\widehat{G}} \phi(x) \, d\widetilde{\nu}(x) = \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu(\dot{x}) \int_{H^{\perp}} \phi(xy) \, d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y)$$

for all $\phi \in L^1(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu})$. One can check that the correspondence $\nu \longmapsto \widetilde{\nu}$ preserves equivalence and orthogonality of measures.

Given a finite measure μ on \widehat{G} , we denote by μ^q the image measure of μ with respect to q, i.e. the measure on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} given by

$$\mu^{q}\left(A\right)=\mu\left(q^{-1}\left(A\right)\right)\quad\forall A\in\mathcal{B}\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}\right).$$

The following well known theorem of harmonic analisys characterises the most general unitary representation of the abelian group G. It is stated in this form for example in [33, Theorem 7.40] (see also [27, Theorem 22.15.1]). We recall that if ρ is a measure on \widehat{G} and F is a Hilbert space, the **diagonal representation** $U^{\rho,F}$ of G in the space $L^2\left(\widehat{G},\rho;F\right)$ is defined by

$$\left(U^{\rho,F}\phi\right)(x)=\left\langle x,g\right\rangle \phi\left(x\right)\quad\text{for ρ-a.a }x\in\widehat{G}$$

for all $\phi \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho; F)$ and $g \in G$.

Theorem 2.2.1 (Stone, Naimark, Ambrose, Godement) Let U be a unitary representation of the abelian group G. Then there exists a family of disjoint measures $(\rho_j)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}$ on \widehat{G} and a family of Hilbert spaces $(F_k)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}$ with dim $F_k=k$ such that U is unitarily equivalent to the direct sum $\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}} U^{\rho_j,F_j}$.

If $\left(\rho_{j}'\right)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}\cup\{\infty\}}$ is another family of disjoint measures on \widehat{G} such that U is unitarily equivalent to the direct sum $\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}\cup\{\infty\}} U^{\rho_{j}',F_{j}'}$, then ρ_{j} and ρ_{j}' are equivalent measures for all $j\in\mathbb{Z}_{+}\cup\{\infty\}$.

We say that $U \in \text{rep }(G)$ has **uniform multiplicity** $m \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cup \{\infty\}$ if, with the notations of the above theorem, we have $\rho = 0$ for all $j \neq m$.

We now fix a representation U of G acting on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . Our aim is to describe all the positive operator measures covariant with respect to U. From the generalised imprimitivity theorem the following fact immediately follows.

Theorem 2.2.2 A POM E based on G/H and acting on \mathcal{H} is covariant with respect to U if and only if there exists a representation σ of H and an isometry W intertwining U with $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ such that

$$E\left(\omega\right) = W^* P^{\sigma}\left(\omega\right) W$$

for all $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$.

Note that here and in the rest of this chapter we define the POM E by means of its representation as a linear form on $C_c(G/H)$, as explained in Remark 1.2.4. This is done in order to avoid some technical difficulties (like problems when in the following some order of integration is changed). If σ' is another representation of H such that σ is contained (as subrepresentation) in σ , then the induced imprimitivity system $(\lambda^{\sigma}, P^{\sigma}, \mathcal{H}^{\sigma})$ is contained in $(\lambda^{\sigma'}, P^{\sigma'}, \mathcal{H}^{\sigma'})$. Hence, we can always assume that σ in the previous theorem has uniform infinite multiplicity.

With this assumption, and by the equivalence $\widehat{H} \simeq \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}$, there exist a measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} and an infinite dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{M} such that, up to a unitary equivalence, σ acts diagonally on $L^2\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp},\nu;\mathcal{M}\right)$. The first step of our construction is to diagonalise the representation $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$.

2.3 Diagonalisation of $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}\left(\sigma\right)$

In this section, given a representation of H with uniform multiplicity, we diagonalise the corresponding induced representation.

Let ν be a measure on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} and \mathcal{M} be a Hilbert space. Let σ^{ν} be the diagonal representation of H acting on the space $L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp},\nu;\mathcal{M}\right)$, that is

$$(\sigma^{\nu}(h)\xi)(\dot{x}) = \langle \dot{x}, h \rangle \xi(\dot{x}),$$

for all $\xi \in L^2\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \nu; \mathcal{M}\right)$ and $h \in H$.

We denote by \mathcal{H}^{ν} the space of functions $f: G \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ such that

- 1. f is weakly $(\mu_G \otimes \nu)$ -measurable;
- 2. for all $h \in H$ and $g \in G$

$$f(gh, \dot{x}) = \overline{\langle \dot{x}, h \rangle} f(g, \dot{x})$$
 for ν -a.a. $\dot{x} \in \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}$; (2.2)

3.

$$\int_{G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \|f\left(g, \dot{x}\right)\|^{2} d\left(\mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu\right) (\dot{g}, \dot{x}) < +\infty.$$

We identify functions in \mathcal{H}^{ν} that are equal $(\mu_G \otimes \nu)$ -a.e.. Let G act on \mathcal{H}^{ν} as

$$(\lambda^{\nu}(a) f)(g, \dot{x}) := f(a^{-1}g, \dot{x})$$

for all $a \in G$. Define

$$(P^{\nu}(\omega) f)(g, \dot{x}) := \omega(\dot{g}) f(g, \dot{x})$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{H}^{\nu}$, $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$.

The following proposition is stated in [21] without a proof.

Proposition 2.3.1 The space \mathcal{H}^{ν} is a Hilbert space with respect to the inner product

$$\langle f_1, f_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}} = \int_{G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \langle f_1(g, \dot{x}), f_2(g, \dot{x}) \rangle d(\mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu) (\dot{g}, \dot{x}).$$

If
$$\varphi \in C_c\left(G \times \widehat{G}/H^\perp; \mathcal{M}\right)$$
, let

$$f_{\varphi}\left(g,\dot{x}\right):=\int_{H}\left\langle \dot{x},h\right\rangle \varphi\left(gh,\dot{x}\right)d\mu_{H}\left(h\right) \qquad \forall\left(g,\dot{x}\right)\in G\times\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}.$$

Then f_{φ} is a continuous function in \mathcal{H}^{ν} such that $\left(\pi \times \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}}\right)$ (supp f_{φ}) is compact, and the set

$$\mathcal{H}_0^{\nu} = \left\{ f_{\varphi} \mid \varphi \in C_c \left(G \times \widehat{G} / H^{\perp}; \mathcal{M} \right) \right\}$$

is a dense subspace of \mathcal{H}^{ν} . The triple $(\lambda^{\nu}, P^{\nu}, \mathcal{H}^{\nu})$ is the canonical imprimitivity system induced by σ^{ν} from H to G.

Proof. Recall the definitions of s and V given after Remark 1.2.1 in §1.2. We define a unitary operator $V': \mathcal{H}^{\nu} \longrightarrow L^2\left(G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu; \mathcal{M}\right)$ by

$$(V'f)(\dot{g},\dot{x}) = f(s(\dot{g}),\dot{x}).$$

We denote by J the canonical identification of $L^2\left(G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu; \mathcal{M}\right)$ with $L^2\left(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; L^2\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}, \nu; \mathcal{M}\right)\right)$, where

$$\left[J\phi\left(\dot{g}\right)\right]\left(\dot{x}\right)=\phi\left(\dot{g},\dot{x}\right)\quad\text{for a.a. }\dot{x}\in\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}$$

for a.a. $\dot{g} \in G/H$. It is then easy to check that the unitary map $f \longmapsto \hat{f} := V^{-1}JV'f$ intertwines the imprimitivity systems $(\lambda^{\nu}, P^{\nu}, \mathcal{H}^{\nu})$ and $(\lambda^{\sigma^{\nu}}, P^{\sigma^{\nu}}, \mathcal{H}^{\sigma^{\nu}})$, since

$$\left[\widehat{f}\left(g\right)\right](\dot{x})=f\left(g,\dot{x}\right)\quad\text{for ν-a.a. }\dot{x}\in\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}$$

for μ_G -a.a. $g \in G$.

For the second statement in the theorem, the compactness of the set $\left(\pi \times \mathrm{id}_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}}\right)$ (supp f_{φ}) is clear from the definition of f_{φ} . Also, the continuity of f_{φ} is a standard consequence of dominated convergence theorem. It only remains to prove the density of \mathcal{H}_{0}^{ν} . Let $\varphi_{1} \in C_{c}(G)$, $\varphi_{2} \in C_{c}\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp};\mathcal{M}\right)$, and $\psi\left(g,x\right)=\varphi_{1}\left(g\right)\varphi_{2}\left(\dot{x}\right)$. For $f\in\mathcal{H}^{\nu}$, we have

$$\langle f, f_{\psi} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}} = \int_{G/H} d\mu_{G/H} (\dot{g}) \int_{\hat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu (\dot{x}) \int_{H} d\mu_{H} (h) \varphi_{1} (gh)$$

$$\times \langle \langle \dot{x}, h \rangle f (g, \dot{x}), \varphi_{2} (\dot{x}) \rangle_{\mathcal{M}}$$

$$= \int_{G/H} d\mu_{G/H} (\dot{g}) \int_{H} d\mu_{H} (h) \varphi_{1} (gh)$$

$$\times \int_{\hat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu (\dot{x}) \left\langle \left[\hat{f} (g) \right] (\dot{x}), (\sigma^{\nu} (h) \varphi_{2}) (\dot{x}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{M}}$$

$$= \int_{G/H} d\mu_{G/H} (\dot{g}) \int_{H} d\mu_{H} (h) \varphi_{1} (gh)$$

$$\times \left\langle \hat{f} (g), \sigma^{\nu} (h) \varphi_{2} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\hat{G}/H^{\perp}, \nu; \mathcal{M})}$$

$$= \left\langle \hat{f}, f_{\varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\sigma^{\nu}}}.$$

Since the set

$$\left\{ f_{\varphi_{1}\varphi_{2}} \mid \varphi_{1} \in C_{c}\left(G\right), \, \varphi_{2} \in C_{c}\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}; \mathcal{M}\right) \right\}$$

is total in $\mathcal{H}^{\sigma^{\nu}}$ (see Remark 1.2.5), the density of \mathcal{H}^{ν}_0 follows.

We now diagonalise the representation λ^{ν} . First of all, we let $\widetilde{\nu}$ be the measure defined in \widehat{G} by eq. (2.1). Let Λ^{ν} be the diagonal representation of G acting on $L^2(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M})$ as

$$(\Lambda^{\nu}(g)\phi)(x) = \langle x, g \rangle \phi(x)$$
 for a.a. $x \in \widehat{G}$

for all $g \in G$.

Moreover, given $\phi: \widehat{G} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ and fixed $x \in \widehat{G}$, define ϕ_x from H^{\perp} to \mathcal{M} as

$$\phi_x(y) := \phi(xy) \quad \forall y \in H^{\perp}.$$

Theorem 2.3.2 There is a unique unitary operator Σ from \mathcal{H}^{ν} onto $L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)$ such that, for all $f \in \mathcal{H}_{0}^{\nu}$,

$$(\Sigma f)(x) = \int_{G/H} \langle x, g \rangle f(g, \dot{x}) d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g}) \quad \text{for a.a. } x \in \widehat{G}.$$
 (2.3)

The operator Σ intertwines λ^{ν} with Λ^{ν} . Moreover,

$$(\Sigma^*\varphi)(g,\dot{x}) = \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\langle xy, g \rangle} \varphi(xy) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) \quad \text{for a.a. } (g,\dot{x}) \in G \times \widehat{H} \quad (2.4)$$

for all $\varphi \in C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$.

Proof. We first define Σ on \mathcal{H}_0^{ν} . Let $f \in \mathcal{H}_0^{\nu}$. Fixed $x \in \widehat{G}$, by virtue of eq. (2.2) the function

$$g \longmapsto \langle x, g \rangle f(g, \dot{x})$$

depends only on the equivalence class \dot{g} of g and we let f^x be the corresponding map on G/H. Due to the properties of f, f^x is continuous and has compact support, so it is $\mu_{G/H}$ -integrable and we define Σf by means of eq. (2.3).

We claim that Σf is in $L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)$ and $\|\Sigma f\|_{L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)} = \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}}$. Since the map

$$(x,\dot{g})\longmapsto f^{x}\left(\dot{g}\right)$$

is continuous from $\widehat{G} \times G/H$ to \mathcal{M} and has compact support, by a standard argument Σf is continuous. Moreover, if $x \in \widehat{G}$ and $y \in H^{\perp}$,

$$\begin{split} \left(\Sigma f\right)\left(xy\right) &= \int_{G/H} \left\langle xy,g\right\rangle f\left(g,\dot{x}\right) \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H}\left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{G/H} \left\langle y,\dot{g}\right\rangle \left\langle x,g\right\rangle f\left(g,\dot{x}\right) \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H}\left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(f^{x}\right)\left(y\right). \end{split}$$

We then have

$$\begin{split} \|\Sigma f\|_{L^{2}(\widehat{G},\widetilde{\nu};\mathcal{M})}^{2} &= \int_{\widehat{G}} \|(\Sigma f)\left(x\right)\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\widetilde{\nu}\left(x\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \operatorname{d}\nu\left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \|(\Sigma f)\left(xy\right)\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \operatorname{d}\nu\left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\|\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(f^{x}\right)\left(y\right)\right\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right) \\ &\quad \left(\text{unitarity of } \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \operatorname{d}\nu\left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \|f^{x}\left(\dot{g}\right)\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\mu_{G/H}\left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \operatorname{d}\nu\left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \|f\left(g,\dot{x}\right)\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\mu_{G/H}\left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \|f\left(g,\dot{x}\right)\|^{2} \operatorname{d}\left(\mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu\right)\left(\dot{g},\dot{x}\right) \\ &= \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

By density, Σ extends to an isometry from \mathcal{H}^{ν} to $L^{2}\left(\widehat{G},\widetilde{\nu};\mathcal{M}\right)$. Clearly, eq. (2.3) holds and it defines uniquely Σ .

The second step is computing the adjoint of Σ . Let $\varphi \in C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$, by standard arguments the right hand side of eq. (2.4) is a continuous function of (g, \dot{x}) . Moreover, it satisfies eq. (2.2). We have

$$\int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\langle xy, g \rangle} \varphi(xy) \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) = \overline{\langle x, g \rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*}(\varphi_{x})(\dot{g}).$$

First of all, we show that the above function of (g, \dot{x}) is in \mathcal{H}^{ν} . Indeed,

$$\int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \left\| \overline{\langle x, g \rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\varphi_{x}\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\|^{2} d\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g}\right)
= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \left\| \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\varphi_{x}\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\|^{2} d\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g}\right)
\left(\text{unitarity of } \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\right)
= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\| \varphi_{x} \left(y\right) \right\|^{2} d\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y\right)
= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\| \varphi \left(xy\right) \right\|^{2} d\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y\right)
= \left\| \varphi \right\|_{L^{2}(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M})}^{2}.$$
(2.5)

Moreover, for all $f \in \mathcal{H}_0^{\nu}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \langle f, \Sigma^* \varphi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}} &= \langle \Sigma f, \varphi \rangle_{L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)} \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\langle \left(\Sigma f\right) \left(xy\right), \varphi \left(xy\right) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\langle \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H} \left(f^x\right) \left(y\right), \varphi_x \left(y\right) \right\rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y\right) \\ &\qquad \qquad \text{(unitarity of } \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H} \right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \left\langle f^x \left(\dot{g}\right), \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\varphi_x\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \left\langle \left\langle x, g \right\rangle f \left(g, \dot{x}\right), \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\varphi_x\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{G/H} \left\langle f \left(g, \dot{x}\right), \overline{\left\langle x, g \right\rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\varphi_x\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g}\right) \\ &= \int_{G/H \times \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \left\langle f \left(g, \dot{x}\right), \overline{\left\langle x, g \right\rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\varphi_x\right) \left(\dot{g}\right) \right\rangle \mathrm{d} \left(\mu_{G/H} \otimes \nu\right) \left(\dot{g}, \dot{x}\right). \end{split}$$

Since \mathcal{H}_0^{ν} is dense, eq. (2.4) follows. By eq. (2.5) Σ^* is isometric, hence Σ is unitary.

Finally, we show the intertwining property. Let $a \in G$ and $f \in \mathcal{H}_0^{\nu}$. Then $\lambda^{\nu}(a) f \in \mathcal{H}_0^{\nu}$, and so one has

$$\begin{split} \left(\Sigma \lambda^{\nu} \left(a \right) f \right) \left(x \right) &= \int_{G/H} \left\langle x, g \right\rangle f \left(a^{-1} g, \dot{x} \right) \mathrm{d} \mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g} \right) \\ &= \left\langle x, a \right\rangle \int_{G/H} f^{x} \left(a^{-1} [\dot{g}] \right) \mathrm{d} \mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g} \right) \\ & \left(\dot{g} \longrightarrow a \left[\dot{g} \right] \right) \\ &= \left\langle x, a \right\rangle \int_{G/H} \left\langle x, g \right\rangle f \left(g, \dot{x} \right) \mathrm{d} \mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g} \right) \\ &= \left(\Lambda^{\nu} \left(a \right) \Sigma f \right) \left(x \right). \end{split}$$

By density of \mathcal{H}_0^{ν} , it follows that $\Sigma \lambda^{\nu}(a) = \Lambda^{\nu}(a) \Sigma$.

Given
$$\omega \in C_c(G/H)$$
, let $\widetilde{P}^{\nu}(\omega) = \Sigma P^{\nu}(\omega) \Sigma^*$. Then

Proposition 2.3.3 For all $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$ and $\phi \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M})$,

$$\left(\widetilde{P}^{\nu}\left(\omega\right)\phi\right)\left(x\right)=\int_{H^{\perp}}\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\right)\left(y\right)\phi\left(xy^{-1}\right)d\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right)\quad for\ a.a.\ x\in\widehat{G}.$$

$$(2.6)$$

Proof. Let $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$. We compute the action of $\widetilde{P}^{\nu}(\omega)$ on $C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$. If $\varphi \in C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$, let

$$\xi\left(x\right) := \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\right)\left(y\right) \varphi\left(xy^{-1}\right) d\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right) \qquad \forall x \in \widehat{G},$$

which is well defined and continuous. Moreover, for all $x \in \widehat{G}$ and $y \in H^{\perp}$,

$$\xi(xy) = \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}(\omega) (y') \varphi(xyy'^{-1}) d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y')$$

$$= \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}(\omega) (y') \varphi_x (yy'^{-1}) d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y')$$

$$= (\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}(\omega) * \varphi_x) (y). \qquad (2.7)$$

Here and in the following, convolutions are always taken in H^{\perp} . If $\varphi, \psi \in C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \psi, \widetilde{P^{\nu}} \left(\omega \right) \varphi \right\rangle_{L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)} &= \left\langle \Sigma^{*} \psi, P^{\nu} \left(\omega \right) \Sigma^{*} \varphi \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\nu}} \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x} \right) \int_{G/H} \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g} \right) \left\langle \left(\dot{g} \right) \overline{\left\langle x, g \right\rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\psi_{x} \right) \left(\dot{g} \right), \omega \\ &\times \overline{\left\langle x, g \right\rangle} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\varphi_{x} \right) \left(\dot{g} \right) \right\rangle \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x} \right) \int_{G/H} \mathrm{d}\mu_{G/H} \left(\dot{g} \right) \left\langle \left(\dot{g} \right) \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\psi_{x} \right) \left(\dot{g} \right), \omega \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*} \left(\varphi_{x} \right) \left(\dot{g} \right) \right\rangle \\ & \left(\text{unitarity of } \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H} \text{ and properties of convolution} \right) \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x} \right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y \right) \left\langle \psi_{x} \left(y \right), \left(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H} \left(\omega \right) * \varphi_{x} \right) \left(y \right) \right\rangle \\ &= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\nu \left(\dot{x} \right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y \right) \left\langle \psi \left(xy \right), \xi \left(xy \right) \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

hence eq. (2.6) holds on $C_c(\widehat{G}; \mathcal{M})$.

Let now $\phi \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M})$. Since

$$\|\phi\|_{L^2(\widehat{G},\widetilde{\nu};\mathcal{M})}^2 = \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \|\phi(xy)\|^2 d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) < +\infty,$$

by virtue of Fubini's theorem there is a ν -negligible set $X_1 \subset \widehat{G}/H^{\perp}$ such that, for all $x \in \widehat{G}$ with $\dot{x} \notin X_1$, $\phi_x \in L^2(H^{\perp}, \mu_{H^{\perp}}; \mathcal{M})$. Moreover, using the definition of $\widetilde{\nu}$, one can check that $q^{-1}(X_1)$ is $\widetilde{\nu}$ -negligible. Then, for $\widetilde{\nu}$ -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$, ϕ_x is in $L^2(H^{\perp}, \mu_{H^{\perp}}; \mathcal{M})$. We observe that the map

$$\dot{g} \longmapsto \omega \left(\dot{g} \right) \left(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\phi_x \right) \right) \left(\dot{g} \right)$$

is then in $(L^1 \cap L^2)$ $(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{M})$ for $\widetilde{\nu}$ -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$, hence its Fourier cotransform is continuous, and we have

$$\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*}\left(\phi_{x}\right)\right)\left(e\right) = \left(\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\right)*\phi_{x}\right)\left(e\right)$$

$$= \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\right)\left(y\right)\phi\left(xy^{-1}\right)\mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right)\left(2.8\right)$$

Now, we let $(\varphi_k)_{k\geq 1}$ be a sequence in $C_c\left(\widehat{G};\mathcal{M}\right)$ converging to ϕ in $L^2\left(\widehat{G},\widetilde{\nu};\mathcal{M}\right)$. Then

$$\int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu \left(\dot{x}\right) \int_{H^{\perp}} \left\| \left(\varphi_{k}\right)_{x} \left(y\right) - \phi_{x} \left(y\right) \right\|^{2} d\mu_{H^{\perp}} \left(y\right) \longrightarrow 0$$

and so, possibly passing to a subsequence, there is a ν -negligible set $X_2\subset \widehat{G}/H^\perp$ such that

$$\int_{H^{\perp}} \left\| \left(\varphi_k \right)_x (y) - \phi_x (y) \right\|^2 d\mu_{H^{\perp}} (y) \longrightarrow 0$$

for all $x \in \widehat{G}$ with $\dot{x} \notin X_2$. This fact means that, for $\widetilde{\nu}$ -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$,

$$(\varphi_k)_x \longrightarrow \phi_x$$

in $L^2(H^{\perp}, \mu_{H^{\perp}}; \mathcal{M})$. It follows that

$$\omega \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left((\varphi_k)_x \right) \longrightarrow \omega \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^* \left(\phi_x \right)$$

in $L^1(G/H, \mu_{G/H}; \mathcal{M})$. Then, for $\widetilde{\nu}$ -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$,

$$\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^*\left((\varphi_k)_x\right)\right)\longrightarrow\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^*\left(\phi_x\right)\right)$$

uniformly, and, using eqs. (2.7), (2.8),

$$\begin{split} \left(\widetilde{P}^{\nu}\left(\omega\right)\varphi_{k}\right)\left(x\right) &= \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*}\left(\left(\varphi_{k}\right)_{x}\right)\right)\left(e\right) \longrightarrow \\ &\longrightarrow \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}^{*}\left(\phi_{x}\right)\right)\left(e\right) = \int_{H^{\perp}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}\left(\omega\right)\left(y\right)\phi\left(xy^{-1}\right)\mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}\left(y\right). \end{split}$$

Since $\widetilde{P}^{\nu}(\omega) \varphi_k$ converges to $\widetilde{P}^{\nu}(\omega) \phi$ in $L^2(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M})$, eq. (2.6) follows from uniqueness of the limit. \blacksquare

2.4 Characterisation of covariant POM's

We fix in the following an *infinite dimensional* Hilbert space \mathcal{M} . According to the results of the previous sections, theorem 2.2.2 can be stated in the following way.

Theorem 2.4.1 A POM E based on G/H and acting on \mathcal{H} is covariant with respect to U if and only if there exist a measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} and an isometry W intertwining U with Λ^{ν} such that

$$E\left(\omega\right) = W^* \widetilde{P^{\nu}}\left(\omega\right) W$$

for all $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$.

To get an explicit form of W, we assume that U acts diagonally on \mathcal{H} . This means that \mathcal{H} is the orthogonal sum of invariant subspaces

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{k \in I} L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k\right),\tag{2.9}$$

where I is a denumerable set, $(\rho_k)_{k\in I}$ is a family of pairwise disjoint measures on \widehat{G} , $(F_k)_{k\in I}$ is a family of Hilbert spaces, and the action of U is given by

$$(U(g)\phi_k)(x) = \langle x, g \rangle \phi_k(x) \qquad x \in \widehat{G},$$

where $\phi_k \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$ and $g \in G$. We will denote by P_k the orthogonal projector onto the invariant subspace $L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$.

The assumption (2.9) is not restrictive. Indeed, by Theorem 2.2.1 there are a family of disjoint measures $(\rho_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}$ and a family of Hilbert spaces $(F_k)_{k\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}$ such that dim $F_k=k$ and, up to unitary equivalence, eq. (2.9) holds.

Given the decomposition (2.9), let ρ be a measure on \widehat{G} such that

$$\rho(N) = 0 \Longleftrightarrow \rho_k(N) = 0 \quad \forall k \in I. \tag{2.10}$$

We recall that the equivalence class of ρ is uniquely defined by the family $(\rho_k)_{k\in I}$.

The following proposition was stated in [21] without a proof.

Proposition 2.4.2 The equivalence class of the measure ρ defined in eq. (2.10) is independent of the choice of decomposition (2.9).

Proof. Fix a decomposition of \mathcal{H} as in eq. (2.9). For $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \cup \{\infty\}$, let $I_j = \{k \in I \mid \dim F_k = j\}$. Let ρ'_j be a measure on \widehat{G} such that

$$\rho'_j(N) = 0 \Longleftrightarrow \rho_k(N) = 0 \ \forall k \in I_j.$$

Fix Hilbert spaces $(F'_j)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}$ such that $\dim F'_j=j$. Then we can estabilish a unitary equivalence V between U and the diagonal representation U' acting in $\mathcal{H}'=\bigoplus_{j\in\mathbb{Z}_+\cup\{\infty\}}L^2\left(\widehat{G},\rho'_j;F'_j\right)$. Namely, for $k\in I_j$, let $\gamma_{k,j}$ be

the density of ρ_k with respect to ρ'_j , and $V_k: F_k \longrightarrow F'_j$ be a fixed unitary map. Then we set

$$\left(P_{j}^{\prime}VP_{k}\phi\right)\left(x\right)=\sqrt{\gamma_{k,j}\left(x\right)}V_{k}\left(P_{k}\phi\right)\left(x\right),$$

where P'_j is the orthogonal projector onto the invariant subspace $L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \rho'_j; F'_j\right)$ of \mathcal{H}' . By the definitions we have

$$\rho(N) = 0 \Longleftrightarrow \rho'_{i}(N) = 0 \ \forall j \in \mathbb{Z}_{+} \cup \{\infty\}.$$

Since by Theorem 2.2.1 the equivalence class of each ρ'_j is uniquely determined by the representation U, the equivalence class of ρ is independent of the choice of decomposition (2.9).

By the above proposition, the representation U defines uniquely an equivalence class \mathcal{C}_U of measures ρ such that relation (2.10) holds. Choosing in this equivalence class a *finite* measure ρ , we denote by \mathcal{C}_U^q the equivalence class of the image measure ρ^q on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} . Clearly \mathcal{C}_U^q depends only on \mathcal{C}_U .

We now give the central result of this chapter (and of [21]).

Theorem 2.4.3 Let U be a representation of G acting diagonally on the space \mathcal{H} of eq. (2.9). Given $\nu_U \in \mathcal{C}_U^q$, let $\widetilde{\nu}_U$ be the measure given by eq. (2.1). The representation U admits covariant positive operator valued measures based on G/H if and only if, for all $k \in I$, ρ_k has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu}_U$. In this case, for every $k \in I$, let α_k be the density of ρ_k with respect to $\widetilde{\nu}_U$.

Let \mathcal{M} be a fixed infinite dimensional Hilbert space. For each $k \in I$, let

$$\widehat{G} \ni x \longmapsto W_k(x) \in \mathcal{L}(F_k; \mathcal{M})$$

be a weakly measurable map such that $W_k(x)$ are isometries for ρ_k -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$. For $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$, let $E(\omega)$ be the operator whose action on $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ is given by

$$(P_{j}E(\omega)P_{k}\phi)(x) = \int_{H^{\perp}} d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y)\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}(\omega)(y)\sqrt{\frac{\alpha_{k}(xy^{-1})}{\alpha_{j}(x)}}$$
$$\times W_{j}(x)^{*}W_{k}(xy^{-1})(P_{k}\phi)(xy^{-1}) \qquad (2.11)$$

for ρ_j -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$ and $k, j \in I$. Then, E is a POM covariant with respect to U.

Conversely, any POM based on G/H and covariant with respect to U is of the form given by eq. (2.11).

We add some comments before the proof of the theorem.

Remark 2.4.4 We observe that eq. (2.11) is invariant with respect to the choice of the measure $\nu_U \in \mathcal{C}_U^q$. Indeed, let $\nu_U' \in \mathcal{C}_U^q$, and $\beta > 0$ be the density of ν_U with respect to ν_U' . Clearly

$$\widetilde{\nu_U} = (\beta \circ q) \, \widetilde{\nu_U'},$$

so that the density α'_k of ρ_k with respect to $\widetilde{\nu'_U}$ is

$$\alpha'_k = (\beta \circ q) \alpha_k.$$

It follows that eq. (2.11) does not depend on the choice of $\nu_U \in \mathcal{C}_U^q$.

Corollary 2.4.5 Let H be the trivial subgroup $\{e\}$. The representation U admits covariant positive operator valued measures based on G if and only if the measures ρ_k have density with respect to the Haar measure $\mu_{\widehat{G}}$. In this case, the functions α_k in eq. (2.11) are the densities of ρ_k with respect to $\mu_{\widehat{G}}$.

Remark 2.4.6 The content of the previous corollary was first shown by Holevo in ref. [41] for non-normalised POM. In order to compare the two results observe that, if $\phi \in (L^1 \cap L^2)$ $(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$ and $\psi \in (L^1 \cap L^2)$ $(\widehat{G}, \rho_j; F_j)$, eq. (2.11) becomes

$$\langle \phi, E(\omega) \psi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \int_{G} d\mu_{G}(g) \,\omega(g) \int_{\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G}} \langle y, g \rangle \,\overline{\langle x, g \rangle} \sqrt{\alpha_{k}(y) \,\alpha_{j}(x)}$$

$$\times \langle W_{j}(x)^{*} W_{k}(y) \,\phi(y), \psi(x) \rangle \,d\left(\mu_{\widehat{G}} \otimes \mu_{\widehat{G}}\right)(x, y)$$

$$= \int_{G} d\mu_{G}(g) \,\omega(g) \int_{\widehat{G} \times \widehat{G}} K_{U(g^{-1})\psi, U(g^{-1})\phi}(x, y) \,d\left(\mu_{\widehat{G}} \otimes \mu_{\widehat{G}}\right)(x, y) ,$$

where

$$K_{\psi,\phi}(x,y) = \sqrt{\alpha_k(y) \alpha_j(x)} \langle W_k(y) \phi(y), W_j(x) \psi(x) \rangle$$

is a bounded positive definite measurable field of forms (compare with eqs. (4.2) and (4.3) in ref. [41]).

In order to prove Theorem 2.4.3, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.4.7 Let ρ be a finite measure on \widehat{G} . Assume that there is a measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} such that ρ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu}$. Then ρ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\rho}^q$. In this case, ν uniquely decomposes as

$$\nu = \nu_1 + \nu_2,$$

where ν_1 is equivalent to ρ^q and $\nu_2 \perp \rho^q$.

Proof. Suppose that ν is a measure on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} such that $\rho = \alpha \widetilde{\nu}$, where α is a non-negative $\widetilde{\nu}$ -integrable function on \widehat{G} . Then, for all $\varphi \in C_c\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}\right)$,

$$\rho^{q}(\varphi) = \int_{\widehat{G}} \varphi(q(x)) d\rho(\dot{x})$$

$$= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} d\nu(\dot{x}) \int_{H^{\perp}} \varphi(\dot{x}) \alpha(xy) d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y)$$

$$= \int_{\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}} \varphi(\dot{x}) \alpha'(\dot{x}) d\nu(\dot{x}),$$

where the function

$$\alpha'(\dot{x}) := \int_{H^{\perp}} \alpha(xy) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) \ge 0$$

is ν -integrable by virtue of Fubini theorem. It follows that

$$\rho^q = \alpha' \nu. \tag{2.12}$$

Using Lebesgue theorem, we can uniquely decompose

$$\nu = \nu_1 + \nu_2$$

where ν_1 has base ρ^q and $\nu_2 \perp \rho^q$. From eq. (2.12), it follows that ν_1 and ρ^q are equivalent, and this proves the second statement of the lemma. If $A, B \in \mathcal{B}\left(\widehat{G}/H^{\perp}\right)$ are disjoint sets such that ν_2 is concentrated in A and ν_1 is concentrated in B, then $\widetilde{\nu_2}$ and $\widetilde{\nu_1}$ are respectively concentrated in the disjoint sets $\widetilde{A} = q^{-1}(A)$ and $\widetilde{B} = q^{-1}(B)$. By definition of ρ^q , we also have

$$\rho\left(\widetilde{A}\right) = \rho^q\left(A\right) = 0.$$

Since ρ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu} = \widetilde{\nu_1} + \widetilde{\nu_2}$ and $\widetilde{\nu_2}$ is concentrated in \widetilde{A} , it follows that ρ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu_1} \cong \widetilde{\rho}^q$. The claim is now clear.

Proof of Theorem 2.4.3. Let ρ be a finite measure in \mathcal{C}_U . By virtue of Theorem 2.4.1, U admits a covariant POM \iff there exists a measure ν in \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} such that U is a subrepresentation of $\Lambda^{\nu} \iff$ each measure ρ_k has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu} \iff \rho$ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu}$. From Lemma 2.4.7, U admits a covariant POM if and only if ρ has density with respect to $\widetilde{\rho}^q$. Since $\rho^q \in \mathcal{C}_U^q$, the first claim follows.

Let now E be a covariant POM. By Theorem 2.4.1, there is a measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} and an isometry W intertwining U with Λ^{ν} such that

$$E(\omega) = W^* \widetilde{P^{\nu}}(\omega) W \qquad \forall \omega \in C_c(G/H).$$

Using Lemma 2.4.7, we (uniquely) decompose

$$\nu = \nu_1 + \nu_2,$$

where ν_1 is equivalent to ν_U and $\nu_2 \perp \nu_U$. Then we have

$$\sigma^{\nu} \simeq \sigma^{\nu_U} \oplus \sigma^{\nu_2}$$
,

from which the decomposition of the corresponding induced imprimitivity systems follows:

$$\left(\Lambda^{\nu}, \widetilde{P^{\nu}}, L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu}; \mathcal{M}\right)\right) \simeq \left(\Lambda^{\nu_{U}}, \widetilde{P^{\nu_{U}}}, L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu_{U}}; \mathcal{M}\right)\right) \\
\oplus \left(\Lambda^{\nu_{2}}, \widetilde{P^{\nu_{2}}}, L^{2}\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu_{2}}; \mathcal{M}\right)\right).$$

Moreover, since each ρ_k has density with respect to $\widetilde{\nu_U}$ and $\widetilde{\nu_U}$ is disjoint from $\widetilde{\nu_2}$, it follows that $W\mathcal{H} \subset L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu_U}; \mathcal{M}\right)$. Thus, we can always assume that the measure ν on \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} which occurs in Theorem 2.4.1 is ν_U .

We now characherise the form of W. For $k \in I$, we can always fix an isometry $T_k : F_k \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ such that $T_k(F_k)$ are mutually orthogonal subspaces of \mathcal{M} . Hence, if we define, for $\phi_k \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$,

$$(T\phi_k)(x) := \sqrt{\alpha_k(x)}T_k\phi_k(x),$$

T is an isometry intertwining U with Λ^{ν_U} . We define $W_k = WP_k$. The operator $V = WT^*$ is a partial isometry commuting with Λ^{ν_U} , hence there exists a weakly measurable correspondence $\widehat{G} \ni x \longmapsto V(x) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{M})$ such that V(x) are partial isometries for $\widetilde{\nu_U}$ -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$ and

$$(V\phi)(x) = V(x)\phi(x)$$
 for a.a. $x \in \widehat{G}$,

where $\phi \in L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \widetilde{\nu_U}; \mathcal{M}\right)$. We have $W = WT^*T = VT$, then

$$(W_k \phi_k)(x) = \sqrt{\alpha_k(x)} V(x) T_k \phi_k(x)$$

= $\sqrt{\alpha_k(x)} W_k(x) \phi_k(x),$ (2.13)

where we set

$$W_k(x) = V(x) T_k \quad \forall x \in \widehat{G}.$$

Since W is isometric, then $W_k^*W_k$ is the identity operator on $L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$, hence

$$T_{k}^{*}V\left(x\right)^{*}V\left(x\right)T_{k}=I_{k}$$

for ρ_k -almost all $x \in \widehat{G}$, where I_k is the identity operator on F_k . Since T_k is isometric and V(x) is a partial isometry for $\widetilde{\nu_U}$ -almost every $x \in \widehat{G}$ (that

is for ρ_k -almost every $x \in \widehat{G}$), it follows that $V(x)^* V(x)$ is the identity on ran T_k and that $W_k(x)$ is isometric, for ρ_k -almost every $x \in \widehat{G}$. Weak measurability of the maps $x \longmapsto W_k(x)$ is immediate.

The explicit form of E is then given by

$$(P_{j}E(\omega)P_{k}\phi)(x) = \left(W_{j}^{*}\widetilde{P^{\nu}}(\omega)W_{k}\phi\right)(x)$$

$$= \frac{1}{\sqrt{\alpha_{j}(x)}}W_{j}(x)^{*}\int_{H^{\perp}}\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{G/H}(\omega)(y)$$

$$\times\sqrt{\alpha_{k}(xy^{-1})}W_{k}(xy^{-1})(P_{k}\phi)(xy^{-1})d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y),$$

where $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$, $\omega \in C_{c}(G/H)$.

Conversely, let $\widehat{G} \ni x \longmapsto W_k(x) \in \mathcal{L}(F_k; \mathcal{M})$ be a weakly measurable map such that $W_k(x)$ are isometries for ρ_k -almost every $x \in \widehat{G}$ and for all $k \in I$. We define, for $\phi_k \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$,

$$(W\phi_k)(x) := \sqrt{\alpha_k(x)}W_k(x)\phi_k(x),$$

then W is clearly an intertwining isometry between U and Λ^{ν_U} and eq. (2.11) defines a covariant POM.

We now study the problem of equivalence of covariant POM's.

Let E and E' be two covariant positive operator valued measures that are equivalent, i.e. there exists an unitary operator $S: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$SU(g) = U(g)S \quad \forall g \in G,$$
 (2.14)

$$SE(\omega) = E'(\omega)S \quad \forall \omega \in C_c(G/H).$$
 (2.15)

We have the following result.

Proposition 2.4.8 Let $(W_j)_{j\in I}$ and $(W'_j)_{j\in I}$ be families of maps such that eq. (2.11) holds for E and E', respectively.

The POM's E and E' are equivalent if and only if, for each $k \in I$, there exists a weakly measurable map $x \longmapsto S_k(x) \in \mathcal{L}(F_k)$ such that $S_k(x)$ are unitary operators for ρ_k -almost all x and

$$\sqrt{\alpha_{k}(xy)}W_{j}(x)^{*}W_{k}(xy) = \sqrt{\alpha_{k}(xy)}S_{j}(x)^{*}W'_{j}(x)^{*}W'_{k}(xy)S_{k}(xy)$$
(2.16)

for $(\rho_j \otimes \mu_{H^{\perp}})$ -almost all (x, y).

Proof. By virtue of condition (2.14) and orthogonality of the measures ρ_k , S preserves decomposition (2.9). Moreover, for each $k \in I$, there exists a weakly measurable map $x \longmapsto S_k(x) \in \mathcal{L}(F_k)$ such that $S_k(x)$ is unitary for ρ_k -almost all x and, if $\phi_k \in L^2(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k)$,

$$(S\phi_k)(x) = S_k(x)\phi_k(x)$$
 for a.a. $x \in \widehat{G}$.

Condition (2.15) is equivalent to

$$P_{j}E(\omega)P_{k}\phi = P_{j}S^{*}E'(\omega)SP_{k}\phi$$

for all $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$, $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$ and $j,k \in I$. It is not restrictive to assume that the densities α_k are measurable functions. Let

$$\Omega_{j,k}\left(x,x'\right) = \sqrt{\frac{\alpha_{k}\left(x'\right)}{\alpha_{j}\left(x\right)}} \left(W_{j}\left(x\right)^{*}W_{k}\left(x'\right) - S_{j}\left(x\right)^{*}W'_{j}\left(x\right)^{*}W'_{k}\left(x'\right)S_{k}\left(x'\right)\right),$$

using eq. (2.11), the previous condition becomes

$$\int_{H^{\perp}} \mathcal{F}_{G/H}(\omega)(y) \Omega_{j,k}(x, xy^{-1}) (P_k \phi)(xy^{-1}) d\mu_{H^{\perp}}(y) = 0$$
 (2.17)

 ρ_{j} -almost everywhere for all $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$, $\omega \in C_{c}\left(G/H\right)$ and $j,k \in I$.

Let K be a compact set of \widehat{G} and $v \in F_k$. In eq. (2.17) we choose

$$\phi = \chi_K v \in L^2\left(\widehat{G}, \rho_k; F_k\right)$$

and $\omega \in C_c(G/H)$ running over a denumerable subset dense in $L^2(G/H, \mu_{H^{\perp}})$. It follows that there exists a ρ_i -null set $N \subset \widehat{G}$ such that, for all $x \notin N$,

$$\chi_K (xy^{-1}) \Omega_{j,k} (x, xy^{-1}) v = 0$$

for $\mu_{H^{\perp}}$ -almost all $y \in H^{\perp}$. Since $\Omega_{j,k}$ is weakly measurable, the last equation holds in a measurable subset $X \subset \widehat{G} \times H^{\perp}$ whose complement is a $(\rho_j \otimes \mu_{H^{\perp}})$ -null set. Define

$$m(x,y) = xy^{-1} \qquad \forall (x,y) \in \widehat{G} \times H^{\perp}.$$

For all $(x,y) \in X \cap m^{-1}(K)$ we then have

$$\Omega_{j,k}\left(x,xy^{-1}\right)v=0.$$

Since F_k is separable and \widehat{G} is σ -compact, we get

$$\Omega_{j,k}\left(x,xy\right) = 0$$

for $(\rho_j \otimes \mu_{H^{\perp}})$ -almost all $(x, y) \in \widehat{G} \times H^{\perp}$, that is,

$$\sqrt{\alpha_k(xy)}W_j(x)^*W_k(xy) = \sqrt{\alpha_k(xy)}S_j(x)^*W_j'(x)^*W_k'(xy)S_k(xy)$$

for $(\rho_i \otimes \mu_{H^{\perp}})$ -almost all (x, y).

Conversely, if condition (2.16) is satisfied for all $j, k \in I$, then clearly E is equivalent to E'.

2.5 Examples

2.5.1 Translation covariant observables

Let $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$, where dx is the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{R} . We consider the representation U of the group \mathbb{R} acting on \mathcal{H} as

$$(U(a)\phi)(x) = e^{iax}\phi(x) \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}$$

for all $a \in \mathbb{R}$. By means of Fourier transform $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}^*$, U is clearly equivalent to the regular representation of \mathbb{R} . We classify the POM's based on \mathbb{R} and covariant with respect to U. With the notations of the previous sections, we have

$$G = \mathbb{R}, \quad H = \{0\}, \quad G/H = \mathbb{R}, \quad \widehat{G} = H^{\perp} = \mathbb{R}, \quad \widehat{G}/H^{\perp} = \{0\}.$$

We choose $\mu_{G/H} = \frac{1}{2\pi} dx$, so that $\mu_{H^{\perp}} = dx$, and $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{H}$.

The representation U is already diagonal with multiplicity equal to 1, so that in the decomposition (2.9) we can set $I = \{1\}$, $\rho_1 = dx$, $F_1 = \mathbb{C}$. Hence, by Corollary 2.4.5, U admits covariant POM's based on \mathbb{R} and $\alpha_1 = 1$.

According to Theorem 2.4.3, any covariant POM E is defined in terms of a weakly measurable map $x \longmapsto W_1(x)$ such that $W_1(x) : \mathbb{C} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}$ is an isometry for every $x \in \mathbb{R}$. This is equivalent to selecting a weakly measurable map $x \longmapsto h_x \in \mathcal{H}$, with $||h_x||_{\mathcal{H}} = 1 \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}$, such that $W_1(x) = h_x \ \forall x \in \mathbb{R}$. Explicitly, if $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$,

$$(E(\omega)\phi)(y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}(\omega)(x) \langle h_{y}, h_{y-x} \rangle \phi(y-x) dx$$
(by unitarity of $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}$)
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega(x) \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\langle h_{y}, h_{y-\cdot} \rangle \phi(y-\cdot)](x) dx$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega(x) e^{iyx} \langle h_{y}, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\phi(\cdot) h_{\cdot}](-x) \rangle dx. \quad (2.18)$$

The corresponding translation covariant observable is thus $E'(\omega) = \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}^* E(\omega) \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ for all $\omega \in C_c(\mathbb{R})$.

If $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ has finite Lebesgue measure, one can explicitly write down the action of E(X) on a function $\phi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$. If $\psi \in L^1 \cap L^2$, with the notations of Remark 1.2.4 we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \omega(x) \,\mu_{\phi,\psi}(x) = \langle \phi, E(\omega) \,\psi \rangle$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \omega(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{iyx} \langle \phi(y) \,h_y, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} \left[\psi(\cdot) \,h_{\cdot} \right] (-x) \rangle dy.$$

It follows that the complex measure $\mu_{\phi,\psi}$ has density

$$x \longmapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{iyx} \langle \phi(y) h_y, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\psi(\cdot) h_{\cdot}] (-x) \rangle dy$$

with respect to the Lebesgue measure. We then have

$$\langle \phi, E(X) \psi \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}} dx \chi_X(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}} e^{iyx} \langle \phi(y) h_y, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\psi(\cdot) h_{\cdot}] (-x) \rangle dy$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} dy \overline{\phi(y)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_X(x) e^{iyx} \langle h_y, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\psi(\cdot) h_{\cdot}] (-x) \rangle dx,$$

where we used $\chi_X \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ to change the order of integration. By density of $L^1 \cap L^2$ it follows

$$(E(X)\psi)(y) = \int_{X} e^{iyx} \langle h_{y}, \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}} [\psi(\cdot) h.] (-x) \rangle dx.$$

If $h_x = h$ is constant for almost all x, eq. (2.18) gives

$$(E(\omega)\phi)(y) = \left[\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}(\omega) * \phi\right](y) = \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}\left[\omega\overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{R}}^{-1}(\phi)\right](y),$$

and so the corresponding translation covariant observable is

$$(E'(\omega)\phi)(y) = \omega(y)\phi(y),$$

i.e. E' is the spectral map associated to the canonical position operator Q. In [41], the results summarised in this subsection were obtained with a different method.

2.5.2 Covariant phase observables

We give a complete characterisation of the covariance systems based on the one dimensional torus

$$\mathbb{T} = \left\{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid |z| = 1\right\} = \left\{e^{i\theta} \mid \theta \in [0, 2\pi]\right\}.$$

We have

$$G = \mathbb{T}, \quad H = \{1\}, \quad G/H = \mathbb{T},$$

$$\widehat{G} = H^{\perp} = \{(\mathbb{T} \ni z \longmapsto z^n \in \mathbb{C}) \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}\} \cong \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\widehat{G}/H^{\perp} = \{1\}.$$

We choose $\mu_{G/H} = \frac{1}{2\pi} d\theta =: \mu_{\mathbb{T}}$, so that $\mu_{H^{\perp}}$ is the counting measure $\mu_{\mathbb{Z}}$ on \mathbb{Z} .

Let U be a representation of \mathbb{T} . Since \mathbb{T} is compact, we can always assume that U acts diagonally on

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{k \in I} F_k,$$

where $I \subset \mathbb{Z}$, and F_k are Hilbert spaces such that dim F_k is the multiplicity of the representation $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ in U. Explicitly,

$$(U(z)\phi_k) = z^k \phi_k$$

for all $z \in \mathbb{T}$ and $\phi_k \in F_k$.

In order to use eq. (2.9), we notice that $F_k = L^2(\mathbb{Z}, \delta_k; F_k)$ (where δ_k is the Dirac measure at k), so that $\rho_k = \delta_k$, . By Corollary 2.4.5, one has that U admits covariant POM's based on \mathbb{T} and that $\alpha_k(j) = \delta_{k,j}$ (where $\delta_{k,j}$ is the Kronecker delta).

Choose an infinite dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{M} and, for each $k \in I$, fix an isometry W_k from F_k to \mathcal{M} . The corresponding covariant POM is given by

$$P_{j}E(\omega)P_{k}\phi = \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{T}}(\omega)(j-k)W_{j}^{*}W_{k}P_{k}\phi$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi}\int_{0}^{2\pi}\omega(e^{i\theta})e^{i(j-k)\theta}W_{j}^{*}W_{k}P_{k}\phi d\theta,$$

where $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\omega \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{T})$.

Reasoning as in 2.5.1, we can find the explicit form of E(X) for every $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T})$. We have

$$P_j E(X) P_k \phi = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \chi_X(e^{i\theta}) e^{i(j-k)\theta} W_j^* W_k P_k \phi d\theta.$$

If $I = \mathbb{N}$ and $\dim F_k = 1 \ \forall k \in \mathbb{N}$, U is the **number representation** for a quantum harmonic oscillator. Each subspace F_k is the one dimensional eigenspace of the number operator N corresponding to the eigenvalue k. We have $U\left(e^{i\theta}\right) = e^{i\theta N}$. A transformation by $U\left(e^{i\theta}\right)$ corresponds to a phase shift by θ . Identifying \mathbb{T} with the additive group of the real numbers $\operatorname{mod} 2\pi$, the covariane condition on E thus defines the **covariant phase observable** for the quantum harmonic oscillator. For more details, we refer to refs. [11], [18], [40]. We only remark that there do not exist sharp covariant phase observables. In fact, if we assume the contrary, an easy application of Mackey imprimitivity theorem implies that U is equivalent to the regular representation of \mathbb{T} . But this is absurd, since U is strictly contained in the regular representation.

2.5.3 Covariant phase difference observables

As in the previous section, let $\mu_{\mathbb{T}}$ be the normalised Haar measure on the one dimensional torus \mathbb{T} . We consider the following representation U of the direct product $G = \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}$ acting on the space $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}, \mu_{\mathbb{T}} \otimes \mu_{\mathbb{T}})$ as

$$(U(a,b) f)(z_1,z_2) = f(az_1,b^{-1}z_2) \qquad (z_1,z_2) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}$$

for all $(a, b) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}$.

Let H be the closed subgroup

$$H = \{(a, b) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T} \mid b = a\} \cong \mathbb{T}.$$

We classify all the POM's based on G/H and covariant with respect to U. These describe the phase difference observables for two single mode bosonic fields (for a more detailed account about the physical meaning of such observables and for a different approach to the same problem, see ref. [36]).

We have

$$G = \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}, \quad G/H \cong \mathbb{T}, \quad \widehat{G} = \widehat{\mathbb{T}} \times \widehat{\mathbb{T}} \cong \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z},$$

$$H^{\perp} = \{(j, k) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z} \mid k = -j\} \cong \mathbb{Z},$$

$$\widehat{G}/H^{\perp} \cong \mathbb{Z}.$$

We fix $\mu_{G/H} = \mu_{\mathbb{T}}$, so that $\mu_{H^{\perp}} = \mu_{\mathbb{Z}}$.

We choose the following orthonormal basis $(e_{i,j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ of \mathcal{H}

$$e_{i,j}\left(z_{1},z_{2}\right)=z_{1}^{i}z_{2}^{-j}\qquad\left(z_{1},z_{2}\right)\in\mathbb{T}\times\mathbb{T},$$

so that

$$U(a,b) e_{i,j} = a^i b^j e_{i,j} \quad \forall (a,b) \in \mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T}.$$

Let $F_{i,j} = \mathbb{C}e_{i,j}$, then U acts diagonally on $F_{i,j}$ as the character $(i,j) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$. Then, one can choose as decomposition (2.9)

$$\mathcal{H} = \bigoplus_{i,j \in \mathbb{Z}} F_{i,j} \cong \bigoplus_{i,j \in \mathbb{Z}} L^2(\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}, \delta_i \otimes \delta_j; F_{i,j})$$

With the notations of Section 2.4, we have $I = \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$ and $\rho_{i,j} = \delta_i \otimes \delta_j$. It follows that \mathcal{C}_U^q is the equivalence class of $\mu_{\mathbb{Z}}$. With the choice $\nu_U = \mu_{\mathbb{Z}}$, it follows that $\widetilde{\nu} = \mu_{\mathbb{Z}} \otimes \mu_{\mathbb{Z}}$. According to Theorem (2.4.3), U admits covariant POM's and $\alpha_{i,j}(n,m) = \delta_{n,i}\delta_{m,j}$.

With the choice $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{H}$, we select a map $(i,j) \longmapsto W_{i,j}$, where $W_{i,j}$ is an isometry from $F_{i,j}$ to \mathcal{H} . Since $F_{i,j}$ are one dimensional, there exists a family of vectors $(h_{i,j})_{i,j\in\mathbb{Z}}$ in \mathcal{H} , with $||h_{i,j}||_{\mathcal{H}} = 1 \ \forall (i,j) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$, such that

$$W_{i,j}e_{i,j} = h_{i,j} \quad \forall (i,j) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}.$$

The corresponding covariant POM E is given, for every $\phi \in \mathcal{H}$, by

$$P_{l,m}E(\omega) P_{i,j}\phi = \sum_{h \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{T}}(\omega) (h) \delta_{l-h,i}\delta_{m+h,j} \langle h_{l,m}, h_{i,j} \rangle \langle e_{i,j}, \phi \rangle e_{l,m}$$
$$= \delta_{l+m,i+j} \mathcal{F}_{\mathbb{T}}(\omega) (j-m) \langle h_{l,m}, h_{i,j} \rangle \langle e_{i,j}, \phi \rangle e_{l,m}.$$

In particular, if l + m = i + j, we have

$$\langle e_{l,m}, E(\omega) e_{i,j} \rangle = \overline{\mathcal{F}}_{\mathbb{T}}(\omega)(j-m) \langle h_{l,m}, h_{i,j} \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \omega(e^{i\theta}) e^{i(j-m)\theta} \langle h_{l,m}, h_{i,j} \rangle d\theta.$$

If $l + m \neq i + j$, one has

$$\langle e_{l,m}, E(\omega) e_{i,j} \rangle = 0.$$

If $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{T} \times \mathbb{T})$, reasoning as in 2.5.1 we can obtain the explicit form of E(X) simply substituing ω with the characteristic function χ_X in the two previous equations.

Chapter 3

The case of an irreducible representation

3.1 Introduction

It is well known ([17], [40], [49]) that, given an irreducible square-integrable representation U of a unimodular group G and a trace class, trace one positive operator T, the family of operators

$$E(X) = \int_{X} U(g)TU(g^{-1})d\mu_{G}(g) \quad X \in \mathcal{B}(G)$$
(3.1)

defines a positive operator valued measure based on G and covariant with respect to U (μ_G is a Haar measure on G). In this chapter, we prove that also the converse holds. More precisely, a POM E based on G is covariant with respect to U iff E is expressible in the form of eq. (3.1) for some positive trace one operator T. We will extend this result to non-unimodular groups and to POM's based on the quotient space G/H, where H is a compact subgroup. Moreover, we prove that square-integrability of U is not only a sufficient condition, but it is also necessary in order that U admits covariant POM's based on G/H. Finally, we extend this result to the case of U being an irreducible projective unitary representation of G (see Remark 1.2.6).

The result presented here are a rielaboration of refs. [13] and [20].

We start with the case in which U is a unitary representation and $H = \{e\}$. The more general case in which U is projective and H is compact is discussed in §3.4. As usual, we assume that G is a Hausdorff locally compact second countable topological group.

We fix a left Haar measure μ_G on the group G. We denote by Δ the modular function of G.

We recall some basic properties of square integrable representations (see [30, Theorem 2 and 3]). Recall the definition of the (left) regular representation given in Remark 1.2.1.

Proposition 3.1.1 Let U be an irreducible representation of G in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . The following facts are equivalent:

1. there exists a vector $u \in \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$0 < \int_{G} |\langle U(g) u, u \rangle|^{2} d\mu_{G}(g) < \infty; \tag{3.2}$$

2. U is a subrepresentation of the regular representation λ of G.

If either of the above conditions is satisfied, there exists a selfadjoint injective positive operator C with U-invariant domain and dense range such that

$$U(g) C = \Delta(g)^{-\frac{1}{2}} CU(g) \qquad \forall g \in G, \tag{3.3}$$

and an isometry $\Sigma : \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^* \longrightarrow L^2(G, \mu_G)$ such that

1. for all $u \in \mathcal{H}$ and $v \in \text{dom } C$

$$\Sigma(u \otimes v^*)(g) = \langle U(g) Cv, u \rangle \qquad g \in G,$$

2. for all $g \in G$

$$\Sigma(U(g)\otimes I_{\mathcal{H}^*})=\lambda(g)\Sigma,$$

3. the range of Σ is the isotypic¹ space of U in $L^2(G, \mu_G)$.

If G is unimodular, the operator C is a multiple of the identity.

If eq. (3.2) is satisfied, U is called **square-integrable**. By eq. (3.3), the selfadjoint operator C is unbounded if G is not unimodular. The square of C is called **formal degree** of U, and it is uniquely determined up to a positive factor which depends on the choice of μ_G .

3.2 Characterisation of E in the case U unitary and $H = \{e\}$

We fix an irreducible representation U of G in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} . The following theorem characterizes all the POM on G covariant with respect to U in terms of positive trace one operators on \mathcal{H} [20].

¹If U and U' are representations of G in the Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H} and \mathcal{H}' , and U is irreducible, the **isotypic space** of U in \mathcal{H}' is the maximal invariant subspace $\mathcal{K} \subset \mathcal{H}'$ such that $U'|_{\mathcal{K}}$ decomposes into the direct sum of copies of U.

Theorem 3.2.1 The irreducible representation U admits a covariant POM based on G if and only if U is square-integrable.

In this case, let C be the square root of the formal degree of U. There exists a one-to-one correspondence between the set of covariant POMs E on G and the set of positive trace one operators T on \mathcal{H} . This correspondence associates to each positive trace one operator T the covariant POM E_T given by

$$\langle u, E_T(X) v \rangle = \int_X \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle d\mu_G(g)$$
 (3.4)

for all $u, v \in \text{dom } C \text{ and } X \in \mathcal{B}(G)$.

Proof. Let E be a U-covariant POM based on G. According to the generalized imprimitivity theorem there exists a representation σ of the trivial subgroup $H = \{e\}$ in a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} and an isometry $W : \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$ intertwining U with λ^{σ} such that

$$E(X) = W^* P^{\sigma}(X) W$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(G)$. Clearly, σ is the trivial representation in \mathcal{K} . We then have

$$\mathcal{H}^{\sigma} = L^{2}(G, \mu_{G}) \otimes \mathcal{K}, \qquad \lambda^{\sigma} = \lambda \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}.$$

In particular, U is a subrepresentation of λ , hence it is square-integrable.

Due to Prop. 3.1.1, the operator $W' = (\Sigma^* \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) W$ is an isometry from \mathcal{H} to $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$W'U(g) = (\Sigma^* \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) WU(g)$$

$$= (\Sigma^* \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) (\lambda(g) \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) W$$

$$= (U(g) \otimes I_{\mathcal{H}^*} \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) (\Sigma^* \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) W$$

$$= U(g) \otimes I_{\mathcal{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{K}} W'.$$

Since U is irreducible, by a standard result there is a unit vector $B \in \mathcal{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{K}$ such that

$$W'u = u \otimes B \qquad \forall u \in \mathcal{H}.$$

(see for example [34, p. 342, Proposition 14]). Let $(e_i)_{i\geq 1}$ be an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} such that $e_i \in \text{dom } C$, then

$$B = \sum e_i^* \otimes k_i,$$

where $k_i \in \mathcal{K}$ and $\sum_i ||k_i||_{\mathcal{K}}^2 = 1$.

If $u \in \text{dom } C$, one has that

$$Wu = (\Sigma \otimes I_{\mathcal{K}}) (u \otimes B)$$

$$= \sum_{i} \Sigma(u \otimes e_{i}^{*}) \otimes k_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i} \langle U(\cdot) Ce_{i}, u \rangle \otimes k_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i} \langle e_{i}, CU(\cdot^{-1}) u \rangle \otimes k_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{i} (e_{i}^{*} \otimes k_{i}) (CU(\cdot^{-1}) u),$$

where the series converges in \mathcal{H}^{σ} . On the other hand, for all $g \in G$ the series $\sum_{i} (e_{i}^{*} \otimes k_{i}) (CU(g^{-1})u)$ converges to $BCU(g^{-1})u$. Here and in the following we identify $\mathcal{H}^{*} \otimes \mathcal{K}$ with the space of Hilbert-Schmidt operators mapping \mathcal{H} into \mathcal{K} . By uniqueness of the limit

$$(Wu)(g) = BCU(g^{-1})u \qquad g \in G.$$

If $u, v \in \text{dom } C$, the corresponding covariant POM is given by

$$\langle u, E(X) v \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle Wu, P^{\sigma}(X) Wv \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{\sigma}}$$

$$= \int_{G} \chi_{X}(g) \langle BCU(g^{-1}) u, BCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle_{\mathcal{K}} d\mu_{G}(g)$$

$$= \int_{X} \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} d\mu_{G}(g),$$

where

$$T := B^*B$$

is a positive trace class trace one operator on \mathcal{H} .

Conversely, assume that U is square-integrable and let T be a positive trace class trace one operator on \mathcal{H} . Then

$$B := \sqrt{T}$$

is a (positive) operator belonging to $\mathcal{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{H}$ such that $B^*B = T$ and $||B||_{\mathcal{H}^* \otimes \mathcal{H}} = 1$. The operator W defined by

$$Wv := (\Sigma \otimes I_{\mathcal{H}}) (v \otimes B) \qquad \forall v \in \mathcal{H}$$

is an isometry intertwining U with the induced representation λ^{σ} , where σ is the trivial representation of $\{e\}$ in \mathcal{H} . Define E_T by

$$E_T(X) = W^* P^{\sigma}(X) W \qquad X \in \mathcal{B}(G).$$

With the same computation as above, one has that

$$\langle v, E_T(X) u \rangle = \int_X \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle d\mu_G(g)$$

for all $u, v \in \text{dom } C$.

Finally, we show that the correspondence $T \longmapsto E_T$ is injective. Let T_1 and T_2 be positive trace one operators on \mathcal{H} , with $E_{T_1} = E_{T_2}$. Set $T = T_1 - T_2$. Since U is strongly continuous, for all $u, v \in \text{dom } C$ the map

$$G \ni g \longmapsto \left\langle CU\left(g^{-1}\right)u, TCU\left(g^{-1}\right)v\right\rangle$$
$$= \Delta(g)^{-1}\left\langle U\left(g^{-1}\right)Cu, TU\left(g^{-1}\right)Cv\right\rangle \in \mathbb{C}$$

is continuous. Since

$$\int_{X} \left\langle CU\left(g^{-1}\right)u, TCU\left(g^{-1}\right)v\right\rangle d\mu_{G}\left(g\right) = \left\langle \left[u, E_{T_{1}}\left(X\right) - E_{T_{2}}\left(X\right)\right]v\right\rangle = 0$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, we have

$$\langle CU(g^{-1})u, TCU(g^{-1})v \rangle = 0 \quad \forall g \in G.$$

In particular,

$$\langle Cu, TCv \rangle = 0,$$

so that, since C has dense range, T = 0.

Remark 3.2.2 If G is unimodular, then $C = \lambda I$, with $\lambda > 0$, and one can normalize μ_G so that $\lambda = 1$. Hence,

$$E_{T}(X) = \int_{X} U(g) TU(g^{-1}) d\mu_{G}(g) \qquad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(G),$$

the integral being understood in the weak sense.

3.3 An example: the ax + b group

The ax + b group is the semidirect product $G = \mathbb{R} \times' \mathbb{R}_+$, where we regard \mathbb{R} as additive group and \mathbb{R}_+ as multiplicative group. The composition law is

$$(b,a) (b',a') = (b+ab',aa').$$

The group G is nonunimodular with left Haar measure

$$\mathrm{d}\mu_G\left(b,a\right) = a^{-2}\mathrm{d}b\mathrm{d}a$$

and modular function

$$\Delta\left(b,a\right) = \frac{1}{a}.$$

Let $\mathcal{H}=L^{2}\left(\left(0,+\infty\right),\mathrm{d}x\right)$ and (U,\mathcal{H}) be the representation of G in \mathcal{H} given by

$$[U^{+}(b,a) f](x) = a^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{2\pi i b x} f(ax).$$

It is known ([33], [5]) that U^+ is square-integrable, and the square root of its formal degree is

$$(Cf)(x) = \Delta(0, x)^{\frac{1}{2}} f(x) = x^{-\frac{1}{2}} f(x)$$
 $x \in (0, +\infty)$

acting on its natural domain.

By means of Theorem 3.2.1 every POM based on G and covariant with respect to U^+ is described by a positive trace one operator T according to eq. (3.4). Explicitly, let $(e_i)_{i\geq 1}$ be an orthonormal basis of $\mathcal H$ such that $Te_i=\lambda_i e_i$, $\lambda_i\geq 0$, for all i. If $u\in L^2\left((0,+\infty),\mathrm{d}x\right)$ is such that $x^{-\frac12}u\in L^2\left((0,+\infty),\mathrm{d}x\right)$, the U^+ -covariant POM corresponding to T is given by

$$\langle u, E_T(X) u \rangle = \int_X \langle CU^+(g^{-1}) u, TCU^+(g^{-1}) u \rangle d\mu_G(g)$$

$$= \int_X \sum_i \lambda_i |\langle e_i, CU^+(g^{-1}) u \rangle|^2 d\mu_G(g)$$

$$= \sum_i \lambda_i \int_X \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}_+} x^{-\frac{1}{2}} a^{-\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{2\pi i b x}{a}} u\left(\frac{x}{a}\right) \overline{e_i(x)} dx \right|^2 a^{-2} db da.$$

3.4 Characterisation of E for projective representations in the case H is compact

We now suppose that H is a compact subgroup of G and U is an irreducible projective representation of G with multiplier m.

We recall the standard construction that allows to extend U to an irreducible unitary representation \widetilde{U} of the central extension G_m of G associated with the multiplier m. For more details about multipliers and central extensions we refer to [52]. Let $\mathbb{T} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = 1\}$ be the multiplicative group of the torus. The group G_m is the set $G \times \mathbb{T}$ with the composition law

$$(g_1, z_1)(g_2, z_2) = (g_1g_2, z_1z_2m(g_1, g_2)).$$

The group G_m can always be endowed with a locally compact second countable Hausdorff topology in which it becomes a topological group. With this topology, $T := \{e\} \times \mathbb{T}$ is a closed subgroup in G_m , and G_m/T is canonically isomorphic to G. Moreover, $G \times \{1\}$ is a Borel subset of G_m . The representation \widetilde{U} is defined by

$$\widetilde{U}\left(g,z\right):=z^{-1}U\left(g\right)\quad\forall z\in\mathbb{T},\,g\in G.$$

It is a strongly continuous unitary representation of G_m , with $\widetilde{U}(g,1) = U(g)$.

Let $\mu_{\mathbb{T}}$ be the Haar measure of \mathbb{T} with $\mu_{\mathbb{T}}(\mathbb{T}) = 1$. The measure μ_{G_m} of G_m , given by

$$\int_{G_{m}} \varphi\left(g, z\right) d\mu_{G_{m}}\left(g, z\right) = \int_{G} d\mu_{G}\left(g\right) \int_{\mathbb{T}} \varphi\left(g, z\right) d\mu_{\mathbb{T}}\left(z\right)$$

for all $\varphi \in C_c(G_m)$, is clearly a left Haar measure of G_m . We have

$$\int_{G_m} \left| \left\langle \widetilde{U}(g, z) v, u \right\rangle \right|^2 d\mu_{G_m}(g, z) = \int_G d\mu_G(g) \left| \left\langle U(g) v, u \right\rangle \right|^2 \int_{\mathbb{T}} d\mu_{\mathbb{T}}(z)$$
$$= \int_G \left| \left\langle U(g) v, u \right\rangle \right|^2 d\mu_G(g).$$

It follows that \widetilde{U} is square integrable if and only if there is some vector $u \in \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$\int_{G} |\langle U(g) u, u \rangle|^{2} d\mu_{G}(g) < \infty.$$
(3.5)

If eq. (3.5) is satisfied, we say that the projective unitary representation U is square-integrable.

Moreover, it is easily checked that a POM E on the quotient $G/H = (G_m/T)/(H_m/T) = G_m/H_m$ is covariant with respect to U if and only if it is covariant with respect to \widetilde{U} . We note that, since H is compact, the subgroup H_m is compact in G_m .

The above discussion is summarised in the following lemma.

- **Lemma 3.4.1** 1. A POM based on $G/H = G_m/H_m$ is covariant with respect to the projective unitary representation U of G if and only if it is covariant with respect to the unitary representation \tilde{U} of G_m .
 - 2. The representation \widetilde{U} is square integrable if and only if U is square integrable.

The next theorem is the central result of this chapter. It is a reelaboration of [13, Corollary 5]. See also [6, Theorem II.3.2].

Theorem 3.4.2 Suppose H is a compact subgroup of G. Assume that U is an irreducible projective unitary representation of G. Then U admits a covariant POM based on G/H if and only if U is square-integrable.

In this case, let C be the square root of the formal degree of U. There exists a one-to-one correspondence between covariant POMs E on G/H onto the set of positive trace one operators T on $\mathcal H$ such that

$$TU(h) = U(h)T \quad \forall h \in H.$$
 (3.6)

This correspondence associates to each positive trace one operator T satisfying eq. (3.6) the covariant $POM E_T$ given by

$$\langle u, E_T(X) v \rangle = \int_X \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$
 (3.7)

for all $u, v \in \text{dom } C$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$, where $\mu_{G/H}$ is an invariant measure on G/H.

Proof. By Lemma 3.4.1 and compactness of H_m , possibly switching from G to G_m and from U to \widetilde{U} , we can assume that U itself is a unitary representation of G (note that eqs. (3.6) and (3.7) are unaffected by this change). Let μ_H be the invariant measure on H with $\mu_H(H) = 1$. Due to the compactness of H, there exists a left G-invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$ on G/H such that the following measure decomposition holds

$$\int_{G} f(g) d\mu_{G}(g) = \int_{G/H} d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g}) \int_{H} f(gh) d\mu_{H}(h).$$
 (3.8)

for all $f \in L^1(G, \mu_G)$ (see [33], [34], [27]).

Assume that U is square-integrable and let T be as in the statement of the theorem. By means of eq. (3.4) T defines a POM \widetilde{E}_T based on G and covariant with respect to U. For all $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$ let

$$E_T(X) = \widetilde{E}_T(\pi^{-1}(X)).$$

Clearly, E_T is a POM on G/H covariant with respect to U. Moreover, denoting with χ_X the characteristic function of X, if $u, v \in \text{dom } C$,

$$\langle u, E_{T}(X) v \rangle = \int_{G} \chi_{X}(\pi(g)) \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle d\mu_{G}(g)$$

$$(\text{by eq. } (3.8))$$

$$= \int_{G/H} d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g}) \int_{H} \chi_{X}(\pi(gh)) \langle CU(gh)^{-1} u, TCU(gh)^{-1} v \rangle d\mu_{H}(h)$$

$$(\text{by eq. } (3.6) \text{ and since } \Delta|_{H} = 1)$$

$$= \int_{G/H} \chi_{X}(\pi(g)) \langle CU(g)^{-1} u, TCU(g)^{-1} v \rangle d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$

that is, equation (3.7) holds.

Conversely, let E be a POM on G/H which is covariant with respect to U. For all $Y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, let l_Y be the function on G given by

$$l_Y(g) = \mu_H(g^{-1}Y \cap H) = \int_H \chi_Y(gh) d\mu_H(h).$$

Clearly, l_Y is a positive measurable function bounded by 1 and, since μ_H is invariant, for all $h \in H$, $l_Y(gh) = l_Y(g)$. It follows that there is a positive measurable bounded function ℓ_Y on G/H such that $l_Y = \ell_Y \circ \pi$.

Define the operator E(Y) by means of

$$\widetilde{E}(Y) = \int_{G/H} \ell_Y(\dot{g}) dE(\dot{g}),$$

which is well defined since ℓ_Y is bounded.

We claim that $Y \longmapsto \widetilde{E}(Y)$ is a POM on G covariant with respect to U. Clearly, since ℓ_Y is positive, $\widetilde{E}(Y)$ is a positive operator. Recalling that

 $\ell_G = 1$, one has $\widetilde{E}(G) = I$. Let now $(Y_i)_{i \geq 1}$ be a disjoint sequence of $\mathcal{B}(G)$ and $Y = \bigcup_i Y_i$. Given $g \in G$, since $(g^{-1}Y_i \cap H)_{i \geq 1}$ is a disjoint sequence of $\mathcal{B}(H)$ and $g^{-1}Y \cap H = \bigcup_i (g^{-1}Y_i \cap H)$, then $\ell_Y = \sum_i \ell_{Y_i}$, where the series converges pointwise. Let $u \in \mathcal{H}$, by monotone convergence theorem, one has that

$$\langle u, \widetilde{E}(Y) u \rangle = \sum_{i} \langle u, \widetilde{E}(Y_i) u \rangle.$$

Finally, let $g_1 \in G$, then

$$\widetilde{E}(g_1Y) = \int_{G/H} \mu_H(g^{-1}g_1Y \cap H) dE(\dot{g})$$

$$(\dot{g} \longrightarrow g_1\dot{g})$$

$$= \int_{G/H} \mu_H(g^{-1}Y \cap H) U(g_1) dE(\dot{g}) U(g_1)^*$$

$$= U(g_1) \widetilde{E}(Y) U(g_1)^*,$$

where we used the fact that E is covariant.

By means of Theorem 3.2.1, U is square-integrable and there is a positive trace one operator T such that, for $u, v \in \text{dom } C$,

$$\langle u, \widetilde{E}(Y) v \rangle = \int_{Y} \langle CU(g^{-1}) u, TCU(g^{-1}) v \rangle d\mu(g).$$
 (3.9)

We now show that T satisfies equation (3.6). First of all we claim that, given $h \in H$ and $Y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$,

$$\widetilde{E}(Yh) = \widetilde{E}(Y). \tag{3.10}$$

Indeed, since H is compact, μ_H is both left and right invariant, so that

$$\mu_H(g^{-1}Yh\cap H) = \mu_H((g^{-1}Y\cap H)h) = \mu_H(g^{-1}Y\cap H)$$

and, hence, $\ell_Y = \ell_{Yh}$. By definition of $\widetilde{E}(Y)$, equation (3.10) easily follows. Fixed $h \in H$, by means of equation (3.10) and equation (3.9) one has that

$$\int_{Y} \left\langle CU\left(g^{-1}\right)u, TCU\left(g^{-1}\right)v\right\rangle d\mu\left(g\right)
= \int_{Yh} \left\langle CU\left(g^{-1}\right)u, TCU\left(g^{-1}\right)v\right\rangle d\mu\left(g\right)
\left(g \longrightarrow gh\right)
= \int_{Y} \left\langle CU\left(gh\right)^{-1}u, TCU\left(gh\right)^{-1}v\right\rangle d\mu\left(g\right),$$

where we used the fact that $\Delta|_H = 1$. Since the equality holds for all $Y \in \mathcal{B}(G)$, then, for a.a. $g \in G$,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle CU\left(g^{-1}\right)u,TCU\left(g^{-1}\right)v\right\rangle &= \left\langle CU\left(gh\right)^{-1}u,TCU\left(gh\right)^{-1}v\right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle CU\left(g\right)^{-1}u,U\left(h\right)TU\left(h\right)^{-1}CU\left(g\right)^{-1}v\right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Since both sides are continuous functions of g, the equality holds everywhere and equation (3.6) follows by density of ran C.

Let now $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$. Since

$$g^{-1}\pi^{-1}(X)\cap H = \left\{ \begin{array}{ll} H & \text{if } gH \in X \\ \emptyset & \text{if } gH \not\in X \end{array} \right.,$$

then $\ell_{\pi^{-1}(X)} = \chi_X$ and $\widetilde{E}(\pi^{-1}(X)) = E(X)$. Reasoning as in the first part of the proof one has that $E = E_T$.

The injectivity of the map $T \longmapsto E_T$ easily follows from the injectivity of the map $T \longmapsto \widetilde{E}_T$ from the set of positive trace one operators to the set of U-covariant POM based on G.

Remark 3.4.3 Note that by eq. (3.8) the invariant measure $\mu_{G/H}$ in eq. (3.7) depends only on the normalisation of the Haar measure μ_{G} , hence on the choice of the operator C, which is uniquely determined up to a positive factor.

Remark 3.4.4 If G is unimodular and U is a projective square integrable representation, it is known since [40] that every U-covariant POM is given by eq. (3.7) (with C = I). But we actually have more: if U is not square integrable, then U does not admit any covariant POM.

Remark 3.4.5 Scutaru shows in ref. [49] that there exists a one-to-one correspondence between covariant POM's E based on G/H with the property

$$\operatorname{tr} E(K) < +\infty \tag{3.11}$$

for all compact sets $K \subset G/H$ and positive trace one operators on \mathcal{H} . Theorem 3.4.2 shows that if G is unimodular every covariant POM E based on G/H shares property (3.11).

Remark 3.4.6 Suppose that in Theorem 3.4.2 G is unimodular and U is a unitary representation. Then by eq. (3.7)

$$E_T(X) = \int_X U(g) TU(g)^{-1} d\mu_{G/H}(\dot{g})$$

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(G/H)$ (the integral being understood in the weak sense). In particular, each U-covariant POM based on G/H admits the representation of eq. (1.8) in §1.3, with operator valued density $E(\dot{g}) = U(g) TU(g)^{-1}$ and $\nu = \mu_{G/H}$.

Let σ be a representation of H in a Hilbert space K and $W: \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{\sigma}$ be an operator intertwining U with the representation induced from σ . By irreducibility of U, W is a multiple of an isometry. Then, by Theorem

1.3.2, there exists an operator $A : \mathcal{H} \longrightarrow \mathcal{K}$ such that $AU(h) = \sigma(h) A$ for all $h \in H$, and

$$(Wv)(g) = AU(g)^{-1}v \quad \forall v \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Since

$$E\left(X\right) := W^{*}P^{\sigma}\left(X\right)W = \int_{X} U\left(g\right)A^{*}AU\left(g\right)^{-1}d\mu_{G/H}\left(\dot{g}\right)$$

is a multiple of a covariant POM, by Theorem 3.4.2 A*A is trace class, i.e. A is a Hilbert-Schmidt operator.

Remark 3.4.7 Suppose that H is a closed subgroup of G such that

- 1. H contains a closed subgroup Z which is central in G;
- 2. H/Z is compact.

Let U be an irreducible representation of G in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H} and γ be the character of Z such that $U(z) = \gamma(z) I_{\mathcal{H}}$ for all $z \in Z$. Fix a Borel section $s: G/Z \longrightarrow G$, and define

$$\widehat{U}\left(\dot{g}\right):=U\left(s\left(\dot{g}\right)\right)\quad\forall\dot{g}\in G/Z.$$

It is easily checked that \widehat{U} is a projective unitary representation of the quotient group G/Z with multiplier

$$m(\dot{g}_1, \dot{g}_2) = \gamma \left(s(\dot{g}_1 \dot{g}_2) s(\dot{g}_2)^{-1} s(\dot{g}_1)^{-1} \right).$$

Moreover, a POM based on G/H = (G/Z)/(H/Z) is U-covariant iff it is \widehat{U} -covariant. By Theorem 3.4.2, then U admits covariant POM's iff there is some vector $u \in \mathcal{H}$ such that

$$\int_{G/Z} |\langle U(g) u, u \rangle|^2 d\mu_{G/Z}(\dot{g}) < \infty.$$
(3.12)

In this case, it is easily checked that the U-covariant POM's are given again by formula (3.7). An irreducible unitary representation U of G satisfying eq. (3.12) is called **square-integrable modulo** Z.

3.5 Two examples

3.5.1 The isochronous Galilei group

The following example is taken from [13]. Consider a free nonrelativistic spin-0 particle with mass m in the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^3 . Its associated Hilbert space is $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, d\vec{x})$. The symmetry group of the system is the isochronous Galilei group. We recall that this group is the topological

space $G = \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{V}^3 \times SO(3)$, where \mathbb{R}^3 is the 3-dimensional vector group of space translations, $\mathbb{V}^3 \simeq \mathbb{R}^3$ is the 3-dimensional vector group of velocity boosts and SO(3) is the group of rotations (connected with the identity). The composition law of G is

$$(\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R) (\vec{a}', \vec{v}', R') = (\vec{a} + R\vec{a}', \vec{v} + R\vec{v}', RR').$$

The group G acts in \mathcal{H} through the irreducible projective unitary representation U defined as follows

$$[U(\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R) \phi](\vec{x}) = e^{im\vec{v}\cdot(\vec{x}-\vec{a})}\phi(R^{-1}(\vec{x}-\vec{a})). \tag{3.13}$$

The phase space of the system is $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{P}^3$. The action of an element $g = (\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R) \in G$ on a point $x = (\vec{q}, \vec{p}) \in \Omega$ is given by

$$g[x] = (\vec{a} + R\vec{q}, m\vec{v} + R\vec{p}).$$

The stability subgroup at the point $(\vec{0}, \vec{0})$ is the compact subgroup H = SO(3). In particular, Ω is isomorphic to G/H by means of

$$(\vec{q}, \vec{p}) \longmapsto \pi \left(\vec{q}, \frac{\vec{p}}{m}, I \right).$$
 (3.14)

A covariant phase space observable is a POM E based on Ω and covariant with respect to U. To apply Theorem 3.4.2 and classify such POM's we need to check the square-integrability of U. Denoting by $\mathrm{d}R$ the normalised Haar measure of SO(3), we fix in G the Haar measure

$$d\mu_G(\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R) = \frac{m}{(2\pi)^3} d\vec{a} d\vec{v} dR.$$

If $\psi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3, d\vec{x})$, we have

$$\begin{split} &\int_{G} \left| \left\langle U\left(\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R\right) \psi, \psi \right\rangle \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\mu_{G}\left(\vec{a}, \vec{v}, R\right) = \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times \mathbb{V}^{3} \times SO(3)} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \psi\left(\vec{x}\right) e^{-im\vec{v} \cdot (\vec{x} - \vec{a})} \overline{\psi\left(R^{-1}\left(\vec{x} - \vec{a}\right)\right)} \mathrm{d}\vec{x} \right|^{2} \frac{m \mathrm{d}\vec{a} \mathrm{d}\vec{v} \mathrm{d}R}{\left(2\pi\right)^{3}} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times SO(3)} \left[\int_{\mathbb{V}^{3}} \left| \mathcal{F}\left(\psi\left(\cdot\right) \overline{\psi\left(R^{-1}\left(\cdot - \vec{a}\right)\right)\right) \left(m\vec{v}\right) \right|^{2} m \mathrm{d}\vec{v} \right] \mathrm{d}\vec{a} \mathrm{d}R \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3} \times SO(3)} \left[\int_{\mathbb{V}^{3}} \left| \psi\left(\vec{x}\right) \overline{\psi\left(R^{-1}\left(\vec{x} - \vec{a}\right)\right)} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\vec{x} \right] \mathrm{d}\vec{a} \mathrm{d}R = \|\psi\|^{4} \,. \end{split}$$

Thus, U is a square-integrable representation with formal degree $C^2 = I$. Choosing $d\mu_{G/H}(\vec{a}, \vec{v}) = \frac{m}{(2\pi)^3} d\vec{a} d\vec{v}$ and recalling identification (3.14), every U-covariant POM based on Ω has the form

$$E_T(X) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^3} \int_X U_{(\vec{q}, \frac{\vec{p}}{m}, I)} T U_{(\vec{q}, \frac{\vec{p}}{m}, I)}^* d\vec{q} d\vec{p}$$
(3.15)

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$, where T is a positive trace one operator commuting with $U|_{SO(3)}$.

We now characterize the positive trace one operators T commuting with $U|_{SO(3)}$. We have the factorization

$$L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, d\vec{x}) = L^{2}(S^{2}, d\Omega) \otimes L^{2}(\mathbb{R}_{+}, r^{2}dr).$$

Denoting with l the representation of $SO\left(3\right)$ acting in $L^{2}\left(S^{2}, d\Omega\right)$ by left translations, we have

$$U|_{SO(3)} = l \otimes I.$$

The representation $(l, L^2(S^2, d\Omega))$ decomposes into

$$L^{2}\left(S^{2}, \mathrm{d}\Omega\right) = \bigoplus_{\ell \geq 0} M_{\ell},$$

where each irreducible inequivalent subspace M_{ℓ} is generated by the spherical harmonics $(Y_{\ell m})_{-\ell \le m \le \ell}$. We have

$$L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathrm{d}\vec{x}\right) = \left(\bigoplus_{\ell \geq 0} M_{\ell}\right) \otimes L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}, r^{2} \mathrm{d}r\right) = \bigoplus_{\ell \geq 0} \left(M_{\ell} \otimes L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}, r^{2} \mathrm{d}r\right)\right).$$

Let $P_{\ell}: L^2(S^2, d\Omega) \longrightarrow L^2(S^2, d\Omega)$ be the orthogonal projection onto the subspace M_{ℓ} . If T commutes with $l \otimes I$, one has

$$T(P_{\ell} \otimes I) = (P_{\ell} \otimes I) T$$

where $P_{\ell} \otimes I$ projects onto $M_{\ell} \otimes L^2(\mathbb{R}_+, r^2 dr)$. Given Hilbert spaces \mathcal{H}_1 and \mathcal{H}_2 and an irreducible representation π acting in a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} , a standard result asserts that the operators interwining $\pi \otimes I_{\mathcal{H}_1}$ and $\pi \otimes I_{\mathcal{H}_2}$ are exactly the tensor product $I_{\mathcal{K}} \otimes \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2)$ (see [34, p. 342, Proposition 14]). Since M_{ℓ} is irreducible, this implies

$$T(P_{\ell} \otimes I) = P_{\ell} \otimes T_{\ell}$$

with $T_{\ell} \in \mathcal{L}\left(L^{2}\left(\mathbb{R}_{+}, r^{2} \mathrm{d}r\right)\right)$. We then have

$$T = \sum_{\ell} T(P_{\ell} \otimes I) = \sum_{\ell} P_{\ell} \otimes T_{\ell}.$$

Since T is a positive trace one operator, each T_{ℓ} is positive and

$$1 \equiv \sum_{\ell} \dim M_{\ell} \operatorname{tr} T_{\ell} = \sum_{\ell} (2\ell + 1) \operatorname{tr} T_{\ell}. \tag{3.16}$$

It follows that the operators T associated to the U-covariant POM's E by means of equation (3.15) are all the operators of the form

$$T = \sum_{\ell} P_{\ell} \otimes T_{\ell}$$

with T_{ℓ} positive trace class operators satisfying equation (3.16).

3.5.2 Covariant phase space observables in one dimension.

In this subsection, the quantum system S is a nonrelativistic spin-0 particle with mass m in the one dimensional space \mathbb{R} . The Hilbert space of S is $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}, dx)$ (dx being the Lebesgue measure of \mathbb{R}). The symmetry group of the system is the isochronous Galilei group in one dimension. This is the additive abelian group $G = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{V}$ ($\mathbb{V} \simeq \mathbb{R}$), which acts on \mathcal{H} by means of the projective unitary representation U given by

$$[U(a, v) \psi](x) = e^{imv(x-a)} \psi(x-q) \quad \forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}$$

(compare with eq. (3.13)). The one dimensional phase space is $\Omega = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{P}$, on which G acts by

$$(a, v) [(q, p)] = (q + a, p + mv).$$

A covariant phase space observable is thus a POM based on Ω and covariant with respect to U.

To simplify our notations in the next chapters, we introduce the group $G' = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{P}$ of space translations and momentum boosts, also called the group of phase space translations (see [11], [40]). We define the projective unitary representation of G' on \mathcal{H} , given by

$$[W(q,p)\psi](x) = e^{ip(x-\frac{q}{2})}\psi(x-q) \quad \forall \psi \in \mathcal{H}.$$
 (3.17)

This can be written

$$W(q,p) = e^{i(pQ - qP)},$$

where

$$[Q\psi](x) = x\psi(x), \qquad [P\psi](x) = -i\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\psi(x)$$

defined on their natural domains are the usual selfadjoint generators of boosts and translations. The group G' acts on the phase space Ω by translations:

$$(q,p)[(q',p')] = (q+q',p+p').$$

It is easily seen that a POM $E: \mathcal{B}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a covariant phase space observable iff it is covariant with respect to the representation W of G'. In the following two chapters, we will work with G' and W rather than G and U.

We endow G' with the Haar measure

$$\mathrm{d}\mu_{G'}(p,q) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \mathrm{d}p \mathrm{d}q.$$

It is known ([17], [33], [40]) that the representation W is square-integrable, with C=1. It follows from Theorem 3.2.1 that any W-covariant POM E based on Ω is of the form

$$E(X) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{X} e^{i(pQ - qP)} Te^{-i(pQ - qP)} dpdq \qquad X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{P})$$

for some positive trace one operator T on \mathcal{H} . This result was known since [40] and [54] (although in the book of Holevo it follows from a more general result, while the proof of Werner is specific for the case of the Heisenberg group).

Chapter 4

Covariant position and momentum observables

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we define the position and momentum observables for a nonrelativistic quantum particle by means of their covariance property under the transformations of the isochronous Galilei group.

We will show that these observables are a smeared or 'fuzzy' version of the canonical sharp position and momentum observables defined in eqs. (4.1) and (4.2) below (for a detailed account about fuzzy observables, we refer to [11] and [35]).

Moreover, we will characterise some operational properties of the position and momentum observables, such as regularity and state distinction power. We also introduce a variant of the concept of regularity which has a quite transparent meaning for these observables. We call it α -regularity. α -regularity allows one to characterise the *limit of resolution* of a position or a momentum observable (for more details, we refer to §4.7)

Most of our results will be given only in the one dimensional case, since their extension to the particle in the Euclidean space is quite straightforward. Moreover, we will work with the group of space translations and momentum boosts of §3.5.2 (and with its three dimensional analogue) rather than with the Galilei group, since this will slightly simplify our notations (essentially, this drops the mass factor in our formulas).

Finally, in the next chapter we will conclude our discussion on position and momentum observables treating the problem of their coexistence and joint measurability.

Here we stress that, in different approaches, position and momentum observables can be defined in different ways, sometimes even without referring to their properties of covariance. We shall not enter into details about this. For more information, see [11], [55] and references therein.

If not explicitly stated otherwise, the results of this chapter are all taken from [14].

We end this section introducing some notations that will be used in the following. Since we will always be concerned with \mathbb{R}^n endowed with the Lebesgue measure $\mathrm{d} x^n$, we will use the abbreviated notation $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n,\mathrm{d} x^n)$. The Fourier transform of any $f\in L^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is denoted by \hat{f} . We set also $\hat{f}=\mathcal{F}(f)$ to denote the Fourier-Plancherel transform of any $f\in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, and similarly $\hat{\mu}=\mathcal{F}(\mu)$ is the Fourier-Stieltjes transform of any complex Borel measure μ on \mathbb{R}^n .

If $E: \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a POM based on the measurable space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}(\Omega))$, an element $E(X) \in \operatorname{ran} E \subset \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is called an **effect**. The effects O and I are called **trivial**.

4.2 Definition of the observables of position and momentum on \mathbb{R}

Let us consider a nonrelativistic spin-0 particle living in the one-dimensional space \mathbb{R} and fix $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R})$. Let U and V be the one-parameter unitary representations on \mathcal{H} related to the groups of space translations and momentum boosts. They act on $\varphi \in \mathcal{H}$ as

$$[U(q)\varphi](x) = \varphi(x-q),$$

$$[V(p)\varphi](x) = e^{ipx}\varphi(x).$$

Let P and Q be the selfadjoint operators generating U and V, that is, $U(q) = e^{-iqP}$ and $V(p) = e^{ipQ}$ for every $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$. We denote by Π_P and Π_Q the spectral decompositions of the operators P and Q, respectively. They have the form

$$\left[\Pi_{Q}(X)\varphi\right](x) = \chi_{X}(x)\varphi(x),\tag{4.1}$$

$$\Pi_P(X) = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\Pi_O(X)\mathcal{F}. \tag{4.2}$$

The projection valued measure $\Pi_Q : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ has the property that, for all $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$U(q)\Pi_Q(X)U(q)^* = \Pi_Q(X+q),$$
 (4.3)

$$V(p)\Pi_{Q}(X)V(p)^{*} = \Pi_{Q}(X).$$
 (4.4)

More generally, the abelian group $G = \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{P}$ of the space translations and momentum boosts acts on the one dimensional space \mathbb{R} by

$$(q,p)\left[x\right] = x + q \quad \forall x \in \mathbb{R}, \ (q,p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{P}.$$

On the other hand, its action on the Hilbert space $L^{2}(\mathbb{R})$ of the quantum particle is given by the projective unitary representation W defined in

eq. (3.17) (see §3.5.2). So, a position observable $E: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ must satisfy the covariance condition

$$W(q, p) E(X) W(q, p)^* = E(X + q) \quad \forall X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Since $W(q, p) = e^{iqp/2}U(q)V(p)$, it is easy to check that the last equation is equivalent to the analogues of eqs. (4.3) and (4.4) with the sharp observable Π_Q replaced by the POM E. We thus take covariance under translations and invariance under momentum boosts as the defining properties of a general position observable.

Definition 4.2.1 An observable $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a **position observable on** \mathbb{R} if, for all $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$U(q)E(X)U(q)^* = E(X+q),$$
 (4.5)

$$V(p)E(X)V(p)^* = E(X). (4.6)$$

We will denote by $POS_{\mathbb{R}}$ the convex set of all position observables on \mathbb{R} .

The projection valued position observable Π_Q is called the **canonical** (sharp) position observable.

In an analogous way we define a momentum observable to be an observable which is covariant under momentum boosts and invariant under translations.

Definition 4.2.2 An observable $F : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a momentum observable on \mathbb{R} if, for all $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$U(q)F(X)U(q)^* = F(X), (4.7)$$

$$V(p)F(X)V(p)^* = F(X+p).$$
 (4.8)

Since $\mathcal{F}U(q) = V(-q)\mathcal{F}$ and $\mathcal{F}V(p) = U(p)\mathcal{F}$, the sharp observable $\Pi_P = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\Pi_Q\mathcal{F}$ satisfies (4.7) and (4.8). It is called the **canonical (sharp)** momentum observable. Moreover, an observable E is a position observable if and only if $\mathcal{F}^{-1}E\mathcal{F}$ is a momentum observable. Therefore, in the following we will restrict ourselves to the study of position observables, the results of Sections 4.3, 4.6 and 4.7 being easily converted to the case of momentum observables.

Remark 4.2.3 We classified in §2.5.1 the POM's $E: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ which fulfill only eq. (4.5). In some articles the name 'position observables' is used to denote these observables, without requiring the additional property of invariance under boosts. In §2.5.1 we say that such observables are 'translation covariant observables', and we reserve the name 'position observables' only to the observables satisfying eqs. (4.5) and (4.6). In §4.3 it is shown,

in particular, that every position observable is commutative. However, using the classification of translation covariant observables given in section 2.5.1, it is easy to check that there exist noncommutative localization observables. Thus, the position observables are a strict subset of the set of the translation covariant observables.

4.3 The structure of position observables

Let $\rho: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to [0,1]$ be a probability measure. For any $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, the map $q \mapsto \rho(X-q)$ is bounded and measurable, and hence the equation

$$E_{\rho}(X) = \int \rho(X - q) \, d\Pi_{Q}(q) \tag{4.9}$$

defines a bounded positive operator. The map

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \ni X \mapsto E_{\varrho}(X) \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$$

is an observable. It is straightforward to verify that the observable E_{ρ} satisfies the covariance condition (4.5) and the invariance condition (4.6), hence it is a position observable on \mathbb{R} . Denote by δ_t the Dirac measure concentrated at t. The observable E_{δ_0} is the canonical position observable Π_Q . We may also write

$$\Pi_Q(X) = \int \delta_0(X - q) \, d\Pi_Q(q) \tag{4.10}$$

and comparing (4.9) to (4.10) we note that E_{ρ} is obtained when the sharply concentrated Dirac measure δ_0 is replaced by the probability measure ρ . The observable E_{ρ} admits an interpretation as an imprecise, or fuzzy, version of the canonical position observable Π_Q , unsharpness being characterised by the probability measure ρ (see [1], [2], [3], [35] for further details).

The following is the central result of this chapter.

Proposition 4.3.1 Any position observable E on \mathbb{R} is of the form $E = E_{\rho}$ for some probability measure $\rho : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to [0,1]$.

Since the proof of Proposition 4.3.1 is quite long and can be given in a slightly greater generality which will be useful in the following, we postpone it to the next section.

We denote by $M(\mathbb{R})$ the set of complex measures on \mathbb{R} . $M_1^+(\mathbb{R})$ is the convex set of probability measures. Proposition 4.3.1 thus establishes a map $\rho \longmapsto E_{\rho}$ from $M_1^+(\mathbb{R})$ onto the convex set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}$ of the position observables on \mathbb{R} . It is immediately checked that this map is convex. The next proposition (proved in [15]) shows that it is an isomorphism of convex sets.

Proposition 4.3.2 Let $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in M_1^+(\mathbb{R}), \ \rho_1 \neq \rho_2$. Then $E_{\rho_1} \neq E_{\rho_2}$.

Proof. For $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$, we define the real measure λ_{ψ} by

$$\lambda_{\psi}(X) = \langle \psi, (E_{\rho_1}(X) - E_{\rho_2}(X)) \psi \rangle = \mu_{\psi} * (\rho_1 - \rho_2)(X),$$

where * is the convolution and $d\mu_{\psi}(x) = |\psi(x)|^2 dx$. Taking the Fourier-Stieltjes transform we get

$$\hat{\lambda}_{\psi} = \hat{\mu}_{\psi} \cdot (\hat{\rho}_1 - \hat{\rho}_2) \,,$$

where $\hat{\lambda}_{\psi}$, $\hat{\mu}_{\psi}$, $\hat{\rho}_{1}$ and $\hat{\rho}_{2}$ are continuous functions. By injectivity of the Fourier-Stieltjes transform we have $\hat{\rho}_{1} \neq \hat{\rho}_{2}$. Thus, choosing ψ such that $\widehat{|\psi|^{2}}(p) \neq 0$ for every $p \in \mathbb{R}$, we have $\hat{\lambda}_{\psi} \neq 0$. This means that $\lambda_{\psi} \neq 0$ and hence, $E_{\rho_{1}} \neq E_{\rho_{2}}$.

As we will see in Proposition 4.5.2 below, a position observable E_{ρ} is a sharp observable if and only if $\rho = \delta_x$ for some $x \in \mathbb{R}$, where δ_x is the Dirac measure concentrated at x. Since the Dirac measures are the extreme elements of the convex set $M_1^+(\mathbb{R})$, from the above discussion the following fact follows [15].

Proposition 4.3.3 The sharp position observables are the extreme elements of the convex set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}$.

The following useful property of a position observable is proved in [37]. Here we give a slightly modified proof.

Proposition 4.3.4 If $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ satisfies eq. (4.5), then E(X) = O if and only if the Borel set X has zero Lebesque measure.

Proof. This is exactly as in the first part of the proof of Lemma 1.3.1. Let $(v_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a countable dense subset in \mathcal{H} , and let μ be the bounded measure on \mathbb{R} given by

$$\mu\left(X\right) = \sum_{n} 2^{-n} \left\|v_{n}\right\|^{-2} \left\langle v_{n}, E\left(X\right) v_{n}\right\rangle.$$

We have $\mu(X) = 0$ iff E(X) = 0. By this fact and the translational covariance of E we have $\mu(X + x) = 0$ iff $\mu(X) = 0$, i.e. μ is a quasi invariant measure on \mathbb{R} . So, μ is equivalent to the Lebesgue measure, thus proving our claim.

We conclude this section with a standard example.

Example 4.3.5 Let $\rho \in M_1^+(\mathbb{R})$ be absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure and let $e \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ be the corresponding Radon-Nikodým derivative. Then (4.9) can be written in the form

$$E_{\rho}(X) = (\chi_X * \tilde{e})(Q), \qquad (4.11)$$

where $\tilde{e}(q) = e(-q)$ and * denotes the convolution.

4.4 Translation covariant and boost invariant observables in dimension n

Let $N=\mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and $H=\mathbb{R}^n$, with the usual structure of additive abelian groups. Denote with $(p,t),\,p\in\mathbb{R}^n,\,t\in\mathbb{R}$, an element of N. Let H act on N as

$$\alpha_q(p,t) = (p, t + q \cdot p) \quad q \in H, (p,t) \in N.$$

The Heisenberg group¹ is the semidirect product $G = N \times_{\alpha} H$. We recall that such a group is the topological set $G = N \times H$ endowed with the composition law

$$((p,t),q)((p',t'),q') = ((p+p',t+t'+q\cdot p'),q+q'). \tag{4.12}$$

Let W be the following irreducible unitary representation of G acting in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$

$$[W((p,t),q) f](x) = e^{-i(t-p\cdot x)} f(x-q).$$

Clearly, W((0,0),q) = U(q), W((p,0),0) = V(p), and $W((0,t),0) = e^{-it}$. The groups H and G/N are naturally identified. With such an identification, the canonical projection $\pi: G \longrightarrow G/N$ is

$$\pi\left((p,t),q\right)=q,$$

and an element $((p,t),q) \in G$ acts on $q_0 \in H$ as

$$((p,t),q)[q_0] = \pi (((p,t),q)((0,0),q_0)) = q + q_0.$$

A POM E based on \mathbb{R}^n and acting in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies the analogues of eqs. (4.5), (4.6) in dimension n if, and only if, for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $((p,t),q) \in G$,

$$W((p,t),q) E(X) W((p,t),q)^* = E(X+q),$$
 (4.13)

i.e. if and only if E is a W-covariant POM based on G/N. By virtue of the generalized imprimitivity theorem of §1.2, E is W-covariant if and only if there exists a representation σ of N and an isometry E intertwining E with the induced representation E induced represent

$$E\left(X\right) = L^*P^{\sigma}\left(X\right)L$$

$$(t,q,p)(t',q',p') = \left(t+t'+\frac{1}{2}(q\cdot p'-p\cdot q'),q+q',p+p'\right).$$

It is easy to show that this is isomorphic to our definition in eq. (4.12).

¹Usually, the Heisenberg group is defined as the topological set $\mathcal{R} \times \mathcal{R}^n \times \mathcal{R}^n$ with composition law

for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Since $\operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma) \subset \operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma')$ (as imprimitivity systems) if $\sigma \subset \sigma'$ (as representations), it is not restrictive to assume that such a σ has constant infinite multiplicity, so that there exists a positive Borel measure μ_{σ} on $\widehat{N} = \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and an infinite dimensional Hilbert space \mathcal{H} such that σ is the diagonal representation acting in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H})$, i.e.

$$\left[\sigma\left(p,t\right)\phi\right]\left(h,k\right) = e^{ih\cdot p}e^{ikt}\phi\left(h,k\right).$$

Denote with $\gamma_{h,k}$, $h \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $k \in \mathbb{R}$ the following character of N

$$\gamma_{h,k}(p,t) = e^{ih \cdot p} e^{ikt}.$$

The action of H on \widehat{N} is given by

$$(q \cdot \gamma_{h,k})(p,t) = \gamma_{h,k}(\alpha_{-q}(p,t)) = e^{i(h-kq) \cdot p} e^{ikt},$$

or in other words

$$q \cdot \gamma_{h,k} = \gamma_{h-kq,k}$$
.

If $k \neq 0$, the H-orbit passing through $\gamma_{h,k}$ is thus

$$\mathcal{O}_{\gamma_{h,k}} = \mathbb{R}^n \times \{k\}$$

and the corresponding stability subgroup is

$$H_{\gamma_{b,k}} = \{0\}.$$

From Mackey's theory ([33], [52]) it follows that the representations

$$\rho_{h,k} := \operatorname{ind}_{N}^{G} \left(\gamma_{h,k} \right)$$

are irreducible if $k \neq 0$, $\rho_{h,k}$ and $\rho_{h',k'}$ are inequivalent if $k \neq k'$ and, fixed $k \neq 0$, $\rho_{h,k}$ and $\rho_{h',k}$ are equivalent.

The representation $\rho := \operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma)$ acts on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, dx; L^2(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H}))$ according to

$$\left[\rho\left((p,t),q\right)f\right](x) = \sigma\left(p,t-p\cdot x\right)f\left(x-q\right)$$

(here we are using the second realisation of $\operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma)$ which we described in §1.2). Using the fact that σ acts diagonally in $L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H}\right)$ and the identification $L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n, \operatorname{d}x; L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H}\right)\right) \cong L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \operatorname{d}x \otimes \operatorname{d}\mu_{\sigma}(x); \mathcal{H}\right)$, we find that ρ acts on $L^2\left(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^{n+1}, \operatorname{d}x \otimes \operatorname{d}\mu_{\sigma}(x); \mathcal{H}\right)$ as

$$\left[\rho\left((p,t),q\right)f\right]\left(x,h,k\right)=e^{ih\cdot p}e^{ik(t-p\cdot x)}f\left(x-q,h,k\right).$$

Write $\mu_{\sigma} = \mu_{\sigma_1} + \mu_{\sigma_2}$, where $\mu_{\sigma_1} \perp \mu_{\sigma_2}$ and $\mu_{\sigma_2} (\mathcal{O}_{\gamma_{0,-1}}) = 0$, and let $\sigma = \sigma_1 \oplus \sigma_2$ be the corresponding decomposition of σ . We then have

$$\operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma) = \operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma_1) \oplus \operatorname{ind}_N^G(\sigma_2),$$

where the two representations in the sum are disjoint and the sum is a direct sum of imprimitivity systems. So, since $W \simeq \operatorname{ind}_N^G(\gamma_{0,-1})$, it is not restrictive to assume $\sigma = \sigma_1$, or, in other words, that μ_{σ} is concentrated in the orbit $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma_{0,-1}} = \mathbb{R}^n \times \{-1\} \cong \mathbb{R}^n$.

Let T be the following unitary operator in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n, dx \otimes d\mu_{\sigma}(x); \mathcal{H})$:

$$[Tf](x,h) = f(x+h,h).$$

If we define the representation $\hat{\rho}$, given by

$$\left[\hat{\rho}\left((p,t),q\right)f\right](x,h) = e^{-i(t-p\cdot x)}f\left(x-q,h\right),$$

then T intertwines $\hat{\rho}$ with ρ . Since $\hat{\rho} \simeq W \otimes I_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H})}$ and W is irreducible, every isometry intertwining W with $\hat{\rho}$ has the form

$$[\widetilde{L}f](x,h) = f(x)\varphi(h) \quad \forall f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$$

for some $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n, \mu_{\sigma}; \mathcal{H})$ with $\|\varphi\|_{L^2} = 1$. The most general isometry L intertwining W with ρ has then the form $L = T\widetilde{L}$ for some choice of φ , and the corresponding observable is given by

$$\begin{split} \langle g, E(X)f \rangle &= \langle g, L^*P^{\sigma}(X)Lf \rangle = \left\langle T\widetilde{L}g, P^{\sigma}(X)T\widetilde{L}f \right\rangle \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \chi_X(x)f(x+h)\overline{g(x+h)} \left\langle \varphi(h), \varphi(h) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}\mu_{\sigma}(h). \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$[E(X)f](x) = f(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \chi_X(x-h) \|\varphi(h)\|^2 d\mu_{\sigma}(h)$$
$$= f(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \chi_X(x-h) d\mu(h),$$

where $d\mu(h) = \|\varphi(h)\|^2 d\mu_{\sigma}(h)$ is a probability measure on \mathbb{R}^n .

The last formula can be rewritten as in eq. (4.11) in terms of the selfadjoint operator Q

$$E(X) = (\chi_X * \tilde{\mu})(Q),$$

where $\chi_X * \tilde{\mu}$ is the convolution of the function χ_X with the measure defined by

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(x) d\tilde{\mu} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \varphi(-x) d\mu \qquad \forall \varphi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^n).$$

4.5 Covariance under dilations

Besides covariance (4.3) and invariance (4.4), the canonical position observable Π_Q has still more symmetry properties. Namely, let \mathbb{R}_+ be the set of

positive real numbers regarded as a multiplicative group. It has a family of unitary representations $\{A_t \mid t \in \mathbb{R}\}$ acting on \mathcal{H} , and given by

$$[A_t(a)f](x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}f(a^{-1}(x-t)+t).$$

It is a direct calculation to verify that for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+, X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$A_0(a)\Pi_Q(X)A_0(a)^* = \Pi_Q(aX).$$

We adopt the following terminology, which we take from [22].

Definition 4.5.1 An observable $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is **covariant under dilations** if there exists a unitary representation A of \mathbb{R}_+ such that for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$A(a)E(X)A(a)^* = E(aX).$$
 (4.14)

The canonical position observable Π_Q is not the only position observable which is covariant under dilations. An observable $E_{\delta_t}, t \in \mathbb{R}$, is a translated version of Π_Q , namely, for any $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$E_{\delta_t}(X) = \Pi_O(X - t) = U(t)^* \Pi_O(X) U(t).$$

Since $A_{-t}(a) = U(t)^* A_0(a) U(t)$, the observable E_{δ_t} is covariant under dilations, with, for example, $A = A_{-t}$.

Proposition 4.5.2 *Let* E *be a position observable on* \mathbb{R} *. The following conditions are equivalent:*

- (a) E is covariant under dilations;
- (b) ||E(U)|| = 1 for every nonempty open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}$;
- (c) $E = E_{\delta_t}$ for some $t \in \mathbb{R}$;
- (d) E is a sharp observable.

Proof. Let E be covariant under dilations. In a similar way as in [22, Lemma 3] we can show that ||E(U)|| = 1 for all nonempty open sets U. In fact, assuming the contrary, we can find a closed interval I with nonvoid interior such that $||E(I)|| = 1 - \varepsilon < 1$. By translational covariance of E, it is not restrictive to assume that I is centered at the origin. If $f \in \mathcal{H}$ we then have

$$\mu_{f,f}(nI) = \langle f, E(nI) f \rangle = \langle A(n)^* f, E(I) A(n)^* f \rangle \le 1 - \varepsilon$$

for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. By inner regularity of $\mu_{f,f}$, we have $\mu_{f,f}(\mathbb{R}) \leq 1 - \varepsilon$, hence $E(\mathbb{R}) \neq I$, which is absurd. So, (a) implies (b).

Assume then that (b) holds. For any nonempty open set U we get

$$1 = ||E(U)|| = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(x + U). \tag{4.15}$$

It follows that $\operatorname{supp}(\rho)$ contains only one point. Indeed, assume on the contrary that $\operatorname{supp}(\rho)$ contains two points $x_1 \neq x_2$ and denote $U = \{x \in \mathbb{R} | |x| < \frac{1}{4}|x_1 - x_2| \}$. Since $x_1 + U$ and $x_2 + U$ are neighborhoods of x_1 and x_2 , respectively, we have $m_i := \rho(x_i + U) > 0$ for i = 1, 2. Then, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $\rho(x + U) \leq 1 - \min(m_1, m_2)$. This is in contradiction with (4.15). Hence, (b) implies (c).

As previously mentioned, (c) implies (a). Clearly, (c) also implies (d). Since (d) implies (b) the proof is complete. \blacksquare

The dilation covariance means that the observable in question has no scale dependence. A realistic position measurement apparatus has a limited accuracy and hence it cannot define a position observable which is covariant under dilations. Thus, sharp position observables are not suitable to describe nonideal situations.

If $E = E_{\delta_t}$, one could ask what is the most general form of the representation A of \mathbb{R}_+ satisfying eq. (4.14). The answer is given in the next proposition.

Proposition 4.5.3 If A is a unitary representation of \mathbb{R}_+ satisfying eq. (4.14) with $E = E_{\delta_t}$, then there exists a measurable function $\beta : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$ such that

$$[A(a)f](x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}\beta(x+t)\overline{\beta(a^{-1}(x+t))}f(a^{-1}(x+t) - t).$$

In particular, A is equivalent to A_{-t} .

Proof. Let $A'(a) = U(t)A(a)U(t)^*$. Then, $A'(a)\Pi_Q(X)A'(a)^* = \Pi_Q(aX)$. Denote with Π_Q^+ the restriction of Π_Q to the Borel subsets of \mathbb{R}_+ . Then, $S_0 = \left(A_0, \Pi_Q^+, L^2(0, +\infty)\right)$ and $S = \left(A', \Pi_Q^+, L^2(0, +\infty)\right)$ are transitive imprimitivity systems of the group \mathbb{R}_+ based on \mathbb{R}_+ . By Mackey imprimitivity theorem, there exists a Hilbert space \mathcal{K} such that $S = \operatorname{ind}_{\{1\}}^{\mathbb{R}_+}(I_{\mathcal{K}})$, where $I_{\mathcal{K}}$ is the trivial representation of $\{1\}$ acting in \mathcal{K} . Since $S_0 = \operatorname{ind}_{\{1\}}^{\mathbb{R}_+}(1)$, we have the isomorphism of intertwining operators $\mathcal{C}(1, I_{\mathcal{K}}) \simeq \mathcal{C}(S_0, S)$, and hence there exists an isometry $W_1 : L^2(0, +\infty) \longrightarrow L^2(0, +\infty)$ intertwining S_0 with S. In particular, $W_1\Pi_Q^+ = \Pi_Q^+W_1$, and hence there exists a measurable function $\beta_1 : \mathbb{R}_+ \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$ such that

$$[W_1 f](x) = \beta_1(x) f(x) \quad \forall f \in L^2(0, +\infty).$$

It follows that W_1 is unitary.

Reasoning as above, one finds a unitary operator W_2 intertwining the restrictions of A_0 and A' to $L^2(-\infty,0)$, with

$$[W_2 f](x) = \beta_2(x) f(x) \quad \forall f \in L^2(-\infty, 0),$$

for some measurable function $\beta_2: \mathbb{R}_- \longrightarrow \mathbb{T}$. Then, $W = W_1 \oplus W_2$ is unitary on $L^2(-\infty, +\infty)$, and $A(a) = U(t)^*WA_0(a)W^*U(t)$ has the claimed form for all $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

4.6 State distinction power of a position observable

In this section, we investigate the ability of position observables to discriminate between different states, that is we compare the state distinction power of two position observables (see also [11]).

Definition 4.6.1 Let E_1 and E_2 be observables on \mathbb{R} . The state distinction power of E_2 is greater than or equal to E_1 if for all $T, T' \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$,

$$p_T^{E_2} = p_{T'}^{E_2} \implies p_T^{E_1} = p_{T'}^{E_1}.$$

In this case we denote $E_1 \sqsubseteq E_2$. If $E_1 \sqsubseteq E_2 \sqsubseteq E_1$ we say that E_1 and E_2 are **informationally equivalent** and denote $E_1 \sim E_2$. If $E_1 \sqsubseteq E_2$ and $E_2 \not\sqsubseteq E_1$, we write $E_1 \sqsubseteq E_2$.

Example 4.6.2 An observable $E: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is **trivial** if $p_T^E = p_{T'}^E$ for all states $T, T' \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$. A trivial observable E is then of the form $E(X) = \lambda(X)I$, $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, for some probability measure λ . The state distinction power of any observable E' is greater than or equal to that of the trivial observable E. Clearly there is no trivial position observable on \mathbb{R} .

Example 4.6.3 An observable $E: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is called informationally complete if $p_T^E \neq p_{T'}^E$, whenever $T \neq T'$. The state distinction power of an informationally complete observable is greater than or equal to that of any other observable E_1 on \mathbb{R} . It is easy to see that there is no informationally complete position observable. Namely, let ψ be a unit vector, $p \neq 0$ a real number, and denote $\psi' = V(p)\psi$. Then the states $T = \langle \psi, \cdot \rangle \psi$ and $T' = \langle \psi', \cdot \rangle \psi'$ are different but for any position observable E_{ρ} , $p_T^{E_{\rho}} = p_{T'}^{E_{\rho}}$ since V(p) commutes with all the effects $E_{\rho}(X)$, $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$.

We will next think of \sim as a relation on the set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}$. The relation \sim is clearly reflexive, symmetric and transitive, and hence it is an equivalence relation. We denote the equivalence class of a position observable E by [E] and the space of equivalence classes as $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}/\sim$. The relation \sqsubseteq induces a partial order in the set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}/\sim$ in a natural way.

Let E_{ρ} be a position observable and T a state. The probability measure $p_T^{E_{\rho}}$ is the convolution of the probability measures $p_T^{\Pi_Q}$ and ρ ,

$$p_T^{E_{\rho}} = p_T^{\Pi_Q} * \rho. (4.16)$$

It is clear from (4.16) that for all $T, T' \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$,

$$p_T^{\Pi_Q} = p_{T'}^{\Pi_Q} \Rightarrow p_T^{E_{
ho}} = p_{T'}^{E_{
ho}},$$

and hence $E_{\rho} \sqsubseteq \Pi_{Q}$. We conclude that $[\Pi_{Q}]$ is the only maximal element of the partially ordered set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}/\sim$.

It is shown in [35, Prop. 5] that a position observable E_{ρ} belongs to the maximal equivalence class $[\Pi_Q]$ if and only if $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho}) = \mathbb{R}$. The following proposition characterizes the equivalence classes completely.

Proposition 4.6.4 Let ρ_1, ρ_2 be probability measures on \mathbb{R} and E_{ρ_1}, E_{ρ_2} the corresponding position observables. Then

$$E_{\rho_1} \sqsubseteq E_{\rho_2} \iff \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_1}) \subseteq \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_2}).$$

Proof. Taking the Fourier transform of eq. (4.16), we get

$$\mathcal{F}(p_T^{E_\rho}) = \mathcal{F}(p_T^{\Pi_Q})\mathcal{F}(\rho). \tag{4.17}$$

Since the Fourier transform is injective, it is clear from the above relation that supp $(\hat{\rho}_1) \subseteq \text{supp }(\hat{\rho}_2)$ implies $E_{\rho_1} \subseteq E_{\rho_2}$.

Conversely, suppose supp $(\widehat{\rho}_1) \nsubseteq \text{supp }(\widehat{\rho}_2)$. As $\widehat{\rho}_i$, i = 1, 2, are continuous functions and $\widehat{\rho}_i(\xi) = \overline{\widehat{\rho}_i(-\xi)}$, there exists a closed interval [2a, 2b], with $0 \le a < b$, such that $[2a, 2b] \cup [-2b, -2a] \subseteq \text{supp }(\widehat{\rho}_1)$ and $([2a, 2b] \cup [-2b, -2a]) \cap \text{supp }(\widehat{\rho}_2) = \emptyset$. Define the functions

$$h_1 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(b-a)}} (\chi_{[a,b]} - \chi_{[-b,-a]}),$$

$$h_2 = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(b-a)}} (\chi_{[a,b]} + \chi_{[-b,-a]}),$$

and for i = 1, 2, denote

$$h_i^*(\xi) := \overline{h_i(-\xi)}.$$

Define

$$f_i = \mathcal{F}^{-1}\left(h_i\right),\,$$

and let T_i be the one-dimensional projection $|f_i\rangle\langle f_i|$. We then have

$$dp_{T_i}^{\Pi_Q}(x) = \left| f_i(x) \right|^2 dx = \left| \left(\mathcal{F}^{-1} h_i \right)(x) \right|^2 dx = \mathcal{F}^{-1} \left(h_i * h_i^* \right)(x) dx,$$

and

$$\mathcal{F}(p_{T_i}^{\Pi_Q}) = \mathcal{F}\mathcal{F}^{-1} (h_i * h_i^*) = h_i * h_i^*$$

$$= \frac{1}{2(b-a)} \Big(2\chi_{[a,b]} * \chi_{[-b,-a]} + (-1)^i \chi_{[-b,-a]} * \chi_{[-b,-a]} + (-1)^i \chi_{[a,b]} * \chi_{[a,b]} \Big).$$

Since

$$\begin{aligned} \sup \left(\chi_{[a,b]} * \chi_{[-b,-a]} \right) &= [a-b,b-a], \\ \sup \left(\chi_{[a,b]} * \chi_{[a,b]} \right) &= [2a,2b], \\ \sup \left(\chi_{[-b,-a]} * \chi_{[-b,-a]} \right) &= [-2b,-2a], \end{aligned}$$

an application of (4.17) shows that

$$\mathcal{F}(p_{T_1}^{E_{\rho_1}}) \neq \mathcal{F}(p_{T_2}^{E_{\rho_1}}),
\mathcal{F}(p_{T_1}^{E_{\rho_2}}) = \mathcal{F}(p_{T_2}^{E_{\rho_2}}),$$

or in other words, $E_{\rho_1} \not\sqsubseteq E_{\rho_2}$.

Remark 4.6.5 It follows from the above proposition that $E_1 \subset E_2 \iff \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_1}) \subset \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_2})$, and hence the set $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}}/\sim has$ no minimal element. Indeed, if ρ_2 is a probability measure, there always exists a probability measure ρ_1 such that $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_1}) \subset \operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_2})$. In fact, since $\widehat{\rho_2}$ is continuous, $\widehat{\rho_2}(\xi) = \overline{\widehat{\rho_2}(-\xi)}$ and $\widehat{\rho_2}(0) = \rho_2(\mathbb{R}) \neq 0$, there exists a > 0 such that the closed interval [-a, a] is strictly contained in $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_2})$. If we define $h = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a}}\chi_{\left[-\frac{a}{2},\frac{a}{2}\right]}$, $f = \mathcal{F}^{-1}h$, then $d\rho_1(x) := |f(x)|^2 dx$ is a probability measure, and $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\rho_1}) = \operatorname{supp}(h * h) = [-a, a]$.

4.7 Limit of resolution of a position observable

Let $\Pi: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be a sharp observable. For any nontrivial projection $\Pi(X)$, there exist states $T, T' \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $p_T^{\Pi}(X) = 1$ and $p_{T'}^{\Pi}(X) = 0$. Using the terminology of [11, II.2.1], we may say that $\Pi(X)$ is a *sharp property* and it is *real* in the state T.

In general, an observable E has effects as its values which are not projections and, hence, not sharp properties. An effect $E(X) \in \operatorname{ran} E$ is called **regular** if its spectrum extends both above and below 1/2. This means that there exist states $T, T' \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ such that $\operatorname{tr}[TE(X)] > 1/2$ and $\operatorname{tr}[T'E(X)] < 1/2$. In this sense regular effects can be seen as approximately realizable properties (see again [11, II.2.1]). The observable E is called **regular** if all the nontrivial effects E(X) are regular.

It is shown in [35, Prop. 4] that if a probability measure ρ is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure, then the position observable E_{ρ} is not regular. Here we modify the notion of regularity to get a quantification of sharpness, or resolution, of position observables.

For any $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $r \in \mathbb{R}_+$, we denote the interval [x - r/2, x + r/2] by $I_{x;r}$. We also denote $I_r = I_{0;r}$. Let $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be an observable and $\alpha > 0$. We say that E is α -regular if all the nontrivial effects $E(I_{x;r})$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $r \geq \alpha$, are regular.

Definition 4.7.1 *Let* $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ *be an observable. We denote*

$$\gamma_E = \inf \{ \alpha > 0 \mid E \text{ is } \alpha\text{-regular} \}$$

and say that γ_E is the **limit of resolution of** E.

It follows directly from definitions that the limit of resolution of a regular observable is 0. Especially, the limit of resolution of canonical position observables is 0.

Example 4.7.2 Let E be a trivial observable (see Example 4.6.2). For any $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, we have either $E(X) \geq \frac{1}{2}I$ or $E(X) \leq \frac{1}{2}I$. Hence, $\gamma_E = \infty$.

Proposition 4.7.3 A position observable E_{ρ} is α -regular if and only if

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho(I_{x,\alpha}) > 1/2,\tag{4.18}$$

where the essential supremum is taken with respect to the Lebesgue measure of \mathbb{R} .

Proof. An effect $E_{\rho}(X)$ is regular if and only if $||E_{\rho}(X)|| > 1/2$ and $||E_{\rho}(\mathbb{R} \setminus X)|| > 1/2$. Since the norm of the multiplicative operator $E_{\rho}(X)$ is ess $\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(X - x)$, we conclude that $E_{\rho}(X)$ is regular if and only if

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho(X-x) > 1/2$$
 and $\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho(X-x) < 1/2$.

Thus, E_{ρ} is α -regular if and only if, for all $r \geq \alpha$,

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho(I_{x;r}) > 1/2$$
 and $\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho(I_{x;r}) < 1/2$.

The second condition is always satisfied and from the first eq. (4.18) follows.

Corollary 4.7.4 A position observable E_{ρ} has a finite limit of resolution and

$$\gamma_{E_{\rho}} = \inf \left\{ \alpha > 0 \mid \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(I_{x;\alpha}) > 1/2 \right\}.$$

In the next chapter, we will prove an Heisenberg-like uncertainty relation involving the limits of resolution of coexistent position and momentum observables. For the moment, we end this section with a result that characterises the position observables which are regular. It is taken from [16].

Proposition 4.7.5 Let E_{ρ} be a position observable. The following conditions are equivalent:

- (i) E_{ρ} is regular;
- (ii) $\gamma_{E_o} = 0$;
- (iii) there exists $\overline{x} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lambda \in M_1^+(\mathbb{R})$ with $\overline{x} \in \text{supp}\lambda$ such that $\rho = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\overline{x}} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda$.

Proof. It is clear that (i) implies (ii). Let $\gamma_{E_o} = 0$. This means that

$$\inf\{\alpha > 0 \mid \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(I_{x;\alpha}) > \frac{1}{2}\} = 0.$$
 (4.19)

For every $\alpha > 0$, denote

$$A_{\alpha} = \{ x \in \mathbb{R} \mid \rho(I_{x;\alpha}) > \frac{1}{2} \}.$$

Since $\alpha_1 > \alpha_2$ implies $A_{\alpha_1} \supset A_{\alpha_2}$, it follows from (4.19) that $A_{\alpha} \neq \emptyset$ for all $\alpha > 0$. For each $n = 1, 2 \dots$, choose an element $x_n \in A_{1/n}$. We have $\rho(I_{x_n,1/n}) > \frac{1}{2}$. Since ρ is a finite measure, the sequence $(x_n)_{n \geq 1}$ is bounded. Hence, there exists a subsequence $(x_{n_k})_{k \geq 1}$ converging to some $\overline{x} \in \mathbb{R}$. For each $\beta > 0$, there exists k such that $I_{x_{n_k},1/n_k} \subset I_{\overline{x},\beta}$, so that $\rho(I_{\overline{x},\beta}) > \frac{1}{2}$. Thus,

$$\rho(\{\overline{x}\}) = \rho(\cap_{\beta > 0} I_{\overline{x},\beta}) = \lim_{\beta \to 0} \rho(I_{\overline{x},\beta}) \ge \frac{1}{2}.$$

It follows that $\lambda = 2\rho - \delta_{\overline{x}}$ is a probability measure. For all $\beta > 0$, we have $\lambda(I_{\overline{x},\beta}) = 2\rho(I_{\overline{x},\beta}) - 1 > 0$, which implies $\overline{x} \in \text{supp}\lambda$. Thus, (ii) implies (iii).

Assume that (iii) holds. We start by noticing that E_{ρ} is regular if and only if $||E_{\rho}(X)|| = \frac{1}{2} \text{ess sup}_{q \in \mathbb{R}} \{ \delta_{x_0}(X - q) + \lambda(X - q) \} > \frac{1}{2}$ for every Borel set in which $E_{\rho} \neq 0, I$. Since we know that $E_{\rho}(X) = 0$ is equivalent to $\mu(X) = 0$ we can assume that X is not a null or co-null set. Let us begin by evaluating

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{q\in\mathbb{R}}\left\{\delta_{x_0}(X-q)+\lambda(X-q)\right\} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{q\in\mathbb{R}}\left\{\chi_{X-x_0}(q)+\lambda(X-q)\right\}$$

in the case X is a finite measure set. It is a matter of proving that $\lambda(X-(\cdot))$ has non void essential image on the support of the characteristic function χ_{X-x_0} , that is:

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{q\in X-x_0}\lambda(X-(\cdot))>0$$

This is also equivalent to prove that

$$\int_{X-x_0} \lambda(X-q) d\mu(q) > 0$$

but an easy calculation shows that the last integral is equal to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \chi_{X-x_0} * \check{\chi}_{X-x_0}(x) d\lambda(x)$$

where $\check{\chi}_X(x) := \chi_X(-x)$. It is a well known fact that the integrand is a continuous function (since it is the convolution of two continuous functions). Observing that $x_0 \in \text{supp}(\chi_{X-x_0} * \check{\chi}_{X-x_0})$, we get immediately that the integral is not zero. So we have the thesis in the case of finite measure sets.

Let us now consider the case $\mu(X) = \infty$. We must show that either $E_{\rho}(X) = I$ or $E_{\rho}(X)$ has spectrum below $\frac{1}{2}$. By a previous observation we can limit ourselves to the case $\mu(X') \neq 0$ since in the case of co-null set $E_{\rho}(X) = I$. Hence we can assume that X' cointains a finite measure set Y to which the above result apply. So we have

$$||E_{\rho}(X')|| \ge ||E_{\rho}(Y)|| > \frac{1}{2}$$

Since $E_{\rho}(X') = I - E_{\rho}(X)$, denoting with $\sigma(A)$ the spectrum of the operator A, we have $\sigma(E_{\rho}(X)) = 1 - \sigma(E_{\rho}(X'))$ and we are done.

4.8 Position and momentum observables on \mathbb{R}^3

4.8.1 Definitions

In this section, $\mathcal{H}=L^2(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{C}^{2j+1})$ is the Hilbert space of a nonrelativistic particle with spin j in the Euclidean space. Let $Q_i, i=1,2,3$, denote the multiplicative operators on \mathcal{H} given by $[Q_i f](\vec{x}) = x_i f(\vec{x})$, where x_i is the ith component of \vec{x} . By P_i we mean the operator $\mathcal{F}^{-1}Q_i\mathcal{F}$ and we denote $\vec{Q}=(Q_1,Q_2,Q_3), \ \vec{P}=(P_1,P_2,P_3)$. The space translation group \mathbb{R}^3 has a unitary representation $U(\vec{q})=e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{P}}$ and similarly, the momentum boost group has a representation $V(\vec{p})=e^{i\vec{p}\cdot\vec{Q}}$. It is an immediate observation that the sharp observables $\Pi_{\vec{Q}}$ and $\Pi_{\vec{P}}$ on \mathbb{R}^3 , respectively associated to the representations V and U by Stone-Naimark-Ambrose-Godement theorem, satisfy the obvious covariance and invariance conditions, analogous to (4.5)-(4.8). The rotation group SO(3) acts in \mathcal{H} according to the projective representation D, given by

$$[D(R)f](\vec{x}) = D^{j}(R')f(R^{-1}\vec{x}).$$

Here, D^j is the irreducible representation of SU(2) in \mathbb{C}^{2j+1} , and R' is an element of SU(2) lying above R. It is straightforward to verify that the sharp observables $\Pi_{\vec{Q}}$ and $\Pi_{\vec{P}}$ are covariant under rotations, that is, for all $R \in SO(3)$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$\begin{array}{lcl} D(R)\Pi_{\vec{Q}}(X)D(R)^* & = & \Pi_{\vec{Q}}(RX), \\ D(R)\Pi_{\vec{P}}(X)D(R)^* & = & \Pi_{\vec{P}}(RX). \end{array}$$

These observations motivate to the following definitions.

Definition 4.8.1 An observable $E : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a **position observable on** \mathbb{R}^3 if, for all $\vec{q}, \vec{p} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $R \in SO(3)$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$U(\vec{q})E(X)U(\vec{q})^* = E(X+\vec{q}),$$
 (4.20)

$$V(\vec{p})E(X)V(\vec{p})^* = E(X),$$
 (4.21)

$$D(R)E(X)D(R)^* = E(RX).$$
 (4.22)

We will denote by $\mathcal{POS}_{\mathbb{R}^3}$ the set of all position observables on \mathbb{R}^3 .

Definition 4.8.2 An observable $F : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is a momentum observable on \mathbb{R}^3 if, for all $\vec{q}, \vec{p} \in \mathbb{R}^3$, $R \in SO(3)$ and $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3)$,

$$U(\vec{q})F(X)U(\vec{q})^* = F(X),$$

 $V(\vec{p})F(X)V(\vec{p})^* = F(X + \vec{p}),$
 $D(R)F(X)D(R)^* = F(RX).$

4.8.2 Structure of position observables on \mathbb{R}^3

We say that a probability measure ρ on \mathbb{R}^3 is rotation invariant if for all $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and $R \in SO(3)$,

$$(R \cdot \rho)(X) := \rho(R^{-1}X) \equiv \rho(X).$$

The set of rotation invariant probability measures on \mathbb{R}^3 is denoted by $M(\mathbb{R}^3)^{1,+}_{inv}$. Using the isomorphism $\mathbb{R}^3\setminus\{0\}\simeq\mathbb{R}_+\times S^2$ and the disintegration of measures, the restriction of any measure $\rho\in M(\mathbb{R}^3)^{1,+}_{inv}$ to the subset $\mathbb{R}^3\setminus\{0\}$ can be written in the form

$$d\rho|_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\setminus\{0\}}(\vec{r}) = d\rho_{\mathrm{rad}}(r) d\rho_{\mathrm{ang}}(\Omega),$$

where $\rho_{\rm rad}$ is a finite measure on \mathbb{R}_+ with $\rho_{\rm rad}(\mathbb{R}_+) = 1 - \rho(\{0\})$, and $\rho_{\rm ang}$ is the SO(3)-invariant measure on the sphere S^2 normalized to 1.

Given a rotation invariant probability measure ρ , the formula

$$E_{\rho}(X) = \int \rho(X - \vec{q}) \, d\Pi_{\vec{Q}}(\vec{q}), \quad X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^3), \tag{4.23}$$

defines a position observable on \mathbb{R}^3 .

Proposition 4.8.3 Any position observable E on \mathbb{R}^3 is of the form $E = E_{\rho}$ for some $\rho \in M(\mathbb{R}^3)_{inv}^{1,+}$.

Proof. It is shown in §4.4 that if E satisfies eqs. (4.20), (4.21), then E is given by eq. (4.23) for some probability measure ρ in \mathbb{R}^3 . If $\varphi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^3)$, we define $E(\varphi)$ as in Remark 1.2.4. For all $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^{2j+1})$, define the measure

$$\mathrm{d}\mu_f(\vec{x}) = |f(\vec{x})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\vec{x}.$$

We then have

$$\langle f, E(\varphi)f \rangle = (\mu_f * \rho)(\varphi).$$

From (4.22) it then follows

$$\left(\mu_{D(R)f} * \rho\right)(\varphi) = \left(\mu_f * \rho\right)\left(\varphi^{R^{-1}}\right),\tag{4.24}$$

where $\varphi^{R^{-1}}(\vec{x}) = \varphi(R\vec{x})$. Rewriting explicitly (4.24), we then find (since D^j is unitary on \mathbb{C}^{2j+1})

$$\begin{split} & \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varphi(\vec{x}+\vec{y}) \left| f\left(R^{-1}\vec{x}\right) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\vec{x} \mathrm{d}\rho(\vec{y}) \\ & = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} \varphi^{R^{-1}} \left(\vec{x}+\vec{y}\right) \left| f\left(\vec{x}\right) \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}\vec{x} \mathrm{d}\rho(\vec{y}), \end{split}$$

With some computations, setting $\psi(\vec{x}) = \varphi(-R\vec{x})$, this gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\psi * |f|^2 \right) (-\vec{y}) \mathrm{d} \left(R^{-1} \cdot \rho \right) (\vec{y}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \left(\psi * |f|^2 \right) (-\vec{y}) \mathrm{d} \rho (\vec{y}) \tag{4.25}$$

(here $R^{-1} \cdot \rho$ denotes the measure on \mathbb{R}^3 such that $(R^{-1} \cdot \rho) (\phi) = \rho (\phi^R)$ for all $\phi \in C_c(\mathbb{R}^3)$). Letting ψ and |f| vary in $C_c(\mathbb{R}^3)$, the functions $\psi * |f|^2$ span a dense subset of $C_0(\mathbb{R}^3)$. From eq. (4.25), it then follows that $R^{-1} \cdot \rho = \rho$.

Proposition 4.8.4 Let E be a position observable on \mathbb{R}^3 . The following facts are equivalent:

- (a) ||E(U)|| = 1 for every nonempty open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}$;
- (b) E is a sharp observablen;
- (c) $E = \Pi_{\vec{Q}}$.

Proof. It is clear that (c) \Longrightarrow (b) \Longrightarrow (a). Hence, it is enough to show that (a) implies (c). As in the proof of Proposition 4.5.2, it follows from (a) that $\rho = \delta_{\vec{t}}$ for some $\vec{t} \in \mathbb{R}^3$. However, the probability measure $\delta_{\vec{t}}$ is rotation invariant if and only if $\vec{t} = \vec{0}$. This means that $E = \Pi_{\vec{Q}}$.

Chapter 5

Coexistence of position and momentum observables

We now conclude the discussion we have begun in the previous chapter, and we finally consider the joint observables of position and momentum, i.e. those observables defined in the phase space of the quantum system whose margins are observables of position and momentum (see definition 5.1.2 below). The covariant phase space observables described in §3.5.2 are just a subclass of the whole set of joint observables of position and momentum.

The problem of joint measurability of position and momentum observables has a long history in quantum mechanics and different viewpoints have been presented (for an overview of the subject, see e.g. [9]). In this chapter, we will show that the following remarkable fact holds: if a position observable and a momentum observable admit a joint observable, then they also admit a covariant phase space joint observable (Proposition 5.2.2). From this fact, one can derive many properties of coexistent position and momentum observables. For example, they must satisfy Heisenberg's uncertainty relation, which can be restated in different forms (see Proposition 5.2.4 and Corollary 5.2.3).

Here is a brief synopsis of this chapter. In section 5.1 we recall some concepts which are essential for our investigation. In section 5.2 we characterize those pairs of position and momentum observables which are functionally coexistent and can thus be measured jointly. Also some consequences on the properties of joint observables are investigated. In Section 5.3 we present an observation on the general problem of coexistence of position and momentum observables.

The material in this chapter is contained in [15].

5.1 Coexistence and joint observables

The notions of coexistence, functional coexistence and joint observables are essential when joint measurability of quantum observables is analyzed. We next shortly recall the definitions of these concepts. For further details we refer to a convenient survey [45] and to the references given there.

Definition 5.1.1 Let $(\Omega_i, \mathcal{A}(\Omega_i))$, i = 1, 2, be measurable spaces and let $E_i : \mathcal{A}(\Omega_i) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be observables.

(i) E_1 and E_2 are **coexistent** if there is a measurable space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}(\Omega))$ and an observable $G : \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that

$$\operatorname{ran}(E_1) \cup \operatorname{ran}(E_2) \subseteq \operatorname{ran}(G)$$
.

(ii) E_1 and E_2 are **functionally coexistent** if there is a measurable space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}(\Omega))$, an observable $G : \mathcal{A}(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ and measurable functions $f_1 : \Omega \longrightarrow \Omega_1$, $f_2 : \Omega \longrightarrow \Omega_2$, such that, for any $X_1 \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega_1)$, $X_2 \in \mathcal{A}(\Omega_2)$,

$$E_1(X_1) = G(f_1^{-1}(X_1)), \qquad E_2(X_2) = G(f_2^{-1}(X_2)).$$

Functionally coexistent observables are clearly coexistent, but it is an open question if the reverse holds.

We now confine our discussion to observables on \mathbb{R} .

Definition 5.1.2 Let $E_1, E_2 : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ be observables. An observable $G : \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is their **joint observable** if for all $X, Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$,

$$E_1(X) = G(X \times \mathbb{R}),$$

 $E_2(Y) = G(\mathbb{R} \times Y).$

In this case E_1 and E_2 are the **margins** of G.

For observables E_1 and E_2 defined on $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$ the existence of a joint observable is equivalent to their functional coexistence. These conditions are also equivalent to the *joint measurability* of E_1 and E_2 in the sense of the quantum measurement theory (see Section 7 in [45]).

The **commutation domain** of observables E_1 and E_2 , denoted by com (E_1, E_2) , is the closed subspace of \mathcal{H} defined as

$$com(E_1, E_2) = \{ \psi \in \mathcal{H} \mid E_1(X)E_2(Y)\psi - E_2(Y)E_1(X)\psi = 0 \ \forall X, Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \}.$$

If E_1 and E_2 are sharp observables, then E_1 and E_2 are coexistent if and only if they are functionally coexistent and this is the case exactly when $com(E_1, E_2) = \mathcal{H}$. In general, for two observables E_1 and E_2 the condition

 $com(E_1, E_2) = \mathcal{H}$ is sufficient but not necessary for the functional coexistence of E_1 and E_2 .

In conclusion, given a pair of observables on \mathbb{R} one may pose the questions of their commutativity, functional coexistence, and coexistence, in the order of increasing generality.

For position and momentum observables, the following known fact holds [10], which will be needed later. For completeness we give a proof of it.

Proposition 5.1.3 A position observable E_{ρ} and a momentum observable F_{ν} are totally noncommutative, that is, com $(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu}) = \{0\}$.

Proof. It is shown in [12] and [57] that for functions $f,g\in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ the equation

$$f(Q)g(P) - g(P)f(Q) = O$$

holds if and only if one of the following is satisfied: (i) either f(Q) or g(P) is a multiple of the identity operator, (ii) f and g are both periodic with minimal periods a, b satisfying $2\pi/ab \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \{0\}$.

Let $X \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a bounded interval. Then the operators $E_{\rho}(X)$ and $F_{\nu}(X)$ are not multiples of the identity operator. Indeed, let us assume, in contrary, that $E_{\rho}(X) = cI$ for some $c \in \mathbb{R}$. Denote $a = 2\mu(X)$. Then the sets X + na, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, are pairwisely disjoint and

$$I \geq E_{\rho}(\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (X + na)) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} E_{\rho}(X + na)$$
$$= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} U(na)E_{\rho}(X)U(na)^* = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} cI.$$

This means that c=0. However, since $\mu(X)>0$, we have

$$O \neq E_{\rho}(X) = cI = O.$$

Thus, $E_{\rho}(X)$ is not a multiple of the identity operator. Moreover, since $\rho(\mathbb{R}) = 1$, the function $q \mapsto \rho(X - q)$ is not periodic. We conclude that, by the above mentioned result, the operators $E_{\rho}(X)$ and $F_{\nu}(X)$ do not commute and hence, com $(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu}) \neq \mathcal{H}$.

Assume then that there exists $\psi \neq 0$, $\psi \in \text{com}(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu})$. Using the symmetry properties (4.5), (4.6), (4.7) and (4.8), a short calculation shows that for any $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$, $U(q)V(p)\psi \in \text{com}(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu})$. This implies that $\text{com}(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu})$ is invariant under the irreducible projective representation W defined in (3.17) (recall that $W(q, p) = e^{iqp/2}U(q)V(p)$). It follows that we have either $\text{com}(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu}) = \{0\}$ or $\text{com}(E_{\rho}, F_{\nu}) = \mathcal{H}$. Since the latter possibility is ruled out, this completes the proof.

5.2 Joint observables of position and momentum

Looking at the symmetry conditions (4.5), (4.6), (4.7), (4.8), and recalling the definition (3.17) of the projective unitary representation W of the group of phase space translations, it is clear that an observable $G: \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ has a position observable and a momentum observable as its margins if and only if, for all $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $X, Y \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$, the following conditions hold:

$$W(q,p)G(X \times \mathbb{R})W(q,p)^* = G(X \times \mathbb{R} + (q,p)), \tag{5.1}$$

$$W(q,p)G(\mathbb{R}\times Y)W(q,p)^* = G(\mathbb{R}\times Y + (q,p)). \tag{5.2}$$

(recall that $W\left(q,p\right)=e^{iqp/2}U\left(q\right)V\left(p\right)$).

On the other hand, a covariant phase space observable is a POM G: $\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ such that, for all $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ and $Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$,

$$W(q,p)G(Z)W(q,p)^* = G(Z + (q,p)), (5.3)$$

and it is trivial that (5.3) implies (5.1) and (5.2). Hence, a covariant phase space observable is a joint observable of some position and momentum observables. To our knowledge, it is an open question whether (5.1) and (5.2) imply (5.3).

As proved in §3.5.2, each covariant phase space observable is of the form $G = G_T$, with

$$G_T(Z) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_Z W(q, p) TW(q, p)^* dq dp \quad Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2),$$

for some $T \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$. Moreover, the correspondence $T \longmapsto G_T$ is injective from $\mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ onto the set of the covariant phase space observables (see Theorem 3.4.2).

Let G_T be a covariant phase space observable and let $\sum_n \lambda_n \langle \cdot, \varphi_n \rangle \varphi_n$ be the spectral decomposition of the state T. With an easy computation, one finds that the margins of G_T are the position observable E_ρ and a the momentum observable F_ν with

$$d\rho(q) = e(q)dq, \quad e(q) = \sum_{n} \lambda_n |\varphi_n(-q)|^2,$$
 (5.4)

$$d\nu(p) = f(p)dp, \quad f(p) = \sum_{n} \lambda_n |\widehat{\varphi_n}(-p)|^2.$$
 (5.5)

The form of ρ and ν in (5.4) and (5.5) implies that, in general, the margins E_{ρ} and F_{ν} do not determine G_T , that is, another covariant phase space observable $G_{T'}$ may have the same margins. Indeed, the functions $|\varphi(\cdot)|$ and $|\hat{\varphi}(\cdot)|$ do not define the vector φ uniquely up to a phase factor. Here we provide an example in which this phenomenon occurs.

Example 5.2.1 Consider the functions

$$\varphi_{a,b}(q) = \left(\frac{2a}{\pi}\right)^{1/4} e^{-(a+ib)q^2},$$

with $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ and a > 0. The Fourier transform of $\varphi_{a,b}$ is

$$\hat{\varphi}_{a,b}(p) = \left(\frac{a}{2\pi (a^2 + b^2)}\right)^{1/4} \exp\left(-\frac{ap^2}{4(a^2 + b^2)}\right)$$

$$\times \exp\left(\frac{ibp^2}{4(a^2 + b^2)} - \frac{i}{2}\arctan\frac{b}{a}\right).$$

For $b \neq 0$, we see that $T_1 = \langle \varphi_{a,b}, \cdot \rangle \varphi_{a,b}$ and $T_2 = \langle \varphi_{a,-b}, \cdot \rangle \varphi_{a,-b}$ are different, but the margins of G_{T_1} and G_{T_2} are the same position and momentum observables E_{ρ} and F_{ν} , with

$$d\rho(q) = \left(\frac{2a}{\pi}\right)^{1/2} e^{-2aq^2} dq$$

$$d\nu(p) = \left(\frac{a}{2\pi (a^2 + b^2)}\right)^{1/2} \exp\left(-\frac{ap^2}{2(a^2 + b^2)}\right) dp$$

As ρ and ν in (5.4) and (5.5) arise from the same state T, a multitude of uncertainty relations can be derived for the observables E_{ρ} and F_{ν} . One of the most common uncertainty relation is in terms of variances. Namely, let Var(p) denote the variance of a probability measure p,

$$\operatorname{Var}(p) = \int \left(x - \int x dp(x)\right)^{2} dp(x).$$

Then for any state S,

$$\operatorname{Var}(p_S^{E_\rho})\operatorname{Var}(p_S^{F_\nu}) \ge 1 \tag{5.6}$$

(see e.g. [11], Section III.2.4 or [50], Section 5.4.) The lower bound in (5.6) can be achieved only if

$$Var(\rho)Var(\nu) = \frac{1}{4}, \tag{5.7}$$

and it is well known ([32], [51]) that (5.7) holds if and only if $T = \langle \cdot, \varphi \rangle \varphi$ and φ is a function of the form

$$\varphi(q) = (2a/\pi)^{1/4} e^{ibq} e^{-a(q-c)^2}, \quad a > 0, \ b, c \in \mathbb{R}.$$

It is also easily verified that, if T is as above, choosing S = T the equality in (5.6) is indeed obtained.

The following proposition is the main result in this chapter, since it gives a complete characterisation of jointly measurable position and momentum observables.

Proposition 5.2.2 Let E_{ρ} be a position observable and F_{ν} a momentum observable. If E_{ρ} and F_{ν} have a joint observable, then they also have a joint observable which is a covariant phase space observable.

The proof of Proposition 5.2.2 is given in section 5.3, since it needs some notations and the introduction of some additional mathematical concepts. It is a rearrangement of a similar proof given by Werner in [55].

We now describe some consequences of Proposition 5.2.2. Corollaries 5.2.3 and 5.2.4 are two different restatements of Heisenberg uncertainty relation. Corollary 5.2.4 is Proposition 6 of [14] slightly rearranged.

Corollary 5.2.3 A position observable E_{ρ} and a momentum observable F_{ν} are functionally coexistent if and only if there is a state $T \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ such that ρ and ν are given by (5.4) and (5.5). Especially, the uncertainty relation (5.6) is a necessary condition for the functional coexistence, and thus for the joint measurability of E_{ρ} and E_{ν} .

Corollary 5.2.4 Let E_{ρ} be a position observable and F_{ν} a momentum observable. If E_{ρ} and F_{ν} are functionally coexistent, then the product of the respective limits of resolutions satisfies the inequality

$$\gamma_{E_o} \cdot \gamma_{F_\nu} \ge 3 - 2\sqrt{2}.\tag{5.8}$$

Proof. Since E_{ρ} and F_{ν} have a covariant phase space observable as a joint observable, there is a vector valued function $\theta \in L^2(\mathbb{R}, \mathcal{H})$ such that $d\rho(q) = \|\theta(q)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dq$ and $d\nu(p) = \|\hat{\theta}(p)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dp$. In fact, let $(f_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be an orthonormal basis of \mathcal{H} . Then, with the notations of eqs. (5.4) and (5.5), the function θ is

$$\theta(q) = \sum_{n} \lambda_n^{1/2} \varphi_n(-q) f_n.$$

By Proposition 4.7.3 the observable E_{ρ} is α -regular if and only if

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x\in\mathbb{R}}\rho\left(I_{x:\alpha}\right) > 1/2.$$

Since the map $x \longmapsto \rho(I_{x;\alpha})$ is continuous, this is equivalent to

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(I_{x;\alpha}) = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{I_{x;\alpha}} \|\theta(x)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 dx > 1/2.$$

By the same argument, F_{ν} is β -regular if and only if

$$\sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} \nu\left(I_{\xi;\beta}\right) = \sup_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}} \int_{I_{\xi;\beta}} \|\hat{\theta}(\xi)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 d\xi > 1/2.$$

Using [29, Theorem 2] extended to the case of vector valued functions, we find

$$\alpha \cdot \beta \ge 3 - 2\sqrt{2},$$

and hence (5.8) follows.

Corollary 5.2.5 If a position observable E_{ρ} and a momentum observable F_{ν} are functionally coexistent, then neither E_{ρ} nor F_{ν} are regular.

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of Corollary 5.2.3 and of item (iii) in Proposition 4.7.5. ■

We end this section with an observation about a (lacking) localization property of a joint observable of position and momentum observables. We wish to emphasize again that G in Proposition 5.2.6 is not assumed to be a covariant phase space observable.

Proposition 5.2.6 Let G be a joint observable of a position observable E_{ρ} and a momentum observable F_{ν} and let $Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ be a bounded set. Then

- (i) $||G(Z)|| \neq 1$;
- (ii) there exists a number $k_Z < 1$ such that for any $T \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$, $p_T^G(Z) \leq k_Z$.

Proof. (i) It follows from Proposition 5.2.2 and the Paley-Wiener Theorem that either ρ or ν has unbounded support. Let us assume that, for instance, ρ has unbounded support.

Let $Z \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ be a bounded set. Then the closure \bar{Z} is compact and also the set

$$X := \{x \in \mathbb{R} \mid \exists y \in \mathbb{R} : (x, y) \in \bar{Z}\} \subset \mathbb{R}$$

is compact. Since

$$||G(Z)|| \le ||G(X \times \mathbb{R})|| = ||E_{\rho}(X)||$$

and

$$||E_{\rho}(X)|| = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(X - x) \le \operatorname{sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(X - x),$$

it is enough to show that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(X - x) < 1. \tag{5.9}$$

Let us suppose, in contrary, that

$$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}} \rho(X - x) = 1 \tag{5.10}$$

This means that there exists a sequence $(x_n)_{n\geq 1}\subset \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \rho(X - x_n) = 1. \tag{5.11}$$

Since $\rho(\mathbb{R}) = 1$ and X is a bounded set, the sequence $(x_n)_{n \geq 1}$ is also bounded. It follows that $B := \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} X - x_n$ is a bounded set and by (5.11) we have $\rho(B) = 1$. This is in contradiction with the assumption that ρ has an unbounded support. Hence, (5.10) is false and (5.9) follows.

(ii) From (i) it follows that

$$1 > k_Z := ||G(Z)|| = \sup\{\langle \psi, G(Z)\psi \rangle \mid \psi \in \mathcal{H}, ||\psi|| = 1\}.$$

Let $T \in \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{H})$ and let $\sum_i \lambda_i \langle \psi_i, \cdot \rangle \psi_i$ be the spectral decomposition of T. Then

$$p_T^G(Z) = \operatorname{tr}\left[TG(Z)\right] = \sum_i \lambda_i \langle \psi_i, G(Z)\psi_i \rangle \le k_Z.$$

5.3 Coexistence of position and momentum observables

Since coexistence is, a priori, a more general concept than functional coexistence, we are still left with the problem of characterizing coexistent pairs of position and momentum observables. In lack of a general result we close our investigation with some observations on this problem.

Proposition 5.3.1 Let E_{ρ} be a position observable and F_{ν} a momentum observable. If $com(E_{\rho}) \cup com(F_{\nu})$ contains a nontrivial projection (not equal to O or I), then E_{ρ} and F_{ν} are not coexistent.

Proof. Let us assume, in contrary, that there exists an observable G such that $\operatorname{com}(E_{\rho}) \cup \operatorname{com}(F_{\nu}) \subseteq \operatorname{com}(G)$. Suppose, for instance, that $E_{\rho}(X)$ is a nontrivial projection. Then $E_{\rho}(X)$ commutes with all operators in the range of G (see e.g. [46]). In particular, $E_{\rho}(X)$ commutes with all $F_{\nu}(X)$, $X \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$. However, this is impossible by the result proved in [12] and [57] (see also the beginning of the proof of Proposition 5.1.3).

Corollary 5.3.2 If E and F are position and momentum observables, and either one of them is sharp, then E and F are not coexistent.

Proof of Proposition 5.2.2

In order to prove Proposition 5.2.2 we need some general results about means on topological spaces, and for readers convenience they are briefly reviewed. The following material is based on [39], Chapter IV, §17, and [55].

Let Ω be a locally compact separable metric space with a metric d. By $BC\left(\Omega\right)$ we denote the Banach space of complex valued bounded continuous functions on Ω , with the uniform norm $\|f\|_{\infty} = \sup_{x \in \Omega} |f\left(x\right)|$. The linear subspace of continuous functions with compact support is denoted by $C_c\left(\Omega\right)$. Adding the index r we denote the subsets of real functions in $BC\left(\Omega\right)$ or in $C_c\left(\Omega\right)$. With the index $^+$ we denote the subsets of positive functions.

Definition 5.3.3 A mean on Ω is a linear functional

$$m:BC\left(\Omega\right)\longrightarrow\mathbb{C}$$

such that:

(i)
$$m(f) \ge 0$$
 if $f \in BC^+(\Omega)$;

(ii)
$$m(1) = 1$$
.

For a mean m on Ω we denote

$$m\left(\infty\right) = 1 - \sup\left\{m\left(f\right) \mid f \in C_c^+\left(\Omega\right), f \le 1\right\}.$$

Let m be a mean on Ω . By the Riesz Representation Theorem, there exists a unique positive Borel measure m_0 on Ω such that

$$m(f) = \int_{\Omega} f(x) dm_0(x) \quad \forall f \in C_c(\Omega).$$

By inner regularity of m_0 we have

$$m_0(\Omega) = \sup \{ m(f) \mid f \in C_c^+(\Omega), f \le 1 \} = 1 - m(\infty) \le 1.$$

Especially, any function in $BC(\Omega)$ is integrable with respect to m_0 . For any $f \in BC(\Omega)$, we use the abbreviated notation

$$m_0(f) := \int_{\Omega} f(x) dm_0(x).$$

Proposition 5.3.4 *If* $m(\infty) = 0$, then

$$m(f) = m_0(f) \quad \forall f \in BC(\Omega).$$

Proof. We fix a point $x_0 \in \Omega$. For all R > 0 we define

$$g_{R}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } d(x_{0}, x) \leq R/2, \\ 3/2 - d(x_{0}, x)/R & \text{if } R/2 < d(x_{0}, x) \leq 3R/2, \\ 0 & \text{if } d(x_{0}, x) > 3R/2. \end{cases}$$

Then $g_R \in C_c^+(\Omega)$ and $g_R \leq 1$. Moreover, for any $f \in C_c^+(\Omega)$ such that $f \leq 1$ there exists R > 0 such that $f \leq g_R$, and hence

$$1 = \sup \left\{ m\left(f\right) \mid f \in C_c^+\left(\Omega\right), \ f \le 1 \right\} = \lim_{R \to \infty} m\left(g_R\right).$$

Let $f \in BC^+(\Omega)$ and R > 0. Since $g_R f \in C_c(\Omega)$, we have

$$m(f) = m_0(g_R f) + m((1 - g_R) f).$$
 (5.12)

We have $0 \le g_R f \le f$, f is m_0 -integrable and $\lim_{R\to\infty} g_R(x) f(x) = f(x)$ for all $x \in \Omega$. Therefore, by the dominated convergence theorem we have

$$\lim_{R\to\infty}\int_{\Omega}g_{R}\left(x\right)f\left(x\right)\mathrm{d}m_{0}\left(x\right)=\int_{\Omega}f\left(x\right)\mathrm{d}m_{0}\left(x\right).$$

For the other term in the sum (5.12), we have

$$m\left(\left(1-g_R\right)f\right) \leq \|f\|_{\infty} m\left(1-g_R\right) \underset{R\to\infty}{\longrightarrow} \|f\|_{\infty} m\left(\infty\right) = 0.$$

Taking the limit $R \to \infty$ in (5.12) we then get

$$m(f) = m_0(f)$$
.

If $f \in BC(\Omega)$, we write $f = f_1 + if_2$ with $f_1, f_2 \in BC^r(\Omega)$, and $f_i = f_i^+ - f_i^-$ with $f_i^{\pm} = \frac{1}{2}(|f_i| \pm f_i) \in BC^+(\Omega)$, and we use the previous result to obtain the conclusion.

Let $i \in \{1, 2\}$. For $f \in BC(\Omega)$ we define

$$\widetilde{f}_i(x_1, x_2) := f(x_i) \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in \Omega.$$

Clearly, $\widetilde{f}_i \in BC(\Omega \times \Omega)$. For a mean $m:BC(\Omega \times \Omega) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$, we then define

$$m_i(f) := m\left(\widetilde{f}_i\right) \quad \forall f \in BC\left(\Omega\right).$$

The linear functional $m_i : BC(\Omega) \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ is a mean on Ω , which we call the *i*th margin of m.

Proposition 5.3.5 *Let* m *be a mean on* $\Omega \times \Omega$ *. If* $m_1(\infty) = m_2(\infty) = 0$ *, then* $m(\infty) = 0$.

Proof. For all R > 0, we define the function $g_R \in C_c(\Omega)$ as in the proof of Proposition 5.3.4. We set

$$h_R(x_1, x_2) = g_R(x_1) g_R(x_2).$$

Clearly, $h_R \in C_c^+(\Omega \times \Omega)$, and, if $h \in C_c^+(\Omega \times \Omega)$ and $h \leq 1$, there exists R > 0 such that $h \leq h_R$. Since

$$1 - h_R(x_1, x_2) = (1 - g_R(x_1)) + g_R(x_1) (1 - g_R(x_2))$$

$$\leq (1 - g_R(x_1)) + (1 - g_R(x_2)),$$

we have

$$m(1-h_R) \le m_1(1-g_R) + m_2(1-g_R),$$

and the thesis follows from

$$m\left(\infty\right) = 1 - \lim_{R \to \infty} m\left(h_R\right) \le \lim_{R \to \infty} m_1\left(1 - g_R\right) + \lim_{R \to \infty} m_2\left(1 - g_R\right)$$
$$= m_1\left(\infty\right) + m_2\left(\infty\right) = 0.$$

For a positive Borel measure m_0 on $\Omega \times \Omega$, we denote by $(m_0)_i$, i = 1, 2, the two measures on Ω which are margins of m_0 .

Proposition 5.3.6 Let m be a mean on $\Omega \times \Omega$. If $m(\infty) = 0$, then $(m_0)_i = (m_i)_0$.

Proof. Let $f \in BC(\Omega)$. By Proposition 5.3.4 we have

$$m_0\left(\widetilde{f}_i\right) = m\left(\widetilde{f}_i\right).$$

Using this equality and the definitions of $(m_0)_i$ and $(m_i)_0$ we get

$$(m_0)_i(f) = m_0(\widetilde{f}_i) = m(\widetilde{f}_i) = m_i(f) = (m_i)_0(f).$$

Definition 5.3.7 An operator valued mean on Ω is a linear functional

$$M:BC(\Omega)\longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$$

such that:

- (i) $M(f) \geq O$ if $f \in BC^+(\Omega)$;
- (ii) M(1) = I.

For an operator valued mean M on Ω we denote

$$M\left(\infty\right)=I-\mathrm{LUB}\,\left\{ M\left(f\right)\mid f\in C_{c}^{+}\left(\Omega\right),\ f\leq1\right\} .$$

The least upper bound in Definition 5.3.7 exists by virtue of Proposition 1 in [7].

Let M be an operator valued mean on Ω . For each $f \in BC^{r}(\Omega)$, we have

$$M\left(f-\|f\|_{\infty}\,1\right)\leq O,\quad M\left(f+\|f\|_{\infty}\,1\right)\geq O.$$

It follows that

$$||M(f)|| \leq ||f||_{\infty}$$
.

By Theorem 19 in [7], there exists a unique positive operator measure M_0 on Ω such that

$$M(f) = \int_{\Omega} f(x) dM_0(x) \quad \forall f \in C_c(\Omega),$$

where the integral is understood in the weak sense. Similarly to the scalar case we have

$$M_0(\Omega) = I - M(\infty) \le I, \tag{5.13}$$

and, for any $f \in BC(\Omega)$ we define

$$M_0(f) := \int_{\Omega} f(x) dM_0(x).$$

Given an operator valued mean M on Ω and a unit vector $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$, we set

$$m_{\psi}(f) := \langle \psi, M(f) \psi \rangle \quad \forall f \in BC(\Omega).$$

It is clear that m_{ψ} is a mean on Ω . By Proposition 1 in [7],

$$m_{\psi}(\infty) = \langle \psi, M(\infty) \psi \rangle$$
.

Proposition 5.3.8 *If* $M(\infty) = O$, then

$$M(f) = M_0(f) \quad \forall f \in BC(\Omega).$$

Proof. For a unit vector $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$ and a function $f \in C_c(\Omega)$, we have by definitions

$$(m_{\psi})_{0}(f) = \langle \psi, M_{0}(f) \psi \rangle,$$

and this equality is valid also for any $f \in BC(\Omega)$. Since

$$m_{\psi}(\infty) = \langle \psi, M(\infty) \psi \rangle = 0.$$

it follows from Proposition 5.3.4 that the functional m_{ψ} on $BC\left(\Omega\right)$ coincides with integration with respect to the measure $(m_{\psi})_0$. If $f \in BC\left(\Omega\right)$, we then have

$$\langle \psi, M_0(f) \psi \rangle = (m_{\psi})_0(f) = m_{\psi}(f) = \langle \psi, M(f) \psi \rangle,$$

and the thesis follows.

The margins M_1 and M_2 of an operator valued mean M on $\Omega \times \Omega$ are defined in an analogous way as in the case of scalar means.

Proposition 5.3.9 Let M be an operator valued mean on $\Omega \times \Omega$.

(i) If
$$M_1(\infty) = M_2(\infty) = O$$
, then $M(\infty) = O$;

(ii) If
$$M(\infty) = O$$
, then $(M_0)_i = (M_i)_0$.

Proof. (i) Let $\psi \in \mathcal{H}$ be a unit vector. We have, by definitions, $(m_{\psi})_i(f) = \langle \psi, M_i(f)\psi \rangle \ \forall f \in BC(\Omega) \ \text{and} \ (m_{\psi})_i(\infty) = \langle \psi, M_i(\infty)\psi \rangle$. It follows from Proposition 5.3.5 that $m_{\psi}(\infty) = 0$. Since this is true for any unit vector, $M(\infty) = O$. The proof of (ii) is similar.

With these results we are ready to prove Proposition 5.2.2.

Proof of Proposition 5.2.2. Given a function $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$ and $(q,p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$, we denote by $f^{(q,p)}$ the translate of f,

$$f^{(q,p)}(x,y) := f(x+q,y+p) \quad \forall x,y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Since $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ (with addition) is an Abelian group, there exists a mean m on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$m\left(f^{(q,p)}\right) = m\left(f\right)$$

for all $f \in BC$ ($\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$) and $(q, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$, (see [39], Theorem IV.17.5).

Let M_0 be a joint observable of E_ρ and F_ν . For each $f \in BC(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R})$, for all $\varphi, \psi \in \mathcal{H}$ and $q, p \in \mathbb{R}$ we define

$$\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\left(q,p\right):=\left\langle W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi,M_{0}\left(f^{\left(q,p\right)}\right)W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi\right\rangle.$$

Since

$$||M_0(f^{(q,p)})|| \le ||f^{(q,p)}||_{\infty} = ||f||_{\infty}$$

and W(q, p) is a unitary operator, we have

$$\left|\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\left(q,p\right)\right| \leq \|f\|_{\infty} \|\varphi\| \|\psi\|$$

and hence, $\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]$ is a bounded function. We claim that $\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]$ is continuous. Since

$$\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\left(x+q,y+p\right) = \Theta\left[f^{(q,p)};W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi,W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi\right]\left(x,y\right),$$

it is sufficient to check continuity at (0,0). We have

$$\begin{split} |\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\left(q,p\right) - \Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\left(0,0\right)| \\ & \leq \left|\left\langle W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi,M_{0}\left(f^{(q,p)}\right)\left(W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi-\psi\right)\right\rangle\right| \\ & + \left|\left\langle \left(W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi-\varphi\right),M_{0}\left(f^{(q,p)}\right)\psi\right\rangle\right| \\ & + \left|\left\langle \varphi,M_{0}\left(f^{(q,p)}-f\right)\psi\right\rangle\right| \\ & \leq \|f\|_{\infty}\left(\|\varphi\|\left\|W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi-\psi\right\| + \|W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi-\varphi\|\left\|\psi\right\|\right) \\ & + \left|\left\langle \varphi,M_{0}\left(f^{(q,p)}-f\right)\psi\right\rangle\right|. \end{split}$$

As $(q, p) \to (0, 0)$, the first two terms go to 0 by strong continuity of W, and the third by the dominated convergence theorem. We have thus shown that $\Theta[f; \varphi, \psi] \in BC(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R})$.

For each $f \in BC(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R})$ we can then define a linear bounded operator $M^{av}(f)$ by

$$\left\langle \varphi,M^{av}\left(f\right)\psi\right\rangle :=m\left(\Theta\left[f;\varphi,\psi\right]\right).$$

It is also immediately verified that the correspondence $M^{av}:BC(\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R})\longrightarrow \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ is an operator valued mean on $\mathbb{R}\times\mathbb{R}$, and a short calculation shows that

$$M^{av}(f^{(q,p)}) = W(q,p)^* M^{av}(f) W(q,p).$$
 (5.14)

If $f \in BC(\mathbb{R})$ and $(q, p) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\Theta\left[\widetilde{f}_{1};\varphi,\psi\right]\left(q,p\right) = \left\langle W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi,M_{0}\left(\widetilde{f}_{1}^{(q,p)}\right)W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi\right\rangle
= \left\langle W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\varphi,W\left(q,p\right)^{*}E_{\rho}\left(f\right)W\left(q,p\right)W\left(q,p\right)^{*}\psi\right\rangle
= \left\langle \varphi,E_{\rho}\left(f\right)\psi\right\rangle.$$

(Especially, $\Theta\left[\widetilde{f}_1;\varphi,\psi\right]$ is a constant function.) Similarly,

$$\Theta\left[\widetilde{f}_{2};\varphi,\psi\right]\left(q,p\right)=\left\langle \varphi,F_{\nu}\left(f\right)\psi\right\rangle .$$

It follows that

$$M_1^{av}(f) = E_{\rho}(f),$$

$$M_2^{av}(f) = F_{\nu}(f).$$

Since $E_{\rho}(\mathbb{R}) = F_{\nu}(\mathbb{R}) = I$, (5.13) shows that

$$M_1^{av}(\infty) = M_2^{av}(\infty) = O.$$

This together with Proposition 5.3.9 implies that $M_0^{av}(\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}) = I$ and

$$(M_0^{av})_1 = E_\rho,$$

 $(M_0^{av})_2 = F_\nu.$

By (5.14) the observable M_0^{av} satisfies covariance condition (5.3).

Chapter 6

Conclusions

As we have seen in chapters 2 and 3, if G is a topological group and H is a closed subgroup of G, by generalised imprimitivity theorem the classification of the POM's based on G/H and covariant with respect to a fixed representation of G is strictly related to the problem of diagonalising the representations of G induced from H. This is an highly nontrivial problem, and a satisfactory solution can be achieved only assuming that G and H are of particular type, as we have in fact done in chapters 2 and 3.

For example, if G is abelian, things are enormously simplified by the fact that the dual \widehat{G} of G is itself an abelian group having the same topological properties of G. In addition, $\widehat{G/H}$ and \widehat{H} are identified as subgroups or quotients of \widehat{G} . These are the essential features which allow to construct the map Σ and the measure $\widetilde{\nu}$ on \widehat{G} diagonalising $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ as in section 2.3.

If G is generic and H is compact, one can quite easily prove that $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ is contained in the regular representation of G, thus showing that the diagonalisation of $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ follows from Plancherel theory applied to G (actually, in §3.4 we followed a different and quicker approach, but Theorem 3.4.2 follows from Theorem 3.2.1, and the latter is an application of Plancherel theory applied to G).

There are few other cases in which $\operatorname{ind}_H^G(\sigma)$ can be diagonalised by known methods. One of them has been worked out by Kirillov [44] in the case G is a nilpotent Lie group and H is a generic closed subgroup of G. But the practical application of the method of Kirillov is rather complicated, and does not yeld to a compact form for covariant POM's like the quite simple expressions we obtained in eqs. (2.11) and (3.7). Moreover, the only nilpotent Lie group of interest in physics is the Heisenberg group, and, as we have seen in §3.5.2, its covariant POM's can be classified using the theory exposed in chapter 3.

A method for diagonalising $\operatorname{ind}_{H}^{G}(\sigma)$ can also be elaborated when G is the semidirect product $N \times' H$, with N normal abelian factor. We do not enter into details, but we only remark that this method can be used to

describe the localisation observables for a relativistic quantum particle. For some hints about these facts we refer to the work of Castrigiano [22], [23] and to the last part of the book of Varadarajan [52].

Finally, the results in chapters 4 and 5 give an answer to some questions raised in [11]. In particular, Proposition 5.2.2 shows that in order that a position observable E_{ρ} and a momentum observable F_{ν} are functionally coexistent, the probability measures ρ and ν must form a Fourier couple in the sense of [11, sec. III.2.4]. Up to our knowledge, no example is known of a joint observable of a position and a momentum observable which is *not* a covariant phase space observable.

The last paragraph is of course intended according to our definition of position and momentum observables. We stress again that in the literature one often encounters many different approaches to the problem of position and momentum measurements in quantum mechanics, and that our results only refer to the covariant case.

Chapter 7

Acknowledgements

This work is the result of the collaboration of many people, and in these last lines I would like to thank at least some of them. Gianni is of course the first in the list, since he accepted me in this workgroup three years ago, and he supported me with his guidance and patience in all this time. I am profoundly grateful to him for all he have done for me. Many thanks go to Pekka for his hospitality and collaboration during my stays in Turku. I am also in debt of his most valuable suggestions and of his great work to correct and improve my thesis. I would like to thank Ernesto, Claudio and Teiko, not only for their precious collaboration in the work of these years, but also for the lot of good time we have spent together. Last, but not least, many thanks to all my friends in the Physics Department for having made of these years a wonderful experience for me.

Bibliography

- [1] S. T. Ali, H. D. Doebner, On the equivalence of nonrelativistic quantum mechanics based upon sharp and fuzzy measurements, J. Math. Phys. 17 (1976) 1105-1111.
- [2] S. T. Ali, G. G. Emch, Fuzzy observables in quantum mechanics, J. Math. Phys. 15 (1974) 176-182.
- [3] S. T. Ali, E. Prugovečki, Systems of imprimitivity and representations of quantum mechanics on fuzzy phase spaces, J. Math. Phys. 18 (1977) 219-228.
- [4] S. T. Ali, E. Prugovečki, Classical and quantum statistical mechanics in a common Liouville space, Phys. A 89 (1977) 501-521.
- [5] S. T. Ali, J. P. Antoine, J. P. Gazeau, *Coherent states, wavelets and their generalizations*, Graduate Texts in Contemporary Physics, Springer-Verlag, New York (2000).
- [6] A. Amann, Observables in W*-algebraic quantum mechanics, Fortschr. Phys. **34** (1986) 167-215.
- [7] S. K. Berberian, *Notes on spectral theory*, D. Van Nostrand Company, Princeton, New Jersey (1966).
- [8] A. Borel., Representations de groupes lacalment compact, Lecture Notes in Matematics, Vol. 276, Springer, Berlin (1972).
- [9] P. Busch, P. Lahti, On various joint measurements of position and momentum observables in quantum theory, Phys. Rev. D, 29 (1984) 1634-1646.
- [10] P. Busch, P. Lahti, The determination of the past and the future of a physical system in quantum mechanics, Found. Phys. 19 (1989) 633-678.
- [11] P. Busch, M. Grabowski, P. Lahti *Operational quantum physics*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1997).

- [12] P. Busch, T. P. Schonbek, F. E. Schroeck Jr., Quantum observables: compatibility versus commutativity and maximal information, J. Math. Phys. 28 (1987) 2866-2872.
- [13] C. Carmeli, G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, A. Toigo, B. Vacchini A complete characterization of phase space observables, J. Phys. A 37 (2004) 5057-5066.
- [14] C. Carmeli, T. Heinonen, A. Toigo, Position and momentum observables on \mathbb{R} and on \mathbb{R}^3 , J. Math. Phys. **45** (2004) 2526-2539.
- [15] C. Carmeli, T. Heinonen, A. Toigo, On the coexistence of position and momentum observables, submitted to J. Phys. A (2005).
- [16] C. Carmeli, T. Heinonen, A. Toigo, Accuracy of a quantum observables, in preparation (2005).
- [17] G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, P. Lahti, A. Levrero, *Phase space observables and isotypic spaces*, J. Math. Phys. **41** (2000) 5883-5896.
- [18] G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, P. Lahti, J. P. Pellonpää, Covariant localisations in the torus and the phase observables, J. Math. Phys. 43 (2002) 693-704.
- [19] G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, Square-integrability modulo a subgroup, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. **355** (2003) 1443-1465.
- [20] G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, A. Toigo, Positive operator valued measures covariant with respect to an irreducible representations, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 4768-4775.
- [21] G. Cassinelli, E. De Vito, A. Toigo, Positive operator valued measures covariant with respect to an abelian group, J. Math. Phys. 45 (2004) 418-433.
- [22] D. P. L. Castrigiano, On Euclidean systems of covariance for massless particle, Lett. Math. Phys. 5 (1981) 303-309.
- [23] D. P. L. Castrigiano, R. W. Henrichs, Systems of covariance and subrepresentations of induced representations, Lett. Math. Phys. 4 (1980) 169-175.
- [24] U. Cattaneo, On Mackey's imprimitivity theorem, Comment. Math. Helvetici **54** (1979) 629-641.
- [25] U. Cattaneo, Densities of covariant observables, J. Math. Phys. 23 (1982) 659-664.

- [26] E. B. Davies, Quantum Theory of Open Systems, Academic Press, London (1976).
- [27] J. Dieudonné, *Elements d'analyse*, Vol. **6**, Gauthiers-Villars, Paris (1975).
- [28] P. A. M. Dirac, The quntum theory of the emission and absorption of radiation, Proc. R. Soc. A 114 (1927) 243-265.
- [29] D. L. Donoho, P. B. Stark, Uncertainty principles and signal recovery, SIAM J. Appl. Math. 49 (1989) 906-931.
- [30] M. Duflo and C. C. Moore, On the regular representation of a nonuni-modular locally compact group, J. Funct. Anal. 21 (1979) 209-243.
- [31] N. Dunford, J. T. Schwartz, *Linear Operators, Part I: General Theory*, Interscience Publishers, New York (1958).
- [32] G. B. Folland, *Harmonic Analysis on Phase Space*, Princeton University Press, Princeton (1989).
- [33] G. B. Folland, A Course in Abstract Armonic Analysis, CRC Press, Boca Raton (1995).
- [34] S. A. Gaal, Linear analysis and representation theory, Sringer-Verlag, Berlin (1973).
- [35] T. Heinonen, P. Lahti, K. Ylinen, Covariant fuzzy observables and coarse-graining, Rep. Math. Phys. **53** (2004) 425-441.
- [36] T. Heinonen, P. Lahti, J. P. Pellonpää, Covariant phase difference observables, J. Math. Phys. 44 (2003) 466-479.
- [37] T. Heinonen, P. Lahti, J. P. Pellonpää, S. Pulmannova, K. Ylinen, *The norm-1-property of a quantum observable*, J. Math. Phys. **44** (2003) 1998-2008.
- [38] C. W. Helstrom, Quantum detection and estimation theory, Academic Press, New York (1976).
- [39] E. Hewitt, K. A. Ross, Abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. I: Structure of topological groups. Integration theory, group representations, Academic Press, New York (1963).
- [40] A. S. Holevo, *Probabilistic and statistical aspects of quantum theory*, North-Holland, Amsterdam (1982).
- [41] A. S. Holevo, Generalized imprimitivity systems for abelian groups, Izvestiya VUZ. Matematika 27 (1983) 53-80.

- [42] A. S. Holevo, On a generalization of canonical quantization, Math. USSR Izvestiya **28** (1987) 175-188.
- [43] A. Holevo, Statistical structure of quantum theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2001).
- [44] A. A. Kirillov, Unitary representations of nilpotent Lie groups, Usp. Math. Nauk. 17, (1962) 57-110.
- [45] P. Lahti, Coexistence and joint measurability in quantum mechanics, Internat. J. Theoret. Phys. 42 (2003) 893-906.
- [46] P. Lahti, S. Pulmannová, Coexistence vs. functional coexistence of quantum observables, Rep. Math. Phys. 47 (2001) 199-212.
- [47] G. Ludwig, Foundations of quantum mechanics I, Springer-Verlag, New York (1983).
- [48] G. W. Mackey, Imprimitivity for representations of locally compact groups, I, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. **35** (1949) 537-545.
- [49] H. Scutaru, Coherent states and induced representations, Lett. Math. Phys. 2, (1977) 101-107.
- [50] W. Stulpe, Classical representations of quantum mechanics related to statistically complete observables, Wissenschaft und Technik Verlag, Berlin (1997).
- [51] W. Thirring, Course in theoretical physics 3: Quantum mechanics of atoms and molecules, Springer-Verlag, New York (1990).
- [52] V. S. Varadarajan, Geometry of quantum theory, II ed., Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1985).
- [53] J. von Neumann, Mathematische Grundlagen der Quantenmechanik, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1932). English translation: Mathematical foundations of quantum mechanics, Princeton University Press, Princeton (1955).
- [54] R. Werner, Quantum harmonic analysis on phase space,J. Math. Phys. 25 (1984) 1404-1411.
- [55] R. Werner, The uncertainty relation for joint measurement of position and momentum, preprint, quant-ph/0405184 (2004).
- [56] A. S. Wightman, On the localizability of quantum mechanical systems, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34 (1962) 845-872.

[57] K. Ylinen, Commuting functions of the position and momentum observables on locally compact abelian groups, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 137 (1989) 185-192.